





Doctoral Thesis

Ballistic Carrier Transport Through Graphene : Out-of-Plane and In-Plane Aspects

Hoon Hahn Yoon

Department of Physics

Graduate School of UNIST

2020



Ballistic Carrier Transport Through Graphene

: Out-of-Plane and In-Plane Aspects

Hoon Hahn Yoon

Department of Physics

Graduate School of UNIST



Ballistic Carrier Transport through Graphene : Out-of-Plane and In-Plane Aspects

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate School of UNIST in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Hoon Hahn Yoon

12/18/2019

Approved by K. Park

Advisor

Kibog Park



Ballistic Carrier Transport through Graphene : Out-of-Plane and In-Plane Aspects

Hoon Hahn Yoon

This certifies that the dissertation of Hoon Hahn Yoon is approved.

12/18/2019

ignature

Advisor: Kibog Park

signature

Jiwon Chang: Thesis Committee Member #1

ignature 10

Kwanpyo Kim: Thesis Committee Member #2

signature

Kyoung-Duck Park: Thesis Committee Member #3

signatur Changhee Sohn: Thesis Committee Member #4;



Abstract

The outstanding properties of graphene have enabled to reveal the exotic carrier transport behavior approaching to the relativistic quantum mechanics, act as the excellent diffusion barrier protecting the junction interface from the material intermixing by atomic diffusion, serve as the effective interlayer modulating the electronic states, and offer the promising solid-state platform allowing the quantum optics of the Dirac Fermion. In this dissertaion, the ballistic carrier transport through graphene in two different aspects will be covered. Understanding of vertical transport across graphene-combined hetero-junction and lateral transport in the graphene channel is the main agenda. The sensitive manipulation of electronic states at/across the interface and the controllable distribution of electric potential on the surface can lead to an extraordinary physical phenomenon and conductance switching. Based on that, it is eventually proposed that how the brand-new type graphene-based device can be evolved or what kind of method can be adapted to improve the actual performance of the graphene-based devices significantly regardless of property or quality of graphene.



Contents

Abstract	i
Contents	ii
List of Figures	v
Nomenclature	viii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Motivation	1
1.2 Overview	2
1.2.1 Ballistic Carrier Transport	2
1.2.2 Out-of-plane Ballistic Carrier Transport through Graphene	4
1.2.3. In-plane Ballistic Carrier Transport through Graphene	6
1.3 Graphene	
1.3.1 Research Trend in Graphene	7
1.3.2 Massless Dirac Fermion in Graphene	
1.4 Metal/Semiconductor Junction	14
1.4.1 Energy Barrier Formation	15
1.4.2 Fermi-Level Pinning Effect	20
1.4.3 Image Force Lowering	32
1.4.4 Transport Mechanism	36
1.4.5 Parallel Conduction Model	42
1.5 Internal Photoemission	45
1.5.1 Basic Principle	45
1.5.2 Experimental Setup	54
1.6. Graphene Hetero-Interface	
1.6.1 Graphene-Metal Interaction	64
1.6.2 Graphene Diffusion Barrier	66
1.6.3 Graphene Interlayer	67
1.7 Dirac Fermion Quantum Optics in Graphene	70
1.7.1 Klein Tunneling in Graphene	71
1.7.2 Superlattice Pattern in Graphene	76
Chapter 2. Strong Fermi-Level Pinning Effect at Metal/Graphene/Si Junction	
2.1 Sample Fabrication	78
2.2 Current-Voltage Measurement	
2.3 Internal Photoemission Measurement	83



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

	2.4 Transmission Electron Microscopy Image	- 85
	2.5 Parallel Conduction Model Calculation	- 87
	2.6 Strong Fermi-Level Pinning Effect	- 89
	2.7 Fermi-Level Pinning Effect Depending on the Junction Area	- 90
	2.8 Conclusion	- 92
Chapter	3. Negative Fermi-Level Pinning Effect at Metal/Graphene/GaAs Junction	- 93
	3.1 Sample Fabrication	- 94
	3.2 Current-Voltage Measurement	- 97
	3.3 Internal Photoemission Measurement	- 99
	3.4 Optical Excitation from Interface-trap states	101
	3.5 Transmission Electron Microscopy Image	103
	3.6 Negative Fermi-Level Pinning Effect	104
	3.7 Energy Band Profile across Interface	107
	3.8 Electronegativity Difference and Interaction Dipole Charge	113
	3.9 Parallel Conduction Model Calculation	116
	3.10 Conclusion	118
Chapter	4. Recombination Enabling Low Temperature Rectification at Graphene/Si Junction	119
	4.1 Sample Fabrication	120
	4.2 Temperature-Dependent Current-Voltage Measurement	122
	4.3 Improved Rectification Ratio at Low Temperature	124
	4.4 Thermionic Emission Versus Recombination	125
	4.5 Recombination Current due to the Hole Carriers Supplied from Grpahene	130
	4.6 Conclusion	132
Chapter	5. Enhanced Thermionic Emission and Tunneling at Junction Edges	133
	5.1 Sample Fabrication	134
	5.2 Current-Voltage Measurement	136
	5.3 Energy Band Profile across Interface	138
	5.4 Thermionic Emission Versus Tunneling	141
	5.5 Edge Current Enhanced with Downscaling of Lateral Width	143
	5.6 Conclusion	145
Chapter	6. Electrically-Controlled Carrier Guiding with Graphene Superlattice	146
	6.1 Device Geometry	147
	6.2 Elctron Trajectory Incident to Graphene Superlattice Potential	148
	6.3 Time-Evolving Electron Probability Distribution in Graphene Superlattice	151
	6.4 Time-Integrated Electron Probability Distribution in Graphene Superlattice	158



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

6.5 Superlattice-Periodicity-Dependent On-Off Current Ratio 15	<i>i</i> 9
6.6 Conclusion 162	52
Appendix 1. Graphene Superlattices 162	53
Appendix 2. Artificial Randomized Defects with Metal Adatom on Graphene 162	5
Appendix 3. Graphene Aharonov-Bohm Inteferometer 160	6
Conclusion and Outlook 16	57
References 16	i9
Curriculum Vitae 202	15
Acknowledgement 214	4
Special Thanks 21:	5



List of Figures

- Figure 1. Schematic illustration of comparison between the diffusive and the ballistic transport in solid.
- Figure 2. Schematic illustration of the out-of-plane ballistic carrier transport through graphene.
- Figure 3. Schematic illustration of the in-plane ballistic carrier transport through graphene.
- Figure 4. Orbital configuration the graphene.
- Figure 5. Lattice structure of the graphene in real and reciprocal spaces.
- Figure 6. Gapless band structures of the graphene showing the linear energy dispersion and the helicity.
- Figure 7. Energy band alignments of the junction formed with metal and n-type semiconductor.
- Figure 8. Energy band alignments of the junction formed with metal and p-type semiconductor.
- Figure 9. Energy band profiles of n-semiconductor showing the mechanism of Fermi-level pinning.
- Figure 10. Energy band alignments of metal/n-semiconductor junction with the fixed separation model.
- Figure 11. Energy band alignments of metal/n-semiconductor junction under different bias.
- Figure 12. Transport processes in forward-biased and reverse-biased metal/n-semiconductor junction.
- Figure 13. (a) Schematic illustration of the Schottky contact for the current-voltage measurement
- Figure 14. IPE process explained by the multi-step model.
- Figure 15. Schematic illustration of the Schottky contact for the internal photoemission spectroscopy.
- Figure 16. Injection of optically excited electron from metal Fermi-level into semiconductor or insulator.
- Figure 17. Injection of optically excited electron from the semiconductor valence band.
- Figure 18. Injection of optically excited electron surmounting or tunneling through energy barrier.
- Figure 19. Optical excitation of electron from the Fermi-level of the metal or the localized states.
- Figure 20. Schematic diagram showing the components of the IPE measurement system.
- Figure 21. IPE measurement configuration for each energy (wavelength) range.
- Figure 22. Design and manufacture process of the lens holder.
- Figure 23. Focused light through the lens holder in the visible wavelength range.
- Figure 24. IPE measurement system.
- Figure 25. IPE measurement configuration for each energy (wavelength) range.
- Figure 26. Graphene lattice structure photo and drawing.
- Figure 27. Energy band alignments of metal/graphene junctions.
- Figure 28. Diffusion of atoms into a solid substrate and graphene diffusion barrier.
- Figure 29. Energy band alignments of metal/graphene/n-semiconductor junctions
- Figure 30. Schematic of the electron in the graphene incident on the sharp square potential barrier.
- Figure 31. Graphene superlattice pattern.
- Figure 32. Sample fabrication processes.
- Figure 33. Raman spectrum and schematic view.
- Figure 34. Current-voltage curves.
- Figure 35. IPE measurement.
- Figure 36. Transmission electron microscopy image.



- Figure 37. Parallel conduction calculation.
- Figure 38. Schottky barrier heights versus metal work-functions.
- Figure 39. Band alignment at the very near the metal/Si interface for large and small junction areas.
- Figure 40. Summary of Chapter 2.
- Figure 41. Sample fabrication processes.
- Figure 42. Raman spectra.
- Figure 43. Current-voltage characteristics.
- Figure 44. IPE measurement.
- Figure 45: IPE quantum yield spectra.
- Figure 46: Transmission electron microscopy images.
- Figure 47. Measured Schottky barrier heights.
- Figure 48. Interfacial atomic arrangements.
- Figure 49. Charge distribution across the junction.
- Figure 50. Schottky barrier height and pinning strength.
- Figure 51. Energy band alignments.
- Figure 52. Calculated Schottky barrier height.
- Figure 53. Parallel conduction model calculation for the Ni/graphene/GaAs junction.
- Figure 54. Summary of Chapter 3.
- Figure 55. Optical image and Raman spectrum taken on graphene on Al₂O₃ or Si, and bare Al₂O₃ or Si.
- Figure 57. Device structure and measurement configuration of the graphene/Si junction.
- Figure 58. Device structure with geometry parameters.
- Figure 59. Temperature-dependent Schottky barrier height, ideality factor, and rectification ratio.
- Figure 60. Current density-voltage curve.
- Figure 61. Current-voltage characteristics.
- Figure 62. Energy band diagram and the corresponding linear energy dispersion relation.
- Figure 63. Summary of Chapter 4.
- Figure 64. Optical microscope images of the Al/Si junction formed on the Si-trench under the Al₂O₃.
- Figure 65. Raman spectra.
- Figure 66. Current densitiy-voltage curves.
- Figure 67. Conduction energy band distributions at around the interface.
- Figure 68. Conduction energy band profiles across the center and the junction edge.
- Figure 69. Current densitiy-voltage curves calculated on the center and the edge.
- Figure 70. Transport mechanisms in the metal/Si and the metal/graphene/Si junctions
- Figure 71. Summary of Chapter 5.
- Figure 72. Device geometry of pristine and superlattice graphene device
- Figure 73. Schematic of trajectories of electron incident (30°) to the graphene superlattice.
- Figure 74. Schematic of trajectories of electron incident (60°) to the graphene superlattice.
- Figure 75. Transmission coefficient for the electron wave packect incident on the graphene superlattice.
- Figure 76. Time-evolving electron probability density distributions in the graphene superlattice (150nm) device.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Figure 77. Time-evolving electron probability density distributions in the graphene superlattice (50nm) device.

Figure 78. Time-evolving electron probability density distributions in the graphene superlattice (30nm) device.

Figure 79. Time-evolving electron probability density distributions in the graphene superlattice (10nm) device.

Figure 80. Time-integrated electron probability density distributions in the graphene superlattice device.

Figure 81. Drain current ratio.

Figure 82. On-off current ratio.

Figure 83. Summary of Chapter 6.

Figure 84. Scanning electron microscopy images taken on the Kronnig-Penny type superlattice structure.

Figure 85. Fabrication process of the graphene superlattice device.

Figure 86. Optical and scanning electron microscopy images taken on the graphene superlattice device.

Figure 87. Optical image taken on the graphene Hall bar with the metal adatom.

Figure 88. Atomic force microscopy images taken on the Au on SiO₂ and the Au on graphene/SiO₂.

Figure 89. Scanning electron microscopy image taken on the pattern of Aharonov-Bohm interferomter.

Figure 90. Summary and outline of dissertation.



Nomenclature

0D	Zero-Dimensional
1D	One-Dimensional
2D	Two-Dimensional
2DEG	Two-Dimensional Electron Gas
3D	Three-Dimensional
Al	Aluminium
Au	Gold
ALD	Atomic Layer deposition
ВСТ	Ballistic Carrier Transport
BEEM	Ballistic Electron Emission Microscopy
BFTEM	Bright-Field Transmission Electron Microscopy
BOE	Buffered Oxide Etch
CMOS	Complementary Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor
CNL	Charge Neutrality Level
CVD	Chemical Vapor Deposition
DFT	Density Functional Theory
DI	Deionized
FLP	Fermi-Level Pinning Effect
FEEM	Finite Element Electrostatic Modeling
FET	Field Effect Transistor
GaAs	Gallium Asenide
GS	Graphene Superlattice
HRTEM	High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy
IFL	Image Force Lowering



IPA	Isopropyl Alcohol
IPE	Internal Photo-Emission
I-V	Current-Voltage
Ni	Nickel
РСВ	Printed Circuit Board
РСМ	Parallel Conduction Model
PMMA	Poly Methyl Meth-Acrylate
Pt	Platinum
RIE	Reactive Ion Etching
RE	Recombinatoin
RTA	Rapid Thermal Annealing
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
Si	Silicon
SiO ₂	Silicon Dioxide
STM	Scanning Tunneling Microscopy
ТЕ	Thermionic Emission
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscopy
Ti	Titanium
TU	Tunneling
UV	Ultraviolet
VGF	Vertical Gradient Freeze



Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Physics contributes to human lives by understanding basic rules in nature and identifying profound scientific truth. I was particularly interested in condensed matter physics, which deals with physical properties of diverse systems, has infinite potential in wide applications, and establishes the links to real-world from microscopic world. I also felt interest in semiconductor device physics, which gives insights into assembling technological methodologies by encompassing all kinds of study with great creativity.

In the fields of condensed matter physics and semiconductor device physics, modern scientists have witnessed the marvelous revolution employing various low-dimensional materials [1, 2] and novel quantum materials [3, 4]. There have been huge academic interests and enormous research activities regarding the remarkable physical, mechanical, electrical, and optical properties of zero-dimensional (0D) nanocrystals/quantum dots [5, 6], one-dimensional (1D) nanowires/nanotubes [7, 8], two-dimensional (2D) Van der Waals materials [9], superconductors [10], and topological insulators [11]. I have been convinced that the discovery of new material or the development of advanced technology brings innovation research. This is literally state-of-the-art modern alchemy, which explores both fundamental physics and applied science, needs to follow up the cutting-edge nanotechnology, and boosts the infinite potential in next-generation device applications by considering the upcoming industry, and has a great impact on the human lives in the future.

Beyond the conventional device technologies, the technical realization of electronic, photonic, optoelectronic, and spintronic devices by controlling quantum transport is a long-cherished desire of all condensed matter physicists around the world [12, 13]. I could have learned through the doctoral study that the most significant physical phenomena in determining functionality and efficiency of devices occur at the interface where the contact boundaries between the different materials meet. When we recall the famous and inspirational quote, "God made the bulk; surfaces were invented by the devil." from Wolfgang Ernst Pauli [14], atoms inside the bulk are surrounded by other atoms and remain in their original states, while atoms on the surface are influenced by the external environment and interact with other atoms. Indeed, many scientific breakthroughs have been achieved by surface/interface engineering. The role of electronic states are crucial greatly tuning the energy barrier formation, carrier transport mechanism at/across the interface or on the surface, and device operation characteristics. Likewise, I find the fact that we can predict the use of materials and improve device performance with desired physical properties is remarkably interesting to me.



1.2 Overview

In this dissertation, the two different aspects of ballistic carrier transport through the graphene are studied. The first aspect is the *out-of-plane* ballistic carrier transport across the graphene inserted at the metal/semiconductor interface or the graphene contacted with the semiconductor substrate. The second aspect is the *in-plane* ballistic carrier transport in the graphene under the periodic potentials, so-called the graphene superlattice.

1.2.1 Ballistic Carrier Transport

The number of valence electrons (outer shell electrons) determine the atomic elements. Under an electric field, the valence electrons in metal, the electrons in the conduction band of semiconductor, and holes in the valence band of semiconductor are well known to travel freely. These flow of charged particles carry an electric current following the Ohm's law [15].

In general, charged particles in real solids undergo a lot of intrinsic scattering processes [15-17], originated from electronic Coulomb interaction, phonon, surface roughness, impurity, defect, grain boundary etc. This is why carrier transport in solids is known to be quite diffusive, causing the suppressed response of charge carriers to an external field and the energy dissipation inevitably.

However, in some emerging materials with a certain physical regime, the charged particles can move like billiard balls without the effective scattering processes. This is what we call the *ballistic carrier transport* [18-25]. In the ballistic regime, the kinetic energy is far higher than the lattice potential energy or the mean free path of charge carriers is long enough exceeding the dimension of channel. The energetic carrier acquiring a very powerful kinetic energy is called as the *hot carrier*. The established techniques such as scanning tunneling microscopy (STM) [26-28], ballistic electron emission microscopy [29-31], and internal photoemission spectroscopy (BEEM) [32-34] utilizes the ballistic carrier transport or the hot carrier injection.







Figure 1. Schematic illustration of comparison between the diffusive (a) and the ballistic (b) transport in solid.



1.2.2 Out-of-plane Ballistic Carrier Transport through Graphene

Here, the idea of using graphene as the diffusion barrier or the interlayer is employed to form atomically abrupt Schottky contacts and to obtain the homogeneous energy barrier. The Fermi-level pinning effect at the interface of metal/graphene/semiconductor junction is investigated in-depth by modulating the dependence of energy barrier on the metal work-function, the metal-graphene interaction, and the semiconductor surface state. Thanks to an experience of building the IPE system independently, the energy barrier on the prevailing area was able to be determined without the disruption of charge carrier flow through the low-barrier patches. In the aid of IPE and graphene interlayer, strong Fermi-level pinning effect and unusual negative Fermi-level pinning effect were observed. The parallel conduction model and the finite element electrostatic model were adopted to explain the results theoretically.

Besides, it is clarified how downscaling of electrical contacts or hole carriers supplied from the pdoped graphene layer can affect effective energy barrier and transport mechanism. The forward-bias current measured on the graphene/semiconductor junction is considered to be compromised due to the recombination process regarding the hole carriers injected from p-doped graphene. The temperaturedependent current ratio of recombination to thermionic emission implies the possibility of utilizing the low-temperature operating rectifier.

In addition to that, the effective energy barriers of Schottky junction are found to be reduced with decreasing the lateral size scaling of metal electrode, which is attributed to the thermionic emission and tunneling of charge carriers around the junction edge.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 2. Schematic illustration of the out-of-plane ballistic carrier transport through graphene. (a) Hot carrier injection into graphene. (b) Direct carrier transport from graphene.



1.2.3 In-plane Ballistic Carrier Transport through Graphene

Creating a practically available off-state of graphene transistor to overcome the absence of its bandgap, the useful concepts in photon physics are introduced to electron physics. It is demonstrated that the Kronig-Penney type periodic potentials can be installed to realize the single-channel multi-drain graphene device, where the charge carriers can be guided to a desired direction on purpose. The angular spread and propagating direction of electron wave packets in the graphene is found to be manipulated just by tuning the magnitude of bias voltage applied on the superlattice potential or the length of the superlattice period.

In appendix, the square/triangular superlattices partially patterned on the graphene, the artificial randomized defects induced by metal adatom deposition on the graphene, and the Aharonov-Bohm interferometer are also introduced. The modulation of carrier transport properties can give insight into another way to minimize the off-state current.



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of the in-plane ballistic carrier transport through graphene.



1.3 Graphene

1.3.1. Research Trend in Graphene

Graphene [35-43], the most well-noted 2D Van der Waals material, has provided a unique opportunity corresponding to the innovation research. In cooperation between the academia and the industry [44], a worldwide movement has taken place continuously to extend the technology boundaries by utilizing the graphene. A new class of graphene-based electronic [45-48], photonic/optoelectronic [49-52], spintronic [53-56], transparent/flexible [57-62] devices have been explored widely. The relativistic quantum phenomena and ballistic carrier transport in the 2D graphene system makes possible to develop electron quantum optics [63-67] relying on the Klein tunneling [68-72], which incorporates the essential components of photon physics such as focusing [73-77], angle-dependent transmission [78-82], collimation [83-87] (through periodic potentials [88-92], *i.e.*, superlattice [93-97]), reflection [98-102], interference [103-107] (including the Aharonov-Bohm oscillation [108-112]), localization [113-117], confinement [118-122]. An important role of graphene in practical use has been also reported to integrate into semiconductor devices rather than to compete with well-developed Si-based CMOS technology [123].

However, it has been pointed out that there are several disadvantages of graphene for real device applications. The major limitation comes from zero band-gap and lattice imperfection. Although there had been research activities to open the band-gap of graphene [124-129], heal the structural defects in the graphene [130-135], and control the current flow using local/tunable gate applied on the graphene transistor [136-142], establishing a completely tunable and reliable way for graphene-based electronics have remained as a challenging task. Besides, other comparable 2D Van der Waals materials [143-146] have appeared at the contest stage to challenge the limits of graphene.

Accordingly, the aim of research for graphene has been expanded and diversified in order to increase the utility of graphene, which can be categorized as metal adatom on the graphene [147-150], graphene Schottky diode [151-154], graphene barrister [155-158], electrical contact between graphene and other materials [159-162], charge transfer induced doping of graphene [163-166], charge transport through graphene hetero-junction [167-170], vertically stacked Van der Waals hetero-junctions consisting of graphene [171-174], and graphene diffusion barrier or interlayer inserted at metal-semiconductor interfaces [175-178], etc.



1.3.2 Massless Dirac Fermion in Graphene

It is known that the four valence electrons of a carbon atom denote one $2s^1$ -orbital and three $2p^3$ orbitals (Figure 4a). The mechanical and electrical properties of graphene relies on its atomic orbital of carbon. The orbital hybridization composed of three sp^2 -orbitals (Figure 4b, left) forms the σ -bonds and builds up the trigonal planar geometry (Figure 4c). This lead to the mechanical robustness and material flexibility [179-182]. The remaining unaffected p_z -orbital (Figure 4b, right) is vertically aligned to the plane. As a result, its overlapping produces the π -bands (Figure 4c), which is responsible for gapless band structure, linear energy dispersion, helicity, zero effective mass, high carrier mobility, bipolar nature, and electrically-tunable carrier type/concentration [15-23].

The distinct feature of graphene allows electron near the Dirac points to propagate along the graphene sheet like a massless relativistic particle. The electron has an effective speed comparable to the light called as the Fermi velocity $v_F \equiv \frac{\sqrt{3\gamma a}}{2\hbar} \cong 10^6$ m/s, where $\gamma \cong 2.8$ Ev is the hopping energy between nearest neighbors, $a \cong 2.46$ Å is lattice constant, and \hbar is the plank constant.

$$E = s\gamma \sqrt{1 + 4\cos^2\left(\frac{k_y a}{2}\right) + 4\cos\left(\frac{k_y a}{2}\right)\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}k_x a}{2}\right)}$$
(1)

Equation 1 shows the energy dispersion relation derived from the tight-binding model [183-185] in consideration of the first-nearest-neighbor interaction, where s is the band index due to the helicity (1 for the conduction band and -1 for the valence band), k_x and k_y are the components of Bloch wave-vector.





Figure 4. Orbital configuration and the bonding of the graphene. (a) Orbitals of a carbon atom. (b) Hybridized sp²-orbitals and remained p-orbital. (c) Orbitals of the graphene showing the σ bonds and π bands in trigonal planar geometry



As shown in Figure 5, the lattice structure consists of triangular two equivalent sublattices. In real space, the length $a_0 = \frac{a}{\sqrt{3}}$ between carbon atoms is approximately 1.42 Å and the unit cell is

defined by the primitive lattice vectors $\vec{a}_1 = \sqrt{3}a_0\hat{x}$ and $\vec{a}_2 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}a_0(\hat{x} + \sqrt{3}\hat{y})$. The area of unit

cell is $\frac{3\sqrt{3}}{2}a_0^2$. The vectors connecting to the other sublattice are expressed as $\vec{\delta}_1 = \frac{a_0}{2}(\sqrt{3}\hat{x} + \hat{y})$,

 $\vec{\delta}_2 = \frac{a_0}{2} \left(-\sqrt{3}\hat{x} + \hat{y} \right)$, and $\vec{\delta}_3 = -a_0\hat{y}$. In reciprocal space, the reciprocal lattice vectors

$$\vec{b}_1 = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{3}a_0} \left(\hat{x} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \hat{y} \right)$$
 and $\vec{b}_2 = \frac{4\pi}{3a_0} \hat{y}$ can be derived from $\vec{a}_i \vec{b}_j = 2\pi \delta_{ij}$. The reciprocal lattice

constant is $b = \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{3}a} = \frac{4\pi}{3a_0}$ and the reciprocal lattice spacing is $b_0 = \frac{4\pi}{3a} = \frac{4\pi}{3\sqrt{3}a_0}$.





Figure 5. Graphene lattice structure in real (a) and reciprocal (b) spaces, where a_0 is the bond length, \vec{a}_1 and \vec{a}_2 is the primitive lattice vectors, $\vec{\delta}_1$, $\vec{\delta}_2$, and $\vec{\delta}_3$ are the connecting vectors to the each carbon atom, b_0 is the reciprocal lattice spacing, \vec{b}_1 and \vec{b}_2 is the reciprocal lattice vectors. The yellow hexagon signify the first Brillouin zone, where Γ represents the center, K' and K represent the inequivalent corner, and M represents the middle of the zone edge.



As a consequence of triangular two equivalent sublattices in hexagonal honeycomb lattice (A and B two carbon atom basis Bravais lattice), the electronic states in the graphene are given by the Dirac equation (Equation 2) [186] with coupling between the momentum and the pseudo-spin [15-23],

where
$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}$$
 is the Pauli matrix consisting of $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_y = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $\boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{r})$ is the wave-

function, **r** is the real space vector, and *E* is the total energy. This coupling of momentum and pseudo-spin can be depicted as shown in Figure 6. The corresponding wave-function (Equation 3) is bispinor associated with pseudo-spin degree of freedom, where *s* is the band index (1 for the conduction band and -1 for the valence band), **k** is the Bloch wave-vector and $\theta = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{k_y}{k_x} \right)$ is

the tangential angle between the k_x and the k_y . The associated Hamiltonian equations are expressed as Equation 4 for the kinetic energy and Equation 5 for the total energy, where U is the potential energy.

$$-i\hbar v_F \hat{\mathbf{\sigma}} \cdot \nabla \psi(\mathbf{r}) = E \psi(\mathbf{r}) \tag{2}$$

$$\psi(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ se^{i\theta} \end{pmatrix} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$$
(3)

$$\hat{H}_{kinetic} = \hbar v_F \mathbf{k} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{\sigma}} = \hbar v_F \begin{pmatrix} 0 & k_x - ik_y \\ k_x + ik_y & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4)

$$\hat{H}_{total} = \hbar v_F \mathbf{k} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{\sigma}} + U = \hbar v_F \begin{pmatrix} \frac{U}{\hbar v_F} & k_x - ik_y \\ k_x + ik_y & \frac{U}{\hbar v_F} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5)



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 6. Gapless band structures of the graphene describing the linear energy dispersion and the helicity at K' (a) and K (b) points in the Brillouin zone.



1.4 Metal/Semiconductor Junction

A diode is one of the basic electrical component allowing charge current to move in primarily one direction (one-way electrical valve) and is the most representative electronic device application in the modern semiconductor industry. The two-terminal switching characteristic of diode shows an asymmetric conductance which is generally called as the rectifying behavior. In an ideal diode, it has infinity resistance (like a prefect insulator) in the reverse bias and zero resistance (like a prefect conductor) in the forward bias. In a common diode, when the applied bias voltage exceeds a certain threshold voltage, it reaches to a turn-on state and begins to conduct a charge current. A conventional diode was made of semiconductor-semiconductor junction formd with two different doping types (p-n junction). The most used diode in modern times is the Schottky contact (or Schottky barrier), which is formed by contact of metal and semiconductor.



1.4.1 Energy Barrier Formation

The working principle of Schottky contact strongly depends on its energy barrier height (Schottky barrier height) and interfacial environment [15], showing either the rectifying or Ohmic behaviors. The combination of metal electrode and semiconductor substrate creates the different energy barrier heights and interfacial environments. Therefore, the fundamental understanding of Schottky barrier formation has great importance regarding the carrier transport across the Schottky contact [187-190].

First of all, we will deal with the formation of Schottky barrier without considering the interfacial environment. Before making contact of metal and semiconductor, each Fermi-level (the energy level of an electron with the occupation probability of 50% at thermodynamic equilibrium, the most of electrons that actually contribute to conduction are distributed near this energy level) in metal and semiconductor is different. And then, after the junction is formed, both the Fermi-levels line up. If the interfacial environment is excluded, the primary things we have to consider are the work-function [191-194] (the energy level difference between the vacuum level and the Fermi level) and the electron affinity [194, 195] (the energy level difference between the vacuum level and the conduction band edge in semiconductor).

As shown in Figure 7 and Figure 8, the mobile charge carriers (electrons for n-type semiconductor and holes for p-type semiconductor) are enforced to diffuse from the semiconductor into the metal. The ionized impurities (donor for n-type semiconductor and acceptor for p-type semiconductor) are left to build up the depletion region on near the surface. Accordingly, the semiconductor Fermi-level moves (lowered for n-type semiconductor and raised for p-type semiconductor) relative to the metal one. The semiconductor band is bent in a parabolic shape to match the Fermi-level at the surface with that in the bulk. In thermal equilibrium at zero bias voltage, the bent semiconductor band in the depletion region is equivalent to the electric field preventing the charge carriers in semiconductor from diffusing into the metal. The curvature and direction of semiconductor band determines the type of contact (rectifying Schottky contact or non-rectifying Ohmic contact).



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 7. Energy band alignments of the junction formed with metal and n-type semiconductor showing how the Schottky (a,b) or Ohmic (c,d) contacts are determined by the Schottky barrier height and how it depends on the high and low metal work-functions, where ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, ϕ_M is the work-function of the metal, ϕ_{bi} is the built-in potential energy, E_F is the Fermi-level, E_0 is the vacuum level, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor, E_g is the band gap of the semiconductor, Q_M is the charge density on the metal surface, Q_{SC} is the space charge density in the depletion region of the semiconductor, and χ_S is the electron affinity of the semiconductor.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 8. Energy band alignments of the junction formed with metal and p-type semiconductor showing how the Schottky (a,b) or Ohmic (c,d) contacts are determined by the Schottky barrier height and how it depends on the high and low metal work-functions, where ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, ϕ_M is the work-function of the metal, ϕ_{bi} is the built-in potential energy, E_F is the Fermi-level, E_0 is the vacuum level, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor, E_g is the band gap of the semiconductor, Q_M is the charge density on the metal surface, Q_{SC} is the space charge density in the depletion region of the semiconductor, and χ_S is the electron affinity of the semiconductor.



The screening charges Q_M will be induced on the metal surface, compensating the space charges Q_{sc} constructed by the ionized impurities in the depletion region (Equation 6). From the electrostatic analysis on the potential difference to balance the built-in potential with the Poisson's equation [15], the built-in potential energy ϕ_{bi} and the depletion region width W_D in the n-type semiconductor yield Equations 7 and 8 respectively, where ϕ_M is the work-function of the metal, ϕ_S is the work-function of the semiconductor, q is the electric charge constant, V_A is the applied bias voltage, ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_F is the Fermi-level, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature, k_BT is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV), N_C is the effective density of states in the conduction band of the semiconductor, N_D is the doping concentration of the n-type semiconductor, \mathcal{E}_0 is the permittivity of the vacuum, and \mathcal{K}_s is the dielectric constant of the semiconductor. And then, the expression of density of space charge Q_{sc} in the depletion region is written as Equation 9.

$$Q_M + Q_{SC} = 0 \tag{6}$$

$$\phi_{bi} = \phi_M - \phi_S - qV_A = \phi_B - (E_c - E_F) - qV_A = \phi_B - k_B T \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_D}\right) - qV_A \tag{7}$$

$$W_{D} = \sqrt{\frac{2\varepsilon_{0}\kappa_{s}}{qN_{D}}\left(\frac{\phi_{bi}}{q} - \frac{k_{B}T}{q}\right)} = \sqrt{\frac{2\varepsilon_{0}\kappa_{s}}{qN_{D}}\left[\frac{\phi_{B}}{q} - \frac{k_{B}T}{q}\ln\left(\frac{N_{C}}{N_{D}}\right) - V_{A} - \frac{k_{B}T}{q}\right]}$$
(8)

$$\mathbf{Q}_{SC} = qN_D W_D = \sqrt{2qN_D \varepsilon_0 \kappa_s} \left[\frac{\phi_B}{q} - \frac{k_B T}{q} \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_D}\right) - V_A - \frac{k_B T}{q} \right]$$
(9)



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

If the high work-function metal is contacted to the n-type semiconductor (Figure 7a and Figure 7b), the Schottky contact is formed, electrons above the conduction band of semiconductor and electrons around the Fermi level of the metal cannot come and go easily blocked by the Schottky barrier, and the Schottky barrier height is equal to the energy difference between the metal work-function ϕ_M and the semiconductor electron affinity χ_s (Equation 10). If the low work-function metal is contacted to the n-type semiconductor (Figure 7c and Figure 7d), the Ohmic contact is formed, and electrons above the conduction band of semiconductor and electrons around the Fermi level of the metal can come and go easily. If the low work-function metal is contacted to the p-type semiconductor (Figure 8a and Figure 8b), the Schottky contact is formed, holes below the valence band of semiconductor and electrons around the Fermi level of the metal cannot come and go easily due to the Schottky barrier, and the Schottky barrier height is equal to the energy difference between the semiconductor ionization energy (the sum of the semiconductor band-gap E_g and the semiconductor electron affinity χ_s) and the metal work-function ϕ_M (Equation 11). If the high work-function metal is contacted to the p-type semiconductor (Figure 8c and Figure 8d), the Ohmic contact is formed, and holes below the valence band of semiconductor and electrons around the Fermi level of the metal can come and go easily.

$$\phi_{_{B}} = \phi_{_{M}} - \chi_{_{S}} \tag{10}$$

$$\phi_{_B} = E_g + \chi_S - \phi_M \tag{11}$$



1.4.2 Fermi-Level Pinning Effect

Equation 10 (n-type semiconductor) and Equation 11 (p-type semiconductor) represent the Schottky-Mott rule [196-197], where ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, ϕ_M is the work-function of metal, χ_S is the electron affinity of semiconductor, and E_g is the band gap of semiconductor. In this case, it is obvious that the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B directly depends on the metal work-function ϕ_M . However, the Schottky-Mott rule is valid only for the metal/semiconductor junction neglecting the interfacial environments.

From now on, we will take the interfacial environment into consideration, which is more realistic. In reality, the metal/semiconductor interface involves much more complex environmental elements. Starting with the semiconductor as a separate system, it will be discussed why are there differences in the electronic properties between the surface and the bulk of semiconductor, and how they affect the electronic states even inside the forbidden energy band on the semiconductor surface. After that, the environmental elements regarding interface states will be addressed when the semiconductor makes a contact with the metal. Finally, we will review the intrinsic and extrinsic factors that lower the dependence of the metal work-function ϕ_M on the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B .

If we think about two different atoms coming closer to each other, they give rise to the wavefunction overlap and such overlapped atomic orbital is irrelevant to the eigenstate of the whole system. From this quantum mechanical point of view, it is predictable that atomic arrangement around the adjacent interface leads to a completely new physical system since the metal and semiconductor are also made up a bunch of atoms. This reasoning implies that the electronic structures and properties of real metal/semiconductor interface is entirely different from that of original semiconductor surface. Considering the energy band of materials stemming from its lattice periodicity, the origin of forbidden energy band of semiconductor is relying on the infinite periodicity of crystal. However, the crystal periodicity in the semiconductor bulk ensuring the infinite lattice is no longer applicable to that around the semiconductor surface. Hence, the energy band of semiconductor is perturbed by the additional electronic states localized in the surface region. In other words, the surface termination brings about the localized electronic states [198-202] inevitably within the band-gap, which resides on the semiconductor surface due to the neutral condition, which is followed by the importance of surface treatments like passivation [203, 204] and cleaving [205, 206]. The localized electronic states on the semiconductor surface are called as the surface states.



As shown in Figure 9, the continuum of surface states within the band gap reveals a specific energy distribution D_{it} in the range from the valence band maximum E_V to the conduction band minimum E_C depending on the atomic arrangements [15, 189, 190]. Here, for all electronic states in the entire surface region, the energy level satisfying the charge neutrality condition is called as the charge neutrality level. It is known that this charge neutrality level E_{CNL} positioning somewhere inside the forbidden energy band of bulk pins the Fermi-level E_F near the surface.




Figure 9. Energy band profiles of n-semiconductor showing the mechanism of Fermi-level pinning effect, where E_F is the Fermi-level, E_{CNL} is the charge neutrality level, E_0 is the vacuum level, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor, Q_{SS} is the trap charge density on the semiconductor surface, and D_{it} is the density of trap states per unit area per energy.



In equilibrium, the lower energy states are filled and the higher energy states are empty. Each trap state is normally in the charge neutralization. At some point, if the equilibrium is lost under conditions where mobile charge carriers can be exchanged such as in contact with metal, the polarity of these states changes. The surface states above the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} behave like the acceptor trap and the surface states below the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} act as the donor trap. In case of ntype semiconductor (Figure 9a), the acceptor-like trap sates above the Fermi-level E_F are neutral because they are empty, and the donor-like trap states below the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} are also neutral because they are filled. However, the electrons can be supplied from the outside to the acceptor-like trap states below the Fermi-level E_F , and the accumulated charges Q_{SS} within the acceptor-like trap states should have negative polarity to balance the charge neutrality condition on the surface (Figure 9b). Accordingly, these negative charges Q_{SS} lower the Fermi-level E_F and bend the energy band around the semiconductor surface. As long as the Fermi-level E_F is higher than the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} , the negative trap charges Q_{SS} remain within the acceptorlike trap states. If the Fermi-level $E_{\rm F}$ goes down below the charge neutrality level $E_{\rm CNL}$, the electrons escape from the semiconductor surface and they get out even from under the donor-like trap states where the electrons were originally filled. Consequently, the polarity of charges Q_{SS} on the semiconductor surface turns into positive (Figure 9c). Similar to the negative charges Q_{SS} , these positive charges Q_{SS} within the donor-like trap states raise the Fermi-level E_F the other way as long as the Fermi-level E_F is below the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} .



Due to the exchange of charge carrier, the charges Q_{SS} are continuously accumulated either within the acceptor-like or donor-like trap states until the Fermi-level E_F is aligned to the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} . Thus, the trap charges play a role as the indispensable source providing the negative feedback to pin the Fermi-level $E_{\rm F}$ to the charge neutrality level $E_{\rm CNL}$ (Figure 9d). The Fermi-level pinning effect refers to this compulsive align of the Fermi-level E_F to the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} on the semiconductor surface. Therefore, it is apparent that the high density of trap states D_{it} offers a much greater degree of the negative feedback, implying the strong Fermilevel pinning effect. Before the energy barrier formation in contact with metal, on the semiconductor surface, the pinning of the Fermi-level E_F to the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} is done. This Fermi-level pinning effect results in the collapse of the Schottky-Mott relationship [196-197]. More concretely, the Schottky barrier height $\phi_{\!_B}$ become independent from the metal work-function $\phi_{\!_M}$ since the Fermi-level E_F of metal must coincide with the Fermi-level E_F of semiconductor. If the trap states are rich enough to pin the Fermi-level E_F of metal, the dependence of the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B on the metal work-function ϕ_M disappears totally. Such condition is called as the Bardeen limit [207-209], where the Schottky barrier formation is disturbed by the trap states too much so that the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B is completely determined by the properties of semiconductor on the surface.

The Fermi-level pinning effect is not limited to the semiconductor surface. There will be a large discrepancy in the actual charge distribution between the free surface and the contact surface. Similar to the surface states [198-202], the electronic states originated in the trapping of charge carriers at the interface are called as the interface-trap states [210-213]. The interface-trap states are known to be afforded by the presence of the vacuum or the thin insulating layer with the thickness of a few angstroms [207-209] between the metal and the semiconductor.



If we accept the existence of this small gap δ at the contact interface [207-209], it is easily imaginable that an electric dipole layer [214-224] localized at the interface will form by a combination of the screening charge Q_M on the metal surface and the trap charge Q_{SS} on the semiconductor surface. If we assume that the distribution of trap states D_{it} is uniform (i.e., constant trap state D_{it} for each energy level), the relation between the density of trap charge Q_{SS} and the density of trap state D_{it} is written as Equation 12, where D_{it} is the trap states per unit area per energy on the semiconductor surface. Equation 13 shows the charge neutrality condition [15]. If we assume that the slight separation δ is fixed [207-209], the potential energy change Δ_{MS} across the metal/semiconductor interface can be derived by applying the Gauss' law (Equation 14) [214-224], where κ_i is the dielectric constant of the thin insulating layer ($\kappa_i = 1$ for the vacuum). Here, the sign of Δ_{MS} is set to be plus for the potential energy increase and minus for the potential energy decrease across the metal/semiconductor interface.

$$Q_{SS} = -qD_{it} \left(E_g - E_{CNL} - \phi_B \right)$$
(12)

$$\mathbf{Q}_M + \mathbf{Q}_{SS} + \mathbf{Q}_{SC} = 0 \tag{13}$$

$$\Delta_{MS} = \frac{q\delta}{\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i} \mathbf{Q}_M \tag{14}$$





Figure 10. Energy band alignments of metal/n-semiconductor junction showing the fixed separation model [15, 189, 190, 207-224] in the Schottky barrier formation, where ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, ϕ_M is the work-function of the metal, ϕ_{bi} is the built-in potential energy, E_{FM} is the Fermi-level of the metal, E_{FS} is the Fermi-level of the semiconductor, E_F is the Fermi-level, E_0 is the vacuum level, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor, E_g is the valence band gap of the semiconductor, Δ_{MS} is the potential energy change across the metal/semiconductor



interface, Q_M is the charge density on the metal surface, Q_{SS} is the interface-trap charge density on the semiconductor surface, Q_{SC} is the space charge density, χ_S is the electron affinity of the semiconductor, and δ is the gap distance of the vacuum or the thin insulating layer between the metal and the semiconductor. The magnitude and polarity of screening charge Q_M induced on the metal surface varies depending on the metal work-function ϕ_M . (a,c) Before the Schottky barrier formation, the metal Fermi-level E_{FM} is below the semiconductor charge neutrality level E_{CNL} (a), while the metal Fermi-level E_{FM} is above the semiconductor charge neutrality level E_{CNL} (c). (b,d) After the Schottky barrier formation, a combination of the screening charge Q_M induced on the metal surface and the trap charge Q_{SS} on the semiconductor surface plays a role in the electric dipole layer [214-224] localized at the interface. (b) The negative charges Q_M are induced on the metal surface of the high work-function ϕ_M and the potential energy Δ_{MS} increases across the interface. (d) The positive charges Q_M are induced on the metal surface of the low work-function ϕ_M and the potential energy Δ_{MS} decreases across the interface. Here, the Fermi-level pinning effect is assumed to be so strong that the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B depends on the metal workfunction very weakly.



Figure 10 shows the fixed separation model [15, 189, 190, 207-224], which is very useful to inspect the change of potential energy Δ_{MS} in the Schottky barrier formation. As seen in the diagram, Equation 14 can be converted into Equation 15. At zero bias ($V_A = 0$), we can combine Equations 9, 12, 13, 14 and 15 all together into Equation 16. In fact, the square root term originated from the space charge density Q_{SC} is found to have a relatively low value compared to the other terms so that it can be simply neglected. Now, we can reduce Equation 16 to more simplified one by introducing the pinning factor S (Equation 17). And then, the reduced form of Equation 16 is written as Equation 18. Experimental extraction of the pinning factor S can be deduced from Equation 19, which is the slope of the fitted Schottky barrier height ϕ_B as a function of the metal work-function ϕ_M .

$$\Delta_{MS} = \phi_B + \chi_S - \phi_M \tag{15}$$

$$\frac{\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i}{q\delta} \left(\phi_B + \chi_S - \phi_M \right) = q D_{it} \left(E_g - E_{CNL} - \phi_B \right) - \sqrt{2q N_D \varepsilon_0 \kappa_s} \left[\frac{\phi_B}{q} - \frac{k_B T}{q} \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_d}\right) - \frac{k_B T}{q} \right]$$
(16)

$$S = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i}{\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i + q^2 \delta D_{ii}} = \left(1 + \frac{q^2 \delta D_{ii}}{\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i}\right)^{-1}$$
(17)

$$\phi_B = S\left(\phi_M - \chi_S\right) + \left(1 - S\right)\left(E_g - E_{CNL}\right) = S\phi_M + I \tag{18}$$

$$S \equiv \frac{\partial \phi_B}{\partial \phi_M} \tag{19}$$

$$I = -\frac{\partial \phi_B}{\partial \phi_M} \left(E_g - E_{CNL} + \chi_S \right) + \left(E_g - E_{CNL} \right)$$
(20)



The corresponding intercept *I* (Equation 20) provides an useful information about the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} (Equation 21). Focusing on the variables of the pinning factor *S* shown in Equation 17, the important physical parameters are as follows, the dielectric constant K_i of the vacuum or the thin insulating layer, the gap distance δ of the vacuum or the thin insulating layer between the metal and the semiconductor, and density of interface-trap states D_{it} on the semiconductor surface. The most remarkable parameter is the interface-trap density D_{it} (Equation 22) [15, 189, 190, 210-224] since it has a great deal of impact on the pinning factor *S* quantitatively. Here, we revisit two liming cases, the Schottky-Mott limit [196-197] and the Bardeen limit [207-209], regarding the interface-trap density D_{it} . Interestingly, in accordance with the density of interface-trap states D_{it} , the pinning factor *S* is in the range between zero (Equation 23, $E_{CNL} = E_g + \frac{S\chi_S + I}{S - 1}$ the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B become entirely independent from the metal work-function ϕ_M [Equation 24], the Bardeen limit [207-209]) and one (Equation 25, the dependence of the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B on the metal work-function ϕ_M is absolute [Equation 26], the Schottky-Mott limit [196-197]).

$$E_{CNL} = E_g + \frac{S\chi_s + I}{S - 1} \tag{21}$$

$$D_{it} = \frac{1-S}{S} \frac{\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i}{\delta q^2}$$
(22)

$$S \to 0 \qquad (D_{it} \to \infty)$$
 (23)

$$\phi_{B} = E_{g} - E_{CNL} \qquad \left(S = 0\right) \tag{24}$$

$$S \to 1 \qquad (D_{it} \to 0)$$
 (25)

$$\phi_B = (\phi_M - \chi_S) \qquad (S = 1) \tag{26}$$



The electronic states on the surface or at the interface is known to arise from intrinsic or extrinsic factors [225-235]. Both the surface and interface of materials are in the quantum mechanically interacting system, where atomic orbitals inevitably overlap, electronic charge transfer is accompanied by positive and negative charge distribution, and physical or chemical reaction occurs.

The diamond type semiconductors containing covalent bonds with the neighboring identical atoms such as Si [236-244] and Ge [245-248] are found to possess the intrinsic surface states because the unpaired valence electrons in the missing atoms on the surface contribute to the electrically active trap states. In principle, on the intrinsic surface of such semiconductor, the number of dangling bonds and density of interface-trap states are almost saturated after native oxide growth and the charge neutrality is generally satisfied except for the degenerate case. Thus, for these intrinsic surface semiconductors, it is known that there are no additional requirements for having a substantial amount of interface-trap states a significant amount trap states regardless of presence of the native oxide grown on the surface.

However, the density and distribution of trap states can be modulated when the surface gets distorted by various extrinsic factors such as defect [249-254], oxidation [255-262], chemisorption [263-271], trapping of holes [272-276], insertion of interlayer [277-283], and intermixing of materials [284-298]. Especially for Si, the remaining dangling bonds can be passivated by the hydrogen-related treatments, which lead to eliminate the charges trapped in the amorphous SiO₂ on the Si and reduce the originally saturated interface-trap states. This is why the hydrogen passivation is included in the RCA cleaning procedures [299-304]. In addition, the formation of silicide, which is implemented in the CMOS processes to make the Ohmic contact, significantly alter the trap states too [305-314].

On the other hand, the zinc-blende type III-V compound semiconductors [315-325] consisting of the covalent bonds with the neighboring alternative atoms such as GaAs [326-339] are commonly known to have the extrinsic surface states. In case of the III-V compound semiconductors, the non-polar reconstructed surface with ultrathin or no native oxide layers induces only a very low density of trap states within the band-gap, while the distorted surface generates the electronic states. It is very difficult that there is no insulating material making up the interfacial layer but only vacuum. The material intermixing including the native oxide grown on the semiconductor surface or the inter-diffusion of metal and semiconductor atoms driven by localized reaction during metal deposition results in a high density of trap states for the III-V compound semiconductors. Therefore, the extrinsic factors [249-298], which influences the structural, electrical, and chemical properties on the surface, are the origin of a high density of trap states on the surface of III-V compound semiconductor.



The Fermi-level pinning effect is manifested in various ways. Here, it is worthwhile to look in the misconception regarding the Fermi-level pinning effect. The common misunderstanding is that it is a phenomenon in which the Fermi-level E_F of metal is fixed to that of semiconductor or the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B appears to have a weak dependence on the metal work-function ϕ_M . They are a kind of half-baked statement because those are the result of Fermi-level pinning effect not the Fermi-level pinning effect itself. Such phenomena resulting from the Fermi-level pinning effect can be achieved through any other processes too. Nevertheless, the above phenomena are widely termed as the Fermi-level pinning effect. In particular, the experimental observation relies on the extraction of the pinning factor S and the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} .

The emphasis here is that the align of Fermi-level E_F to the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} on the semiconductor surface due to the high density of trap states D_{il} is said to be the original definition of the Fermi-level pinning effect. Moreover, its key point is related to the strong correlation with electronic states D_{il} distributed on the surface or trapped at the interface, which are induced by physical or chemical mechanisms occurring at the gap between metal and semiconductor [15, 189, 190, 198-202, 207-224]. As a consequence, the involved physical and chemical mechanisms are of great importance to the origin of the Fermi-level pinning [225-235, 249-298].

In addition to the surface states [198-202], gap states [207-209], interface-trap states [210-213], interface dipole formation [214-224], and intrinsic/extrinsic factors [225-235, 249-298] mentioned so far, there are quite a number of theories explaining the origin of the Fermi-level pinning effect in slightly different ways. One of the other widely known theory is the metal-induced gap states claiming that the electronic states on the semiconductor surface stem from the penetration of the metal wavefunction tail into the semiconductor [189, 190, 207-209]. The presence of small gap δ and the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} is still applicable to the theory of metal-induced gap states. Likewise, regarding the origin of the Fermi-level pinning effect, the related theories seem to conflict, but somehow complement each other. Therefore, at this stage, it would be reasonable to state that it is difficult to confirm the origin of the Fermi-level pinning effect arbitrarily or conclusively. However, for one reason or another, the formation of electric dipole layer at the interface plays an essential part in the electronic states on the semiconductor surface, the change of electrostatic potential across the interface, and the Fermi-level pinning effect.

Finally, the Fermi-level pinning effect is occasionally recognized as parasite resistance source. By changing the point of view, it is possible to adjust the principle of device operation arbitrarily, if we can modulate or take advantage of the Fermi-level pinning effect.



1.4.3 Image Force Lowering

The Schottky barrier height ϕ_B seen by the charge carrier coming close to or moving away from the metal/semiconductor interface is known to be effectively reduced by $\Delta \phi$ due to the modified potential energy associated with the image charge reflected in the other side of the interface [15, 340-343]. Compared to the approaching charge carrier, the induced image charge has different polarity but same magnitude. Each distance measured from the interface will be the same too. If the electrons on the semiconductor side approach the interface, the positive charges are positioned on the metal side, the image force is applied to the electrons, and this causes the electrons to be attracted toward the metal. The image force can be converted into the potential energy. This potential energy is called as the image force lowering energy $\Delta \phi$ written as Equation 27, where \mathcal{E}_0 is the permittivity of the vacuum, and K_s is the dielectric constant of the semiconductor, E_{max} is the maximum electric field (Equation 28) at the semiconductor surface, q is the electric charge constant, N_D is the doping concentration of the n-type semiconductor, ψ is the potential energy (Equation 29) at the semiconductor surface, ϕ_{bi} is the built-in potential energy, ϕ_{B0} is the Schottky barrier height without the image force lowering energy, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature, $k_B T$ is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV), N_C is the effective density of states in the conduction band of the semiconductor, and V_A is the applied bias voltage. The Schottky barrier height ϕ_B with the image force lowering energy $\Delta \phi$ is given by Equation 30. In addition, Equation 31 is referred to as the location x_{max} where the potential energy is maximized. Under different bias conditions, the image force lowering incorporated energy band diagrams are shown in Figure 11. One thing to note here is that the image charge is noticeable when the charge carrier passes through the interface. The motion of charge carrier caused by an external electric field is not sufficient to induce the image charge. In other words, the image force lowering effect will be observed only in the measurement techniques using the charge carrier transport crossing the interface. Thus, the barrier shift due to the image force lowering should be considered in the current-voltage measurement or internal photoemission spectroscopy not in the capacitance-voltage measurement.



$$\Delta\phi = \sqrt{\frac{q^3 E_{\text{max}}}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i}} = \left(\frac{q^6 N_D \psi}{8\pi^2 \varepsilon_0^3 \kappa_i^3}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$
(27)

$$E_{\max} = \sqrt{\frac{2N_D \psi}{\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i}}$$
(28)

$$\Psi = \phi_{bi} + \Delta \phi = \phi_{B0} - k_B T \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_D}\right) - q V_A$$
⁽²⁹⁾

$$\phi_B = \phi_{B0} - \Delta\phi \tag{30}$$

$$x_{\max} = \sqrt{\frac{q}{16\pi\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i |E_{\max}|}} = \left(\frac{q^2}{512\pi^2\varepsilon_0 \kappa_i N_D \psi}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$
(31)







Figure 11. Energy band alignments of metal/n-semiconductor junction under different bias conditions showing the image force lowering, where ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height with the image force lowering energy, ϕ_{B0} is the Schottky barrier height without the image force lowering energy, $\Delta \phi$ is the image force lowering energy. ϕ_{bi} is the built-in potential energy, ψ is the potential energy at the semiconductor surface, E_F is the Fermi-level, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor, E_g is the band gap of the semiconductor, x_{max} is the location where the potential energy is maximized, q is the electric charge constant, and V_A is the applied bias voltage.



1.4.4 Transport Mechanism

In solid-state materials, according to the density of states and the Fermi-Dirac statistics, the electronic states available for the charge carrier transport are distributed near the Fermi-level. Because charge carrier can transmit into only the partially filled energy states, the charge carriers in those electronic states play a critical role in the electrical conduction. When two different materials make an intimate contact, the exchange of mobile charge carriers in the partially filled electronic states around the Fermi-level of each material occur. If a bias voltage is applied on the contact, it gives rise to energy difference in the Fermi-level of each material. The Fermi-level difference brings about the delocalized electronic states and the non-equilibrium charge carrier. The charge carrier transport crossing the junction interface induces the current flow through entire circuit which includes the junction itself. Thus, the best way to evaluate the performance of electronic devices is to measure the bias-dependent electric current due to the carrier transport, since the operation characteristics is determined by carrier transport processes across the interface [15, 340-343]. This is why the various transport measurements are performed to examine their electrical properties and extract the related parameters. In case of metal/semiconductor junction, the turn-on current is mainly attributed to the majority carrier transport.

Here, it will be reviewed on the charge carrier transport resulting from thermionic-emission [344-348], tunneling [349-353], and recombination [354-358] occurring at the interface of the Schottky barrier diode. The most commonly used in analysis of the current-voltage characteristic measured on the Schottky contact is the thermionic-emission, which is followed by tunneling and recombination. As shown in Figure 12, the basic carrier transport processes depend on the bias condition in the range where contact resistance and breakdown mechanism are safely neglected. In forward bias (Figure 12a), the reduced built-in potential energy leads to the exponentially increasing current flow with increasing applied bias voltage. In reverse bias (Figure 12b), the increased built-in potential energy results in the saturated current flow before the breakdown.



Figure 12. Transport processes in forward-biased (a) and reverse-biased (b) metal/n-semiconductor junction, where E_{FM} is the metal Fermi-level, E_{FS} is the semiconductor Fermi-level, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor, and V_A is the applied bias voltage.



The thermionic emission is the majority carrier emission over the energy barrier height [344-348]. In case of the metal/n-semiconductor junction, most electrons emit from the semiconductor to the metal under forward bias (Figure 12a) and from the metal to the semiconductor under reverse bias (Figure 12b). The thermionic-emission theory unified with diffusion theory is very practical to extract the Schottky diode parameters and explain the experimental results quantitatively. The expression of current density-voltage characteristic with the thermionic-emission-diffusion theory is described by Equations 32-34, where J_{TE} is the forward-biased current density of the thermionic emission components, J_{TE}^{SM} is the forward-biased current density of the thermionic emission components, J_{TE}^{SM} is the forward-biased current density of the thermionic mission components, J_{TE}^{MS} is the reverse-biased current density of the thermionic emission components, J_{TE} is the total current density of the thermionic emission components, J_{TE} is the Schottky barrier height, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, k_BT is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV), q is the electric charge constant, and V_A is the applied bias voltage.

$$J_{TE}^{SM} = A^{**}T^{2} \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{B}}{k_{B}T}\right) \exp\left(\frac{qV_{A}}{k_{B}T}\right)$$
(32)

$$J_{TE}^{MS} = -A^{**}T^{2} \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{B}}{k_{B}T}\right)$$
(33)

$$J_{TE} = A^{**}T^{2} \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{B}}{k_{B}T}\right) \left[\exp\left(\frac{qV_{A}}{k_{B}T}\right) - 1\right]$$
(34)



As shown in Figure 12, the tunneling through the Schottky barrier consists of not only the direct tunneling but also the thermally assisted field emission (thermionic field emission) and the purely field emission (field emission) [349-353]. The thermionic field emission is tunneling of charge carriers between the Schottky barrier height and the energy levels much above the Fermi-level. On the other hand, the field emission is tunneling of charge carriers at energy levels slightly above the metal Fermi level. Since the quantum mechanical tunneling strongly depends on width, height, and shape of the energy barrier, the direct tunneling is predominant in the Schottky contact formed with the heavily doped semiconductors, while the thermionic field emission and the field emission are manifested in the Schottky contact formed with the moderately-doped semiconductors. For the same reason, the tunneling becomes significant at low temperature. Besides, the tunneling through the sharp potential barrier due to the high electric field under reverse-biased contributes to the leakage current. Similarly, the potential barrier near the contact edge is known to be narrow than that near the contact center, which implies that it is more preferable for the charge carriers to tunnel through the energy barrier around the contact edge. These are why the tunneling accounts for a large portion of leakage current in the Schottky contact. The current density of the tunneling components is obtained by the integral of quantum transmission coefficient multiplied by the amount of occupied energy states in the material where the charge carriers emit and the amount of unoccupied states in the material where the charge carriers are injected. They are given by J_{TU}^{SM} (Equation 35) for the forward bias and J_{TU}^{MS} (Equation 36) for the reverse bias, where A^{**} is the Richardson constant, T is the absolute temperature, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, E_{FM} is the metal Fermi-level, ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, F_s is the Fermi-Dirac distribution function for the semiconductor, F_M is the Fermi-Dirac distribution function for the metal, and T(E) is the tunneling probability at certain energy E.

$$J_{TU}^{SM} = \frac{A^{**}T}{k_B} \int_{E_C}^{E_{FM} + \phi_B} F_S (1 - F_M) T(E) dE$$
(35)

$$J_{TU}^{MS} = \frac{A^{**}T}{k_B} \int_{E_{FM}}^{E_{FM}+\phi_B} F_M (1 - F_S) T(E) dE$$
(36)



The recombination occurring mainly in the depletion region is due to the minority carrier injection from the metal into the semiconductor [354-358]. For the n-type semiconductor Schottky contact, the holes are injected from the metal into the depletion region of the semiconductor under forward bias (Figure 12a). The forward-biased recombination current density in the Schottky contact can be also expressed by that in the p-n junction (Equation 37), where J_{RE}^{SM} is the forward-biased current density of the recombination components, q is the electric charge constant, W_D is the depletion region width, σ is the capture cross sections for electrons and holes, v_{ih} is the thermal velocity, N_T is the trap density in semiconductor, n_i is the intrinsic carrier concentration in semiconductor, V_A is the applied bias voltage, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature, k_BT is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV), and τ is the lifetime in the depletion region. It is necessary to point out here that Equation 37 is somewhat overestimated term because it is based on the assumption of maximum recombination rate in most part of the depletion region. In addition, under reverse bias, unless the photo-carrier is generated by the light illumination, the generation rarely occur in the Schottky contact, contrary to the p-n junction.

$$J_{RE}^{SM} = \frac{1}{2} q W_D \sigma v_{th} N_T n_i \exp\left(\frac{q V_A}{2k_B T}\right) = \frac{1}{2} q W_D \frac{n_i}{\tau} \exp\left(\frac{q V_A}{2k_B T}\right)$$
(37)



In real Schottky contact, the total current consists of the other non-ideal current sources as well as the transport processes (thermionic emission, tunneling, and recombination) presented so far. The experimentally measured current density-voltage curve is conveniently expressed in the following form (Equation 38) based on the thermionic emission model combined with the ideality factor η [15, 340-358], A^{**} is the Richardson constant, T is the absolute temperature, ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, q is the electric charge constant, and V_A is the applied bias voltage, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, and $k_B T$ is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV). Here,

 $A^{**}T^2 \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_B}{k_BT}\right)$ term is defined as the saturation current density $J_0 = A^{**}T^2 \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_B}{k_BT}\right)$.

The ideality factor η increases with the tunneling and recombination components increasing. Likewise, if the non-ideal current sources are introduced, the ideality factor n also increase. The linear extrapolation of current density-voltage curve in log scale gives the Schottky diode parameters.

From the slope of the fitted line, represented by $\frac{q}{\eta k_B T}$, we can extract the ideality factor η

(Equation 39). In particular, the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B can be extracted from the intercept of the fitted line, which is linked to the saturation current density J_0 (Equation 40). One thing to note is that the barrier shift due to the image force lowering should be included in Equation 40, as explained in Chapter 1.4.3. In other words, the Schottky barrier height ϕ_{B0} at zero bias will be $\phi_B + \Delta \phi$, where $\Delta \phi$ is the image force lowering energy.

$$J = A^{**}T^{2} \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{B}}{k_{B}T}\right) \left[\exp\left(\frac{qV_{A}}{\eta k_{B}T}\right) - 1\right] = J_{0}\left[\exp\left(\frac{qV_{A}}{\eta k_{B}T}\right) - 1\right]$$
(38)

$$\eta = \frac{q}{k_B T} \frac{dV_A}{d\left(\ln J\right)} \tag{39}$$

$$\phi_B = \frac{k_B T}{q} \ln\left(\frac{A^{**}T^2}{J_0}\right) \tag{40}$$



1.4.5 Parallel Conduction Model

The interpretation of current density-voltage curve using the thermionic emission model combined with the ideality factor is working on the assumption that the Schottky contact has perfectly uniform planar interface the Schottky barrier is spatially homogeneous. In practice, atomic arrangement at the interface is quite inhomogeneous since it is very difficult to fabricate an abrupt metal/semiconductor contact. The non-uniform interface structure varying from region to region implies that the Schottky contact contains the local Schottky barrier heights much lower than that on the surrounding. Such region is called as the low barrier patches [359-377]. One of the non-ideal current sources is actually attributed to this low barrier patches acting as leakage paths for the junction current. As shown in Figure 13, the current-voltage characteristic of the inhomogeneous Schottky contact containing the low barrier patch is extremely sensitive to the areal percentage of the low barrier patches. As a consequence, the effective Schottky barrier height will be lower than that on the surrounding area.



The variation in the effective Schottky barrier height due to the presence of low barrier patches can be investigated by introducing the parallel conduction model [187-190, 378, 379]. In the model, each Schottky barrier height in the inhomogeneous Schottky contact is assumed to be discrete and considered as the electrically independent current path. And then, the total junction current is simply expressed by the sum of the currents flowing through all individual patches (Equation 41), where I is the total current, A^{**} is the Richardson constant, T is the absolute temperature, q is the electric charge constant, and V_A is the applied bias voltage, η is the ideality factor, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, $k_{\rm B}T$ is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV), n is the index of each individual patch, ϕ_{Bn} is the Schottky barrier height, and A_n is the junction area of each individual patch. In most cases, each individual low barrier patch is surrounded by the prevailing high barrier region. If we assume here that the inhomogeneous Schottky contact possesses the Schottky barrier height of ϕ_{Low} for the low barrier patch and that of ϕ_{High} for the high barrier region respectively, the areal percentage α of all individual low barrier patches to total junction area A can be estimated from Equation 42. The effective Schottky barrier ϕ_{PC} based on the parallel conduction model is obtained as Equation 43. The portion of low barrier patches can be estimated by matching the calculated effective Schottky barrier height ϕ_{PC} with the measured Schottky barrier height ϕ_{B} . In general, the total junction current I is governed by the current flowing through the low barrier patches with a very small area portion, implying that the effective Schottky barrier height ϕ_{PC} changes significantly depending on the areal percentage α of the low barrier patches.

$$I = A^{**}T^{2}\left[\exp\left(\frac{qV_{A}}{\eta k_{B}T}\right) - 1\right]\sum_{n} \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{Bn}}{k_{B}T}\right) A_{n}$$
(41)

$$I = A^{**}T^{2}\left[\exp\left(\frac{qV_{A}}{\eta k_{B}T}\right) - 1\right]\left\{\alpha A \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{Low}}{k_{B}T}\right) + \left[1 - \alpha\right]A \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{High}}{k_{B}T}\right)\right\}$$
(42)

$$\phi_{PC} = -k_B T \ln \left\{ \alpha A \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{Low}}{k_B T}\right) + \left[1 - \alpha\right] A \exp\left(-\frac{\phi_{High}}{k_B T}\right) \right\}$$
(43)





Figure 13. (a) Schematic of the Schottky contact showing that most of the junction current flows through the low-barrier patches in the current-voltage measurement. (b,c) Cross-sectional schematic view of the atomic arrangement at the interfaces of the high barrier region with normal native oxide layer (b) and the low barrier patches induced by material intermixing (c).



1.5 Internal Photoemission

The internal photoemission spectroscopy (IPE) [32-34, 380-387] is an effective technique for determining the interfacial energy barrier by collecting the optically induced mobile charge carrier. When the light is intensely illuminated on the surface of junction formed by two or more different materials such as metal/semiconductor, metal/insulator/semiconductor, and metal/insulator/metal, the mobile charge carriers absorbing the sufficient photon energy reveals the ballistic motion which is not deflected in their traveling path. In other words, the photo-excited hot carriers can transmit from on material into another material in the absence of scattering. Since total energy and transverse momentum component of the charge carriers crossing the interface are generally conserved, the lateral momentum is crucial for overcoming the energy barrier. More concretely, the charge carriers having a component of momentum perpendicular to the surface can surmount over the interfacial energy barrier.

1.5.1 Basic Principle

Figure 14 shows the IPE process consists of optical excitation, hot carrier transport to the surface, overcoming potential barrier, and collection of substrate current. This multi-step model provided by Powell [382] is most widely used as phenomenological description for the IPE mechanism. For the n-type semiconductor Schottky contact, after photoexcitation near the top metal layer, the excited hot carriers will travel through the beneath metal layer with maintaining their trajectory and reach the junction interface without losing their energy. The ballistic carriers arriving at the interface get over the Schottky barrier depending on the magnitude of lateral momentum. The surmounted carriers contribute on the substrate current. The IPE signal comes from this photocurrent measured on the substrate. One of the most interesting aspects of the IPE signal is that it is acquired by the collective contribution of photo-excited carriers in all regions of the junction (Figure 15). This makes the biggest difference with the current-voltage measurement, where most charge carriers flow into the low barrier patches (Chapter 1.4.5). Owing to this, the IPE measurement is not biased to the influence from the small areal fraction of low barrier patches so that it is capable of determining the energy barrier height at the junction interface of prevailing area.



Figure 14. IPE process explained by the multi-step model [382] around the very near interface between emitter and collector, where E_F is the Fermi-level. (i) Optical excitation. (ii) Transport of electron to the surface. (iii) Surmount potential barrier. (iv) Collected as substrate current.





Figure 15. Schematic illustration of the Schottky contact showing that the photocurrent in the internal photoemission spectroscopy is acquired by the collective contribution of photo-excited carriers in all regions of the junction. The IPE measurement is not biased to the influence from the small areal fraction of low barrier patches so that it is capable of determining the energy barrier height at the junction interface of prevailing area.



The important feature of the IPE measurement is emerging from the photoelectric quantum yield Y (the ratio of the number $n_{emitted}$ of emitted electrons to the number $n_{excited}$ of excited electrons). It is necessary to clarify dependence of the measured photocurrent on the photon energy with light power in order to obtain the IPE quantum yield. The quantum yield Y(hv) at photon energy hv is given by Equations 44 and 45, where $n_{emitted}$ (hv) is the number of emitted electrons, $n_{excited}$ is the number of excited electrons, $I_{sample}(hv)$ is the photocurrent measured on the sample, P(hv) is the incident light power, C is the proportional constant, ϕ_{th} is the threshold energy, and m is the power exponent depending on the quantum yield spectra. In the IPE spectra curve (the graph of IPE quantum yield $Y^{\frac{1}{m}}$ to the power of the reciprocal of the power exponent as a function of photon energy hv), the interfacial energy barrier can be obtained from the extracted threshold ϕ_{th} . It has to be careful that the threshold energy ϕ_{th} for the power exponent m = 1 is not equal to the potential energy barrier height at the interface.

Regarding the power exponent m [380-387], it is predicted that the electrons excited from energy states close to the Fermi level E_F of the metal (Figure 16) follow the Fowler's law (m=2) [380], because the shape of photo-excited carrier distribution around the metal Fermi-level E_F looks like the step-function. On the other hand, the photo-excited electrons from the semiconductor valence band E_v (Figure 17) revealing the linear-function shape of photo-excited carrier distribution function are known to be follow the Powell's interpretation m=3 [382].

$$Y(h\nu) = \frac{n_{emitted}(h\nu)}{n_{excited}(h\nu)} \propto \frac{I_{sample}(h\nu) \times h\nu}{P(h\nu)}$$
(44)

$$Y(h\nu) = C(h\nu - \phi_{th})^m \tag{45}$$





Figure 16. (a,b) Injection of optically excited electron from the metal Fermi-level E_F into the semiconductor (a) or the insulator (b), where the electrons follow the Fowler's law [380].





Figure 17. Injection of optically excited electron from the semiconductor valence band E_v into the insulator, where the electrons follow the Powell's interpretation [382].



As discussed in Chapter 1.4.3, the image force lowering energy $\Delta \phi$ should be also included in consideration of the influence of applied electric field on the surface potential energy ψ . This is why the IPE measurement is carried out by varying the substrate bias voltage.

The charge carriers can both get over (Figure 18a) and tunnel through (Figure 18b) the interfacial energy barrier. If the band bending becomes intensified due to the applied bias voltage, the photon-assisted-tunneling [385] can contribute to the photocurrent, unless it is completely limited by the very thick insulator.

Another contribution to the photocurrent can stem from the electrons directly excited from the localized energy states on the semiconductor surface for the metal/semiconductor junction. In general, the injection of excited electron from the metal Fermi-level E_F is responsible for the spectral threshold (Figure 19a). On the other hand, if the metal electrode has deep skin depth larger than its thickness, the light can penetrate into the semiconductor surface and induce the electron excitation from the localized states on it (Figure 19b). For example, the electronic states are known to be localized below the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} of the GaAs surface [388], leading to the strong Fermi-level pinning effect (Chapter 1.4.2). The direct electron excitation in the semiconductor induced by the incident light having the energy of the difference around between the conduction band edge E_c and the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} can contribute to the IPE signal. Thus, it is expected that the hump-shaped quantum yield in the IPE spectra for the Schottky junction implies the existence of localized interface states within the semiconductor band-gap. This is actually what I have identified through the experimental observation [389].





Figure 18. Injection of optically excited electron can directly surmount (a) or tunnel through (b) the interfacial energy barrier.





Figure 19. (a,b) Optical excitation of electron from the Fermi-level E_F of the metal (a) or the localized electronic states around the charge neutrality level E_{CNL} of the semiconductor (b) for the metal/semiconductor junction, where E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor and E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor.



1.5.2 Experimental Setup

The experimental equipment required for the IPE measurement setup is shown in Figure 20, which consists of Xenon arc lamp, lamp power supply, lamp housing, Ozone eater, Ozone exhauster, optical filter, monochromator, grating, optical fiber, probe station. optical lens, lens holder, low-noise current pre-amplifier, and data acquisition card. The optical components were purchased from the Oriel Instruments (Newport) Corporation. For the different energy (wavelength) range, it is necessary to change the measurement configuration (Figure 21) such as cut-on wavelength of the optical filter, line density of the grating, slit width of the monochromator, transmittance range of the optical fiber, sensitivity of the low-noise current pre-amplifier, and types of the photodiode. By taking these points into consideration, each equipment was organized in the following procedures.

A Xenon arc lamp (Newport 6259 lamp for 300 W and 900-hour lifetime) receiving power through the Newport 70050 black cable plugged into the Newport 69911 power supply (Figure 20c) is used as the white light source with all wavelength. The wavelength-dependent light intensity of lamp should be verified with its spectral irradiance, which is linked directly to the incident light power. The Xenon lamp is mounted in the Newport 66902 lamp housing (Figure 20a). The plus sign of the Xenon lamp should be installed to go up inside the housing. The socket-adapter should be equipped in the bottom side of the Xenon lamp. It should be warned that fingerprints or other foreign matter on the surface of the lamp can cause explosion after ignition, so be careful not to touch it with bare hands. If the lamp gets fingerprints or other foreign objects on the surface, use alcohol to clean the lamp surface carefully. In general, aware that all light source equipment is sensitive to humidity and it is recommended to wear ultraviolet-screening goggles when testing the lamp. Also note that care must be taken not to exceed the lamp lifetime.

After installing the lamp, adjust the up and down screws to align the lamp so that it is centered on the condenser lens and the emitted light can be maximized. There is a fan on the side of the lamp housing for stable cooling. When we use an Ozone-free lamp like the Newport 6258 model, we can leave the fan open. However, for Newport 6259 model in use, the fan should be wrapped with the Ozone exhauster (Figure 20b) and connected to the Newport 66087 Ozone eater (Figure 20d). Two Newport 66090 replacement filters are in the Ozone eater and their lifetime depends on the Ozone concentration in the airstream. (usually about 4000 hours at 4 ppm).

The lamp housing is sequentially connected to the filter holder (Figure 20f) and the monochromator (Figure 20e). There are four different optical filters are classified in the filter holder according to the cut-on wavelength (Newport 51352 filter #1 for 830 nm, Newport 51320 filter #2 for 630 nm, Newport 51272 filter #3 for 400 nm, and Newport 51250 filter #4 for 309 nm). The photon energy can vary from 0.8 to 5.5 eV using the grating equipped in the monochromator (74160 grating #2 for 600



lines/mm with the wavelength range of $600 \sim 2500$ nm and 74167 grating #1 for 2400 lines/mm with the wavelength range of $180 \sim 700$ nm).

Note that the resolution of light emitted by the monochromator depends on various factors. Since the grating line density and the light resolution are inversely proportional, if the line density doubles, the resolution gets half the value. On the other hand, the spectral bandwidth of light is proportional to the resolution. The resolution of light is also mediated by the slit width of monochromator. Each round of Newport 74001 slit width controller (Figure 20g) increases the width by 500 micrometers (100 micrometers slit width per grid marking). The maximum slit width of Oriel Cornerstone 260 1/4 m monochromator is about 3 mm.

The monochromatic light emitted from the monochromator is guided to the probe station (Figure 20i) through the optical fiber (Figure 20h). There are two types of optical fiber in use (Newport 77634 black for the wavelength range of $400 \sim 1700$ nm and Newport 76840 blue for the wavelength range of $500 \sim 250$ nm). The light is focused onto the sample mounted on the stage with the ultraviolet grade fused Silica lenses (Newport SPX011 plano-convex lens for conversion of dispersed light into parallel light and Newport SBX016 bi-convex lens for focusing of parallel light) housed in the lens holder (Figure 20m).

As shown in Figure 22, the design and manufacture process of the lens holder for stably fixing the lens and optical fiber. The lens holder is designed in consideration of diameter of the optical fiber and lenses, focal length of the lenses, distance between the end of optical fiber and the position of lenses. The focused light through the lens holder in the visible wavelength range is shown in Figure 23.

During the IPE measurement (Figure 20m and Figure 24), a low-noise current pre-amplifier (Figure 20j) with a data acquisition card (Figure 20k) is utilized to measure the photocurrent $I_{sample}(h\nu)$ on the sample or photodiode. The sensitivity of a low-noise current pre-amplifier should be adapted to maximize the measured photocurrent. The photocurrent versus the photon energy data can be automatically extracted by LabVIEW and MAX (Measurement & Automation Explorer) programs supported by the National Instruments Corporation. The dark current noise is also automatically corrected in the system by subtracting the dark current from the measured photocurrent.

Figure 25 shows the spectral power distribution of incident light obtained by using two kinds of photodiode (Hamamatsu Photonics G9230-01 InGaAs photodiode (950 ~ 1550 nm) and Hamamatsu Photonics S2281-04 Si photodiode (200 ~ 1180 nm). The incident light power P(hv) converted from the photocurrent $I_{photodiode}(hv)$ measured on the photodiode divided by the spectral photosensitivity S(hv) of the photodiode (Equation 46) is used to calculate the photoelectric quantum yield Y(hv) (Chapter 1.5.1). Equations 44-46 can be combined into Equation 47.



$$P(h\nu) = \frac{I_{photodiode}(h\nu)}{S(h\nu)}$$
(46)

$$h\nu \times S(h\nu) \times \frac{I_{sample}(h\nu)}{I_{photodiode}(h\nu)} \propto C(h\nu - \phi_{th})^m$$
(47)



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 20. Diagram showing the components of the IPE system. (a) Lamp housing (Xenon arc lamp is mounted in it). (b) Ozone exhauster. (c) Lamp power supply. (d) Ozone eater. (e) Monochromator equipped with two different kinds of gratings. (f) Filter holder (Four different optical filters are sorted in it). (g) Slit width controller. (h) Optical fiber. (i) Probe station. (j) Low-noise current pre-amplifier. (k) Data acquisition card. (l) IPE measurement inside the probe station. (m) Lens holder (Two different optical lens are housed in it).


ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

	Type								Grati	Optical	Photon Ene Waveleng
ļ	G	п	m	D	C B	⊳		Fiber	D.	Filter	ergy (eV) th (nm)
											0.5 2480
						Full S Full S	Filtor				0.8 1550
						Black OF val: 0.005 e ² Sample> Silt (3000 ur G9230-01 S0 uA/V S0 uA/V	1 / Centino				1.1 1127
					Full s PDS ull Slit - 12	n) V Filter 2 / G	5				1.3 954
					1: 52281-01 1: 5(3000 -1 1: mA/V	rating 2 / B val: 0.005 e ²			Contractory of Contractory	Filter 1 Cutoff	1.46 330
					250 um)	v V			7		1.55 800
					iitter 3 / Gr interv S Full Sli Full Sli Full Sli Full Sli			Black O			1.8 689
					ating 2 / Bla al: 0.005 eV iample it (3000 um \$2281-01: it (3000 um			Ť			1.85 670
				Filter 3 Full Slit Full Slit	ack OF					Filter 2 Cutoff	1.97 630
				/ Grating 1 < Sample - 17.5 (3000 PDS: S228 - 17.5 (3000 - 17.5 (3000 - 17.5 (3000)			ŀ		ł	H	2.07 600
				/ Black OF 05 eV 9 0 - 1750 un 1- 01 > 0 - 1750 un 0 - 1750 un						H	2.47 502
			Full Slit - Full Slit -	J J						⊢	2.5 496
			 / Grating 1 / Grating 1 / Completer / Comple							0 2	2.8
			- 2700 um; - 2700 um; - 2700 um;							utoff	3.1
							Blue		Grating 1	H	3.E 3
		Full SI					P₽			₽₽	.87 4. 20 3
		r s / Gratin (Sam) it - 28.5 (30 (PDS: S2 it - 28.5 (30 it - 28.5 (30								er 4 toff	09
	Filter 5 / c inte - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	g 1 / siue),005 eV ple> 281-01> 281-01> 2850 2850	× ~							L	4.5 276
	Grating 1 / rval: 0.005 (< Sample> 8.5 (3000 - S: S2281-0 8.5 (3000 -: 8.5 (3000 -:	um)	D 1								5 248
	Blue OF eV 2850 um) 1> 2850 um)										5.5 225
							F			F	6 207
										F	6.88 180

Figure 21. IPE measurement configuration for each energy (wavelength) range.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 22. Design and manufacture process of the lens holder.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 23. Focused light through the lens holder in the visible wavelength range.



Figure 24. IPE measurement system.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 25. IPE measurement configuration for each energy (wavelength) range.



1.6. Graphene Hetero-Interface

A number of techniques with regard to typical mechanical exfoliating, polymer-assisted (wet, dry, and semi-dry) transferring, roll-to-roll printing of a graphene monolayer onto arbitrary substrates have been developed [390-406]. Those techniques are effective to maximize its mobility, enlarge its surface area, reduce chemical residues or structural defects (Figure 26) generated during the transfer process, and eventually improve its overall quality, uniformity, and reproducibility. The nicely transferred graphene layer reveals well-terminated surface without dangling bonds, which is suitable for a component in hetero-junction. The graphene-based hetero-interface can be combined with metals, semiconductors, and other 2D Van der Waals materials. The issue of improving the electrical contacts [159-162] between graphene and different materials through understanding of charge transfer at the graphene interface [163-166] and charge transport through the graphene interface [167-170] has stimulated a lot of research interest.





Figure 26. (a) Photo taken near the playground showing the hexagonal mesh structure. (b) Graphene lattice structure drawn with chemical residues, atomic impurities, and structural defects, which is inspired by the photo.



1.6.1 Graphene-Metal Interaction

The electrical contacts between graphene layer and metal electrode is very essential for fabricating the graphene-based devices. It is known that the interaction between graphene and metals induce the charge transfer, varies the adsorption characteristic, derives the different kinds of bonding, shifts the Fermi-level alter the doping of graphene, and forms the interfacial dipole layer [163-164] supported by the density functional theory (DFT) calculations. The interaction dipole charge density is known to exist due to the overlapping of electron wave-functions in the metal/graphene gap [163-164]. The weak interaction of graphene with Al, Ag, Cu, Au, and Pt allows graphene to be physisorbed on metals while the strong interaction of graphene with Co, Ni, Pd, and Ti leads graphene to be chemisorbed on metals [163-164].

The physisorbed graphene involves only short-range interaction. This short-range interaction has effect on the graphene doping and the interface dipole formation but the original band structure of graphene is maintained. As shown in Figure 27, the type and level of doping (the Fermi-level shift from relative to the Dirac point) depends on the physics of graphene-metal interface such as the work-function of metal modified by the adsorption of graphene (generally consistent with the sign and size of interface dipole) as well as the Van der Waals gap (the vacuum separation between graphene and metal).

In other hands, the chemisorbed graphene brings about the hybridization between p_z -orbital in the graphene (illustrated in Figure 4) and d-orbital in metal. This orbital hybridization is considerable chemical reaction to change the electronic property of graphene significantly, destroy the band structure of graphene, banish the Dirac point, and even open the band-gap of graphene. The perturbed graphene namely dramatically creates a much more complicated system with metals, contains the abundant electron carriers like donor, and lower the metal work-function eventually.





Figure 27. Energy band alignments of metal/graphene junctions with high (a) and low (b) metal workfunctions for the physisorbed graphene on metals showing the graphene-metal interaction [163-164], ϕ_M is the work-function of the metal, ϕ_G is the work-function of the graphene, E_F is the Fermilevel, ΔE_F is the Fermi-level shift in the graphene, E_0 is the vacuum level, Δ_{MG} is the potential energy change between the metal and graphene, Q_M is the charge density on the metal surface, Q_D is the dipole charge density, Q_G is the doping charge density of the graphene, and d is the Van der Waals gap distance between the graphene and the metal.



1.6.2 Graphene Diffusion Barrier

Due to the orbital hybridization explained in Chapter 1.3.2, the high dense electron cloud fills the openings in hexagonal lattice of graphene. The compactness of electronic states near the openings is superb, other atoms cannot easily penetrate through the graphene [176, 177, 407-412]. Borrowing this impermeability, we can utilize the atomically-thin graphene layer as a diffusion barrier blocking the material intermixing like a protective coating film as shown in Figure 28. An intact junction formed by the graphene diffusion barrier is utilized to reduce the sub-threshold leakage current or increase the photocurrent signal during the transport measurement of charge carriers crossing the clean interface [177, 389].



Figure 28. (a) Diffusion of atoms into a solid substrate. (b) Graphene diffusion barrier protecting the surface from atomic diffusion.



1.6.3 Graphene Interlayer

A dimensionality is itself known as a crucial factor related to performance optimization and power consumption in nanoscale device [15]. However, giving degree of freedom to the moving direction of charge carriers creates a much higher level of physical regime. The vertical stacking of graphene with other 2D Van der Waals materials [171-174] is part of this attempt. The mixed-dimensional Van der Waals system can be also interfaced with the graphene [413-415].

From a slightly different perspective, combining graphene-metal interaction [163-164] (Chapter 1.6.1) with graphene diffusion barrier [176, 177, 407-412] (Chapter 1.6.3) makes possible to invent another complex system. Graphene interlayer sandwiched between bulk metal and semiconductor substrate simply looks like 3D/2D/3D hetero-structure. However, ballistic carrier transport measured on the graphene-based hetero-junction introduced in this thesis is considered as 1D parallel charge carrier transport through 2D-layer-interfaced 3D hybrid system.

The functionality of graphene as a diffusion barrier enables to obtain the intact Schottky contacts and investigate the surface states on semiconductor substrate [177]. The interaction between graphene and metal is found to result in forming electric dipole charges at the interface between metal and graphene, which makes the potential differences crossing the interface (Figure 29) [389]. Therefore, by employing the interlayer, it is possible to modulate electronic states at the interface and regulate charge distribution across the interface. In order to discover the hidden physics in the graphene-based hetero-interface, understanding the role of graphene interlayer inserted at the metal/semiconductor junction is one of the main purpose of my research.





Figure 29. Energy band alignments of metal/graphene/n-semiconductor junctions for the high (a) and low (b) interface-trap densities regions, where ϕ_B is the Schottky barrier height, ϕ_M is the workfunction of the metal, ϕ_G is the work-function of the graphene, ϕ_{bi} is the built-in potential energy, E_F is the Fermi-level, ΔE_F is the Fermi-level shift in the graphene, E_0 is the vacuum level, E_c is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor, E_v is the valence band edge in the semiconductor, E_{CNL} is the charge neutrality level of the semiconductor, E_g is the band gap of the semiconductor, Δ_{MG} is the potential energy change between metal and graphene, Δ_{GS} is the potential energy change between graphene and semiconductor, Q_M is the charge density on the metal surface, Q_D is the interaction dipole charge density, Q_G is the doping charge density of the



graphene, Q_{SS} is the interface-trap charge density, Q_{SC} is the space charge density, d is the Van der Waals gap distance between the graphene and the metal. D_{it} is the interface-trap density on the semiconductor surface, χ_S is the electron affinity of the semiconductor, and δ is the gap distance of the vacuum or the thin insulating layer between the graphene and the semiconductor. [389].



1.7 Dirac Fermion Quantum Optics in Graphene

As is well known, the electron as charge quantum is a fermion following the Fermi-Dirac statistics as well as the Pauli exclusion principle [416-418], and it has finite mass and half-odd-integer spin. On the other hand, the photon as light quantum is a boson following the Bose-Einstein statistics and it has zero-mass and integer spin. Since the photon is an exchange particle of a fundamental electromagnetic force, electron emit or absorb the photon to lose or get the energy. But the photon cannot emit or absorb the electron. Moreover, the photon has the speed of light which can never be attained by the maximum speed of electron. In spite of these intrinsic differences between electron and photon, the analogy between ballistic electron propagation and classical wave optics has drawn a great deal of attention by recalling functionality and versatility of optical elements for manipulation of photon such as focusing, collimation, and interference.

Electron quantum optics is the concept of manipulating of electrons in solid like photons in air and controlling the quantum state of propagating electrons. The quantum control of wave nature of the electron can ultimately be utilized for quantum computing or quantum information processing in electronic devices [419-421]. Nevertheless, such quantum effect is not easily detected and only realized in ultraclean samples at cryogenic temperatures under strong magnetic fields. In this connection, the laterally-conducting and vertically-confined two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) formed at the interface in epitaxial hetero-structures [422-431] ensuring high mobility and ballistic carrier transport has enabled us to develop optimal means for electron quantum optics.

Graphene is considered as another ideal platform to approach electron quantum optics [63-67]. The phenomena traced in classical wave optics are also clearly observed in the graphene such as focusing [73-77], angle-dependent transmission [78-82], collimation [83-87], reflection [98-102], interference [103-107], Aharonov-Bohm oscillation [108-112], localization [113-117], and confinement [118-122].

However, regarding the natural constraints on electron imitating photon, it is quite difficult to steer the electron wave packets with no spatial spreading and manipulate the electronic quantum states. Thus, building a completely controllable electron quantum optics system has still remained as a challenging task.



1.7.1 Klein Tunneling in Graphene

If we imagine a flying ball shot to a wall, we can easily predict the three futures. One is that the ball will hit the wall generously and be reflected from it. Another is that the ball will jump over the wall. The other is that the ball will collide with the wall very harshly, smash it, and go through it. Here, we have to consider the energy related issues and there is no probabilistic causation. As we all recognize, this is the classical picture of the Newtown mechanics [432-434].

In quantum world, an elementary particle has wave-like motion. In other words, the particle approaching close to a potential barrier can be reflected or transmitted according to different probabilities. Even if the height of potential barrier is lower than the particle's total energy, the particle encountering the wall can be bounced off from the potential barrier which acts like an invisible net. The most interesting point is that the incident particle can penetrate through the potential barrier with its height even greater than the total energy of particle and appear on the opposite side eventually. There is no energy loss in such a process. This quantum tunneling effect is widely known as one of the basic exercise in the quantum mechanics [435-437].

Moreover, Oskar Klein found the unprecedented effect [438, 439] called as the Klein paradox that a potential barrier seen by a charged particle is almost transparent and the backscattering is dramatically suppressed without damping if the height of potential barrier is comparable to the mass of charged particle. In the relativistic quantum mechanics [440-442] that must use the Dirac equation [186] not the Schrödinger equation, the quantum tunneling effect is valid with surprisingly one hundred percent regardless of the height and width of potential barrier at vertical incidence, which refers to the Klein tunneling [68-72].



As explained in Chapter 1.3.2, the charge carrier in the graphene also act like the massless Dirac particle. The particle described by the Dirac equation satisfy the following fundamental conservation laws [72]. The conservation of total energy is valid due to the time-invariance of system. The lateral momentum perpendicular to the interface varies according to the potential profile, while the transverse momentum parallel to the interface is generally conserved. The momentum projection k_y along the y direction is also conserved in accordance with translational invariance (Equations 48 and 49). The x directional velocity operator \hat{v}_x is found to be identical to the x directional pseudo-spin operator $\hat{\sigma}_x$ (Equation 50). Interestingly, its time evolution does include the y directional momentum k_y (Equation 51). Therefore, when the electron initially has zero momentum $k_y(t) = k_y(0) = 0$ along the y direction, the velocity v_x and pseudo-spin σ_x along the x direction are always constant. In other words, a small change in the x direction momentum v_x for backscattering requires the inversion of pseudo-spin. Accordingly, the charge carrier can transmit perfectly along the x direction in the absence of backscattering at normal incidence, which is identical to the Klein tunneling [68-72].

$$\dot{k}_{y} = \frac{1}{i} \left[k_{y}, \hat{H}_{total} \right] = 0$$
(48)

$$k_{y}(t) = k_{y}(0) \tag{49}$$

$$\hat{v}_{x} = \frac{1}{i} \left[x, \hat{H}_{iotal} \right] = \hat{\sigma}_{x}$$
(50)

$$\dot{\hat{v}}_{x} = \frac{1}{i} \left[\hat{\sigma}_{x}, \hat{H}_{total} \right] = 2\hat{\sigma}_{z}k_{y}$$
(51)



Figure 30a shows the electron in the graphene is incident from the left (I) on the sharp square potential barrier (II) of width w and transmitted to the right (III), where ϕ is the incident angle,

 φ is the transmitted angle escaping from the potential barrier, $k_I = (k_x, k_y) = \frac{E}{\hbar v_F} (\cos \phi, \sin \phi)$ is

the incident momentum wave-vector, $k_R = (-k_x, k_y) = \frac{E}{\hbar v_F} (-\cos\phi, \sin\phi)$ is the reflected

momentum wave-vector, $k_A = (k_a, k_y) = -\frac{E - U}{\hbar v_F} (\cos \varphi, \sin \varphi)$ is the transmitted momentum

wave-vector inside the potential barrier, $k_B = (-k_a, k_y) = -\frac{E - U}{\hbar v_F} (-\cos \varphi, \sin \varphi)$ is the reflected

momentum wave-vector inside the potential barrier, $k_T = k_I$ is the transmitted momentum wavevector escaping from the potential barrier, E is the total energy of the electron, \hbar is the plank constant. v_F is the Fermi velocity, and U is the potential barrier height. The Snell-Descartes law with transverse momentum conservation implies the following relation (Equation 52). The wavefunctions in the left (I), the potential barrier (II), and the right (III) are given by Ψ_I , (Equations 53-55) Ψ_{II} , and Ψ_{III} respectively [68. 72], where A is the coefficient corresponding to the k_A , B is the coefficient corresponding to the k_B , R is the reflection probability, and T is the transmission probability. By solving the Equations 53-55 at x=0 and x=w, we can obtain the transmission probability T represented by Equation 56. The transmitted momentum wave-vector component k_a along the x direction inside the potential barrier is written as Equation 57. It is found that the transmission probability T is greatly influenced by the incident angle $\phi = \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{k_y}{k_x}\right)$ and has nothing to do with the potential barrier width w. Surprisingly, if the incident momentum uses vector component k_a along the x_a along the x_a along the x_a and $x=w_a$ along the x_a and $x=w_a$ along the x_a along the k_a along the x_a alon

incident momentum wave-vector component k_y along the y direction is zero ($\phi = 0$ at normal incidence), the transmission probability T becomes one, i.e., the Klein tunneling [68-72].



$$E\sin\phi = -(E-U)\sin\varphi \tag{52}$$

$$\Psi_{\rm I} = \left[\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ e^{i\phi} \end{pmatrix} e^{ik_x x} + \sqrt{R} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -e^{-i\phi} \end{pmatrix} e^{-ik_x x} \right] e^{ik_y y}$$
(53)

$$\Psi_{\mathrm{II}} = \left[A \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -e^{i\varphi} \end{pmatrix} e^{ik_a x} + B \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ e^{-i\varphi} \end{pmatrix} e^{-ik_a x} \right] e^{ik_y y}$$
(54)

$$\Psi_{\rm III} = \sqrt{T} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ e^{i\phi} \end{pmatrix} e^{ik_x x} e^{ik_y y}$$
(55)

$$T = \frac{\cos^2 \phi \cos^2 \varphi}{\cos^2 \phi \cos^2 (k_a w) + \sin^2 (k_a w) [1 + \sin \phi \sin \varphi]^2}$$
(56)

$$k_{a} = -\frac{U}{\hbar v_{F}} \sqrt{1 - 2\left(\frac{E}{U}\right) + \left(\frac{E}{U}\right)^{2} \cos^{2} \phi}$$
(57)



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 30. (a) Schematic of the electron in the graphene incident on the sharp square potential barrier of height U and width w, where ϕ is the incident angle, φ is the transmitted angle escaping from the potential barrier, k_I is the incident momentum wave-vector, k_R is the reflected momentum wave-vector, k_A is the transmitted momentum wave-vector inside the potential barrier, k_B is the reflected momentum wave-vector inside the potential barrier, and k_T is the transmitted momentum wave-vector escaping from the potential barrier. (b) The corresponding band structure of graphene [68-72], where E_F is the Fermi-level.



1.7.2 Superlattice Pattern in Graphene

Many researchers have adopted the superlattice on the graphene by using the Kronnig-Penny type periodic structure (Figure 31a) [88-97], nanoribbon [443-446], nanomesh [447-450], nanodot (Figure 31b) [451-454], and ripples [455-458]. Such nanoscale patterns can be achieved by not only the ebeam lithography on the graphene directly but also the fluorination [459], the metal gate electrode [460], and the substrate pre-engineering [461]. The superlattice patterned on the graphene channel can itself be interpreted as an interconnected network for current flow. In other words, the electron dynamics in the well-designed graphene superlattice can pave the way for the advanced electron quantum optics system, containing the Veselago lens [73-82], supercollimator [68-72, 83-87], Andreev-Klein reflector [98-102], and Aharonov-Bohm type or Fabry-Pérot type interferometer [103-122]. In electronic solid-state device, it is possible to avoid splitting of electron flow without any external magnetic fields and realize the localized or confined electron wave packets. Based on that, it is observable the almost perfect ballistic propagation of the electron along the selected direction [68-72, 73-102] and the coherent or damped oscillations of the electron wave packets [103-122].



Figure 31. (a,b) Graphene superlattice patterned with the Kronnig-Penny type periodic structure (a) and nanodot (b).



2. Strong Fermi-Level Pinning Effect at Metal/Graphene/Si Junction

As explained in Chapter 1.4, the Schottky barrier formation (Chapter 1.4.1) and charge carrier transport (Chapter 1.4.4) in the metal/semiconductor junction has a crucial link with the physical and chemical phenomena at the interface [15, 340-343]. The major complexity that make it difficult to identify the underlying mechanisms of the barrier formation and carrier transport originate in defect [249-254], oxidation [255-262], material intermixing [284-298]. Many metal and semiconductor atoms take participate in the diffusion at the interface with very thin or no native oxide layer. In case of metal/Si junction, the intermixing of metal and Si atoms driven by the inter-diffusion can modulate the density and distribution of trap states on the Si surface or bring about the silicide formation [284, 285, 462-464]. Even if the Si substrate is processed with RCA cleaning procedures and hydrogen passivation [299-304], the very thin native oxide region exists. In other words, regardless of the surface treatment, the material intermixing occurs inevitably in very small areas, inducing the effective energy barrier height in the small patches much lower than that in the prevailing surrounding (Chapter 1.4.5). The isolated patches act like the leaky current paths in the spatially inhomogeneous Schottky contact [359-377]. Here, we employ the graphene interlayer and insert it at the mteal/n-Si(001) interface in order to protect the interface from the material intermixing and establish the ideal junction [177].



2.1 Sample Fabrication

As shown in Figure 32, the metal/Si and metal/graphene/Si junctions sharing the same substrate can be prepared by the partial transfer of the graphene layer onto Si surface previously processed with the RCA cleaning and the hydrogen passivation [177, 299-304, 390-406]. The chemical vapor deposition (CVD) monolayer graphene grown on the Cu foil is spin-coated on the top side with a PMMA film at 5000 rpm for 60 seconds. The graphene on the bottom side should be removed by the reactive ion etching (RIE) with 10 W power for 20 seconds under 10 mTorr pressure maintained by 50 sccm O₂ flow. the Cu foil is etched with an aqueous solution of ammonium persulfate $(NH_4)_2S_2O_2$ for 48 hours. After etching of the Cu foil, the graphene should be rinsed in deionized water at least five times. The PMMA/graphene stack is then transferred partially on the half of the Si surface leaving the other half uncovered. The PMMA/graphene/Si sample should be dried in clean environment and baked for 15 minutes at 150 °C with blowing of N₂ gas on the sample surface. The PMMA film should be removed [390-406] with acetone more than 24 hours and rinsed with isopropyl alcohol (IPA). Here, the forming gas (H₂, N₂, and Ar) annealing method can be used to minimize the chemical residues. Next, the graphene/Si sample should be also rinsed with isopropanol and heated for 15 minutes at 200 °C again. The blowing of N_2 gas on the sample surface should be followed. The heating and blowing procedures are necessary for driving off all molecular residues including water at the graphene/Si interface and isopropanol on the graphene surface. The Raman spectrum [465-467] is measured on the graphene (Figure 33a) to analyze the intensity of the G peak (~1580 cm⁻¹) and the 2D peak (~2700 cm⁻¹), confirming the quality of the graphene layer on our Si substrate. Now, the metal electrodes are deposited through a circular-shaped shadow mask by using the e-beam evaporation. The grapheneuncovered area deposited by the metal electrode becomes the metal/Si junctions. After removing the metal-uncovered graphene by the RIE with 10 W power for 40 seconds under 10 mTorr pressure maintained by 50 sccm O_2 flow to isolate the region of metal-covered graphene, the region become the metal/graphene/Si junctions. The cross-sectional schematic view of the metal/Si and metal/graphene/Si junctions with the zoom-ins illustrating the interfaces is shown in the Figure 33b [177].



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 32. Sample fabrication processes [177, 299-304, 390-406].



Figure 33. (a) Raman spectrum measured on the graphene [177, 465-467] (b) Cross-sectional schematic view of the metal/Si and metal/ graphene/Si junctions [177]. The two zoom-ins illustrates the graphene interlayer blocks the atomic intermixing at the interfaces. The IPE measurement configuration is also included [32-34, 380-387].



2.2 Current-Voltage Measurement

Figure 34 shows the current-voltage (I-V) curves measured on the metal/Si and metal/graphene/Si junctions [15, 177, 340-358]. Interestingly, the reverse-biased leakage current of metal/graphene/Si junction is observed to be much smaller than that of metal/Si junction (Figure 34). This is easily understandable because the I–V characteristics are dominated by low barrier patches [359-377] induced by the local material intermixing (Chapter 1.4.5) and these low barrier patches are blocked by the graphene diffusion barrier [176, 177, 407-412] (Chapter 1.6.2).

The nickel silicide having low electrical resistivity is known to be formed with the diffusion of Ni atoms to the Si substrate [284, 285, 462-464]. The extracted Schottky barrier height of Ni/graphene/Si junction is found to be larger than that of Ni/Si junction (Figure 34a), indicating that the graphene interlayer blocks the nickel-silicon reaction, makes a metal/Si junction intact, and forms a uniform Schottky barrier height.

In case of Pt/Si and Pt/graphene/Si junctions, the I–V extracted Schottky barrier heights are found to be almost identical. This can be understood from the fact that the material intermixing is not so active at the Pt/Si interface relative to the Ni/Si and Ti/Si interfaces [284-298]. This implies that the associated low barrier [359-377] patches would have really small areal fraction in the Pt/Si junction, which is even unnoticeable in the forward-biased current [359-377]. The energy band profile of the small low-barrier patches is known to be pinched-off strongly by the high-barrier surrounding [187-190, 378, 379], the energy barrier height seen by the electron become almost comparable to the high-barrier surrounding for the forward bias. For the pinched-off energy band profile of a very small-size low barrier patch, the influence of the low-barrier patches on the charge carrier transport cannot be revealed by the Schottky barrier height extracted from the I–V (Figure 34b). On the other hand, these pinch-off energy band profile of the small low-barrier patches is also known to be reduced for the reverse bias [187-190, 378, 379], and the small low-barrier patches will provide the preferred paths for current flow under the reverse bias (Chapter 1.4.5). Thus, the reverse-biased leakage current of Pt/Si junction is observed to be much larger than that of Pt/graphene/Si junction (Figure 34b).

It is especially worthy of notice that the Ti/graphene/Si junction is less leaky (about 1000 times smaller) than the Ti/Si junction (Figure 34c), supporting that the graphene interlayer greatly reduces the material intermixing at the interface. The metal-silicon reaction and material intermixing at the Ti/Si interface is known to be mcuh active than Ni/Si and Pt/Si interfaces [284, 285, 462-464]. Hence, the atomically mixed local areas of Ti/ Si are much leakier compared to that of Ni/ Si and Pt/ Si. Even with the graphene interlayer, there will be the small areas where the graphene does not completely cover or the carbon atoms are missing. Accordingly, the I–V extracted Schottky barrier height in Figure 34c is obtained to be smaller than that in Figure 34a and Figure 34b.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 34. Current-voltage (I-V) curves on the metal/Si and metal/graphene/Si junctions for Ni, Pt and Ti electrodes [15, 177, 340-358].



2.3 Internal Photoemission Measurement

Figure 35 shows the internal photoemission (IPE) quantum yield (Chapter 1.5) [32-34, 380-387] for the metal/Si and metal/graphene/Si junctions [177]. For the Ni/Si junction without the graphene interlayer, the two thresholds are observed (Figure 35a). The additional quantum yield rise in the IPE measurements at the Ni/Si interface could be a result of the barrier lowering due to the material intermixing occurred at the weak spots. Thus, the first threshold represents the low barrier patches [359-377] isolated in the high barrier surrounding and the second threshold does the high barrier region. This two threshold behavior is not identified in the conventional I-V curve (Figure 34a) since the most of junction current flows through the small areas with their local Schottky barrier height and the I-V extracted Schottky barrier height is mainly determined by these low barrier patches [359-377]. On the other hand, our IPE results reveal the two threshold behavior of the Ni/Si junction very clearly, providing experimental evidence for the existence of low barrier patches [359-377] formed by material intermixing at the Ni/Si interface mentioned so far. On the other hand, with the graphene interlayer, one threshold is observed (Figure 35a). Compared to the Ni/ Si junction, this single threshold behavior of Ni/graphene/Si junction indicates the formation of homogeneous Schottky contact which could be obtained with the graphene interlayer owing to the its role of diffusion barrier [176, 177, 407-412]. This is consistent with the smaller I–V extracted Schottky barrier height of Ni/Si junction with and without the graphene interlayer (Figure 34a).

For the both Pt/Si and Pt/graphene/Si junction (Figure 35b), the single threshold is observed. Similar to the I-V measurement (Figure 34b), the corresponding Schottky barrier heights are obtained to be almost identical, which can be understood by the inactive material intermixing at the Pt/Si interface. The area of low barrier patches [359-377] of the Pt/Si junction is expected to be so small that the photocurrent from the low barrier patches cannot be distinguishable in IPE measurements.

As confirmed in Figure 34c, the Ti/Si junction is observed to be very leaky so that the photocurrent is overwhelmed by the leakage current. Thus, the corresponding IPE quantum yield was not extracted at all. However, with the graphene interlayer, the IPE yield spectra is well specified and the single threshold is observed for the Ti/graphene/Si junction (Figure 35c).



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 35. IPE yield as a function of photon energy on the metal/Si and metal/graphene/Si junctions for Ni, Pt and Ti electrodes [32-34, 177, 380-387]. The average Schottky barrier heights including the image force lowering are shown in the tables.



2.4 Transmission Electron Microscopy Image

Figure 36 shows the high-resolution transmission electron microscopy (HRTEM) images of Ni/Si and Ni/graphene/Si junctions. It is found that the thickness of the native oxide layer at the Ni/Si interface varies actually depending on location by examining the structural change across the interface for Figure 36a and Figure 36b taken at two different sites in the same Ni/Si junction. The native oxide layer in Figure 36b is seen to be thinner than that in Figure 36a. In particular, the SiO₂ layer of the red-circled area in Figure 36b looks particularly thin, confirming the non-uniform native oxide layer. The comprehensive analysis of these two figures leads to the following conclusion that the thickness of SiO₂ layer is spatially inhomogeneous and some areas might have pinholes with no SiO₂ layer at all. The material intermixing can occur more easily on the areas with thin SiO₂ layers or pinholes, resulting in formation of local Schottky barrier height lower than the surrounding areas with thicker SiO₂ layers. Between the Ni electrode and Si substrate, the graphene interlayer is seen clearly in Figure 36c. The inserted graphene layer carries out the role of diffusion barrier to form the homogeneous Schottky contact [176, 177, 407-412].





Figure 36. (a,b) Transmission electron microscopy image at two different locations in the same Ni/Si junction. (c) Transmission electron microscopy image of Ni/graphene/Si junction [177].



2.5 Parallel Conduction Model Calculation

As discussed in Chapters 2.3 and 2.4, the two-threshold behavior in the IPE measurement (Figure 35a) does not appear in the I-V measurement (Figure 34a). The I-V characteristics of the inhomogeneous Schottky contact can be influenced by the small portion of low-barrier patches [187-190, 378, 379]. Thusm the IPE measurements [32-34, 380-387] are more suitable for extracting the Schottky barrier height on the prevailing region.

From the parallel conduction model [187-190, 378, 379] the areal fraction of the low barrier patches [359-377] can be estimated (Chapter 1.4.5). For the several different areal fractions of the low barrier patches, Figure 37a shows the calculated I-V curves of the Ni/Si junction possessing the low barrier patches [359-377] surrounded by the prevailing high barrier region. The low Schottky barrier height of the low barrier patches [359-377] is assumed to be the Schottky barrier height extracted from the first IPE threshold (Figure 35a) and the high Schottky barrier height of the prevailing high barrier region is assumed to be the Schottky barrier height calculated from the second IPE threshold (Figure 35a). In order to match the effective Schottky barrier height calculated from the parallel conduction model with the Schottky barrier height extracted from the I-V curve (Figure 34a), the areal fraction of low barrier patches in the Ni/Si junction is estimated to be about 7.6 % (Figure 37b).





Figure 37. (a) The I-V curves of the Ni/Si junction calculated from the parallel conduction model [177, 187-190, 378, 379] for the several different areal fractions of the low barrier patches [359-377]. (b) The effective Schottky barrier height estimated from the parallel conduction model [177, 187-190, 378, 379] as a function of the areal fraction of low barrier patches.



2.6 Strong Fermi-Level Pinning Effect

As shown in the Figure 38, the Schottky barrier heights of the metal/graphene/Si junctions which are determined from the IPE measurement (Chapter 2.3) obviously show the very weak dependence on the metal work-functions. Almost independence of the Schottky barrier height for the metal work-function implies the strong Fermi-level pinning effect at the interface (Chapter 1.4.2), approaching the Bardeen limit [207-209, 225-235, 249-298]. The metal Fermi-level seems to be almost completely pinned at the charge neutrality level close to the valence band edge of Si. The charge neutrality level is found to be positioned around 0.145 eV above the valence band edge. The atomically impermeable property of the graphene interlayer suppresses the material intermixing, create an environment for studying the ballistic carrier transport across the interface, and provides an efficient platform to explore the Fermi-level pinning effect.



Figure 38. Schottky barrier height of the metal/graphene/Si junction extracted from the IPE measurements as a function of metal work-function [177, 191-194, 245].



2.7 Fermi-Level Pinning Effect Depending on the Junction Area

Following the trend of continuous downscaling of electronic devices, the junction area has become smaller than hundreds nm. The downscaling of electrical contacts has a huge impact on the contact resistance and is directly related the performance degradation. In particular, with respect to the nanoscale Schottky contact, the I-V characteristics are known to be almost unaffected by the interface Fermi-level pinning effect and the effective Schottky barrier height is supposed to be greatly reduced [159-162, 468-472]. Since the influence of the electric dipole layer at the interface associated with the surface states on the semiconductor substrate is known to be drastically limited around the junction edge, the corresponding Fermi-level pinning effect can be seemingly deactivated by this edge effect [177]. The change of electrostatic potential across the electric dipole layer [15, 189, 190, 207-224] is very essential in the interface Fermi-level pinning effect (Chapter 1.4.2).

If the metal electrode is about μ m in size, the area of Schottky junction is so large that the influence of interface electric dipole layer can reach deep into the semiconductor substrate and the energy band profile in the depletion region on the semiconductor side is affected entirely by the interface Fermilevel pinning (Figure 39a and Figure 39c). However, the nanoscale Schottky junction will behave as being unpinned by the influence of the junction edge even if the Fermi-level pinning effect is actually strong at the interface. Moreover, if the occupying area of electric dipole layer at the interface is too small, the influence of the interface electric dipole layer can be limited throughout the junction (Figure 39b and Figure 39d).





Figure 39. (a-d) Band alignment at the very near the metal/Si interface for large (a,c) and small (b,d) junction areas showing the change of electrostatic potential across interface electric dipole layer [15, 177, 189, 190, 207-224]. The influence of the interface electric dipole layer can be limited very near the interface when the area of electric dipole layer is small (b,d).



2.8 Conclusion

It is systematically demonstrated that the graphene interlayer inserted at the metal/n-Si(001) interface takes the role of a diffusion barrier (Chapter 1.6.2) [176, 177, 407-412], prevents the atomic inter-diffusion substantially ensuring the intact interface, and forms an atomically abrupt Schottky contact. This efficient method adopting the graphene interlayer as a diffusion barrier is particularly useful for protecting the junction from unwanted electrical changes and investigating the Fermi-level pinning effect. The minimized reaction is confirmed with the current–voltage measurements. Most of all, the internal photoemission measurements obviously show the strong Fermi level pinning effect at the intact metal/ Si interface ensured by the graphene interlayer blocking the atomic intermixing [177].



Figure 40. Summary of Chapter 2 [177].



3. Negative Fermi-Level Pinning Effect at Metal/Graphene/GaAs Junction

The previous research in Chapter 2 suggest that the graphene interlayer inserted at the metal/Si junction can be used to form an intact metal/semiconductor junction and investigate the Fermi-level pinning effect at the interface [177]. Interestingly, the graphene interlayer at the metal/GaAs junction turns out to function differently [389]. As discussed in Chapter 1.4.2, the GaAs-like III-V compound semiconductor is known to have the reconstructed surface and contain the low density of surface states [15, 225-235, 249-298, 326-339]. However, if the structure is modified by some extrinsic factors, the surface comes to have the high density of surface states. In addition, during metal deposition, the intermixing of metal, Ga, and As atoms on the low surface-state regions can induce the interface-trap states, resulting in the high trap states similarly to the regions with regular native oxide layer. Therefore, as is well known [326-339], the entire region of the metal/GaAs junction can be governed by the strong Fermi-level pinning effect. On the other hand, if the graphene interlayer is inserted at the metal/GaAs interface and prevents the atomic intermixing [176, 177, 407-412], the regions can preserve the low interface-trap states and induce the weak Fermi-level pinning effect [15, 225-235, 249-298, 326-339]. Furthermore, the Schottky barrier height of the metal/graphene/GaAs junction is found to decrease with the metal work-function increasing. The pinning factor generally ranges between 0 (Bardeen limit) [207-209] and 1 (Schottky-Mott limit) [196-197] depending on the pinning strength [225-235, 249-298] Surprisingly, the negative value of pinning factor has been extracted [389].


3.1 Sample Fabrication

The metal/GaAs junctions with and withgout the graphene interlayer can be fabricated by following the procedures [389]. The native oxide on the GaAs is etched in a 1:1 diluted solution of ammonia hydroxide in deionized water for 1 minutes followed by DI water rinsing [473]. In order to make ohmic contacts to the GaAs [474, 475], gold-based metals (Ti/Pt/Au, 5/20/500 nm) are deposited near the edge of GaAs substrate using the e-beam evaporation and annealed at 400 °C for 300 seconds using rapid thermal annealing (RTA). The sample is also treated in an ammonia hydroxide etching solution for 3 min followed by DI water rinsing again right before the graphene transfer [473]. As described in Figure 41, the CVD grown graphene monolayer purchased from the Graphene Supermarket is transferred on the GaAs surface. The semi-dry transfer method using thermal release tapes has been used [390-406]. The other details are explained in Chapter 2.1. After the graphene transfer, the quality of graphene on GaAs substrate is examined with the Raman spectrum measurements (Figure 42) [389, 465-467]. The circular-shaped metal electrodes of average diameter ~500 μ m are then deposited by using the e-beam evaporation. The metal/GaAs junction is formed on the graphene-uncovered area. The graphene uncovered by metal electrodes is removed with the RIE to isolate each metal/graphene/GaAs junction.





Figure 41. Sample fabrication processes [177, 299-304, 389-406].





Figure 42. (a-c) Raman spectra measured on the bare GaAs substrate (a), graphene on GaAs substrate (b), and graphene with the GaAs background signal subtracted (c) [389, 465-467].



3.2 Current-Voltage Measurement

The Al/graphene/GaAs (Figure 43a) and Ti/graphene/GaAs (Figure 43b) junctions reveals the rectifying characteristics. Their reverse-biased currents are reduced than the Al/GaAs and Ti/GaAs junctions. On the other hand, the reverse-biased currents of Ni/graphene/GaAs and Pt/graphene/GaAs junctions are strikingly increased than those of Ni/GaAs and Pt/GaAs junctions (Figure 43c and Figure 43d). Moreover, it seems that the rectifying behaviors have almost disappeared. Considering the difference in work-function of metal electrodes, this result is counter-intuitive. However, with the graphene interlayer, it is found that the Schottky barrier heights of Al/graphene/GaAs junctions are low. Considering the strong Fermi-level pinning effect on the prevailing GaAs surface [15, 225-235, 249-298, 326-339], it is normally expected that the I-V-extracted Schottky barrier heights of the metal/graphene/GaAs junction. In other words, the conjecture that the metal-dependent variation in the I-V characteristics of the metal/graphene/GaAs junction originates from the small patches of low interface-trap density can be claimed [389].



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 43. (a-d) I-V characteristics of metal/GaAs junctions with and without the graphene interlayer [389].



3.3 Internal Photoemission Measurement

As explained in Chapter 1.5, the IPE signals are provided by all regions in the junction. However, if the most region of junction is uniform and the region of isolated low barrier patches exists with only a small areal fraction, the IPE spectrum will be dominated by the prevailing region. In other words, the contribution from the low barrier patches will be invisible

The two thresholds of GaAs [476] are clearly observed for the conduction band minima (Γ and L valleys). Here, the first threshold reflects the electron transmission into the Γ valley and represents the commonly accepted Schottky barrier height of the metal/GaAs junction. The the second threshold corresponds to the additional transmission into the L valley. The gap between the first and second thresholds is found to be about 0.29 eV [476]. Since the first and second thresholds are extracted to be considerably identical for all four metal electrodes, it can be claimed that the Fermi-level pinning effect is strong uniformly throughout the entire metal/GaAs junction.

The two common thresholds in the IPE spectra of the metal/graphene/GaAs junctions are observed to be quite similar to those for the metal/GaAs junctions for Al, Ti, and Ni electrodes. On the other hand, for the Pt/graphene/GaAs junction, the excessive leakage current, which is already identified in the I–V characteristics (Figure 43d), overwhelmed the measured photocurrent. The corresponding IPE yield could not be determined (Figure 44d). The similarity in the IPE thresholds implies that the Fermi-level pinning effect at the metal/graphene/GaAs interface is also strong in the major region of junction bearing high interface-trap density.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 44. (a-d) IPE quantum yield spectra on the metal/GaAs junctions with and without the graphene interlayer for Al (a), Ti (b), Ni (c), and Pt (d) electrodes [389].



3.4 Direct Optical Excitation from Localized Interface States

The IPE signals will be mainly from the prevailing regions with high interface-trap density. As discussed in Chapter 3.3, the transmission into the Γ or L valleys corresponds to the first and second thresholds. However, the observation of transmission into the X valley of GaAs is interrupted by the humps of the IPE yield around 1.33 eV, which is attributed to the direct optical excitation from the localized interface states to the Γ or L valleys [388] (Chapter 1.5.1 and Figure 19b). The localized interface states expected to be positioned around the charge neutrality level and filled with electrons are responsible for the strong Fermi-level pinning at metal/GaAs junction. As shown in Figure 45, the IPE yield spectra under varying applied reverse bias characterizes how the localized interface states contribute to the IPE yield. Around the photon energy 1.33 eV, the IPE yield humps are found for all metal electrodes even if there is to some extent of metal dependence in their relative strengths. It is readily noticeable that the hump become more pronounced with the applied bias increasing. This implies that more and more electrons excited from the localized interface states can escape and transmit into the conduction band minima of GaAs with the aid of the electric field in the depletion region due to the applied bias.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 45: IPE quantum yield on the metal/GaAs junctions under applied reverse bias varying from 0.001 to 5 V [389]. The magnified views of the curves around 1.33 eV are shown in (b), (d), (f), and (h).



3.5 Transmission Electron Microscopy Image

As shown in Figure 46d, Figure 46e, and Figure 46f, the graphene interlayers inserted at the Pt/GaAs interface is seen clearly. It is also confirmed with the high-resolution transmission electron microscopy images taken on the several different sites in the Pt/GaAs (Figure 46b and Figure 46c) and Pt/graphene/GaAs (Figure 46e and Figure 46f) junctions that the thickness of native oxide layer is spatially inhomogeneous. The yellow circles in Figure 46c and Figure 46f indicate that the area of GaAs surface occupied with very thin or no native oxide layer is small. The thickness of oxide layer is estimated to be about 2.82 nm for the Pt/GaAs junction and about 2.27 nm for the Pt/graphene/GaAs junction [477]. Because the oxide layer on the graphene-covered area is passivated while the oxide layer on the graphene-uncovered area is exposed to the air before the metal electrode deposition, compared to that for Pt/graphene/GaAs junction, it is likely to have slightly thicker oxide layer for Pt/GaAs junction on the same GaAs substrate. In addition, the native GaAs oxide is reported to have very small band gap [478], the charge carrier transport across metal/GaAs junction depends significantly on whether the graphene interlayer is inserted at the interface or not, rather than the small difference in the thickness of GaAs oxide layer.



Figure 46: (a-f) Transmission electron microscopy images of Pt/GaAs (a-c) and Pt/graphene/GaAs (d-f) junctions [389]. (a,d) Bright-field images (b,c,e,f) High-resolution images. The yellow circles represent the small-size regions with very thin native oxide layer.



3.6 Negative Fermi-Level Pinning Effect

As shown in in Figure 47, the average Schottky barrier heights extracted from the measured I-V curve (Figure 43) to the thermionic emission model [15, 340-358] or the first threshold in the IPE spectra (Figure 44) with the image force lowering [32-34, 380-387] are plotted as a function of the metal work-functions. As mentioned in Chapter 3.2, for the metal/graphene/GaAs junction, the Schottky barrier height is found to be decrease as the metal work-function increases. The pinning factors are obtained to be - 0.365. In general, the pinning factor is known to range from 0 to 1. However, the pinning factor of our metal/graphene/GaAs reflects the negative value. On the other hand, in the case of IPE measurements, the Schottky barrier heights are extracted to be very similar to each other. The corresponding pinning factors approach to the 0, implying the strong Fermi-level pinning effect.



Figure 47. (a,b) I-V-extracted (a) and IPE-extracted (b) Schottky barrier heights of metal/GaAs junctions with and without the graphene interlayer as a function of metal work-function [389].



It is known that the native oxide layer on the GaAs surface consists of Ga₂O₃, As₂O₃, and GaAsO₃, and its structure is considerably stable [479, 480]. In consideration of the growth mechanism of native oxide, the low interface-trap density regions are expected to be very small and randomly distributed on the surface.

Based on the result from I-V and IPE measurements, it can be claimed as shown in Figure 48a and Figure 48b that the entire region of GaAs surface for the metal/GaAs junction will have high interface-trap density [15, 225-235, 249-298, 326-339, 389, 481] due to oxidation (Figure 48a) or material intermixing (Figure 48b). In other words, the Fermi-level pinning effect will seem to be strong throughout the entire region and the current will be uniformly distributed (Figure 48e).

For the metal/graphene/GaAs junctions, as confirmed in the IPE measurement (Chapter 3.3), the prevailing region with regular native oxides will have a large density of interface-trap states (Figure 48c) and the Fermi-level pinning effect on this region will be strong similarly to the metal/GaAs junction case. Above all, the most important region is the small patches with no native oxide layer, where the low interface-trap density is maintained thanks to the protection of the graphene interlayer (Figure 48d). The observed negative Fermi-level pinning effect in the I-V measurements is expected to occur here, the small patches with no native oxide layer. According to the negative Fermi-level pinning effect, in case of the metal/graphene/GaAs junction, the low work-function metal electrodes will lead to form relatively higher Schottky barrier heights on the small patches with no native oxide layer than that on the surrounding regions. Similarly, the Schottky barrier heights on the surrounding regions with regular native oxides will have the comparably high Schottky barrier heights with the low work-function metal electrodes. Thus, the junction current will flow comparably in both the small patches and the prevailing regions (Figure 48f). On the other hand, with the high work-function metal electrodes, the small patches with no native oxide layer will form the low Schottky barrier heights just like the low barrier patches [359-377] and bear the leaky current paths [187-190, 378, 379]. Therefore, the junction current mostly flows through the small patches with no native oxide layer compared to the prevailing regions (Figure 48g).





Figure 48. (a-d) Atomic arrangements at the metal/GaAs and metal/graphene/GaAs interfaces. (e-g) Schematics of metal/GaAs junctions with and without the graphene interlayer [389].



3.7 Energy Band Profile across Interface

The energy band profiles across the metal/graphene/GaAs junction for high and low interface-trap density regions is obtained [389] by performing the electrostatic modeling with the FlexPDE [482-484]. In order to explain the negative Fermi-level pinning effect, the variable of the first importance is the interaction dipole charge density Q_D [163-164], which is discussed in Chapter 1.6.1 and Chapter 1.6.3. In this modeling, as shown in Figure 49, the interaction dipole charge density Q_D indicates the charges on the graphene side, that is to say, the positive sign of Q_D signifies the positive charges on the graphene and negative charges on the metal, vice versa. It is necessary to verify whether the observed negative Fermi-level pinning effect can occur without the interaction dipole layer so that the Schottky barrier height ϕ_B and pinning strength S for various interfacetrap densities D_{it} on the GaAs surface are calculated by assuming $Q_D = 0$. As shown in Figure 50a, if the interaction dipole charge density is not considered $Q_D = 0$, the pinning strength is always calculated to be positive in the typical range for III-V compound semiconductors [389, 485]. If the interaction dipole charge density Q_D is estimated arbitrarily to match with the I-V-extracted ϕ_B for $D_{it} \ge 10^{13} \text{ eV}^{-1} \text{cm}^{-2}$, as shown in Figure 50b, the Q_D is found to increase dramatically and have the physically impossible values [225-235, 249-298, 326-339, 389, 481]. As compared with the IPE measurements (Figure 44), this confirms that the negative Fermi-level pinning effect should occur on the low interface-trap density ($D_{it} \leq 10^{13} \text{ eV}^{-1} \text{cm}^{-2}$) regions, which is also consistent with our conjecture discussed in Chapter 3.6. Since it is expected that the interaction dipole layer uniformly formed throughout the entire contact, each metal should be assumed to have a certain constant Q_D in the metal/graphene/GaAs junction regardless of the locally varying interface-trap density D_{it} on the GaAs surface. Here, the interaction dipole charge densities Q_D are obtained for the low interface-trap density $D_{it} = 5 \times 10^{12} \text{ eV}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ (fitting the I-V measured ϕ_B) and the high interfacetrap density $D_{it} = 5 \times 10^{14} \text{ eV}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ (assumed to be the high interface-trap density on the prevailing region). The calculated relevant potentials and charges are listed in Figure 50c. In order to visualize these parameters, the band profiles across the Al/graphene/GaAs and Pt/graphene/GaAs interfaces are shown in Figure 51, following the form discussed in Chapter 1.6.3 and Figure 29.



The following is a detailed description of the finite element electrostatic modeling [389]. The electrostatic potential drop U(x) from the vacuum level is given by the solving the Poisson's equation $\nabla^2 U(x) = -\frac{\rho(x)}{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r}$, where x is real coordinate perpendicular to the metal/graphene/GaAs

junction, $\rho(x)$ is the net charge density, \mathcal{E}_0 is the permittivity of vacuum, and \mathcal{E}_r is the dielectric constant for the GaAs substrate [486]. As shown in Figure 49, it is defined that x is zero at the metal surface, the vacuum gap between metal surface and graphene layer in 0 < x < d, the graphene layer at x = d, the vacuum gap between the graphene layer and the GaAs substrate in d < x < 2d, and the GaAs substrate in 2d < x < X. According to the Gauss' law, the net charge density $\rho(x)$ across the metal/graphene/GaAs junction would be zero. The charge density is zero ($\rho(x) = 0$) in the vacuum gaps at metal/graphene (0 < x < d) or graphene/GaAs (d < x < 2d) contact (Figure 49). The charge density $\rho(x)$ can be written as $\rho(x) = -q[N_D - n(x)]$ in the GaAs substrate, where q is the electronic charge, $N_D = 5 \times 10^{16}$ cm⁻³ is the doping concentration of the n-GaAs substrate,

and $n(x) = N_C \exp\left(-\frac{E_C(x) - E_F(x)}{k_B T}\right)$ is the concentration of free electron in the GaAs substrate, $N_C = 4.7 \times 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ is the effective density of states in the conduction band of the GaAs,

 $E_C(x) = \phi_M - \chi_S - qU(x)$ is the conduction band edge of the GaAs substrate, EF is the Fermi-level, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature, k_BT is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV), ϕ_M is the metal work-function, and $\chi_S = 4.07$ eV is the electron affinity of the GaAs [15, 486]. Now, we can think of the thin charge sheets Q_M , Q_G , and Q_{SS} are located at x=0, x=d, and x=2d [15, 163, 164, 189, 190, 207-224, 389, 487], where Q_M is the surface free charge density on the metal surface, $Q_G = \frac{q\Delta E_F |\Delta E_F|}{\pi \hbar^2 v_-^2}$ is the doping charge density

of graphene, $Q_{ss} = -qD_{it}(E_g - E_{CNL} - \phi_B)$ is the interface-trap charge density on the GaAs surface, $\Delta E_F = \phi_M - \phi_G - qU(d)$ is the Fermi-level shift in the graphene, \hbar is the reduced Planck constant, $v_F = 10^6$ m/s is the Fermi velocity of graphene, $\phi_G = 1.5$ eV is the graphene work-function, D_{it} is the interface-trap density on the GaAs surface, $E_g = 1.424$ eV is the band gap of the GaAs, E_{CNL} is the charge neutrality level of the GaAs, and $\phi_B = \phi_M - \chi_S - qU(2d)$ is the Schottky barrier



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

height of the metal/graphene/GaAs junction [15, 163, 164, 189, 190, 207-224, 389, 487]. Here, the sign of ΔE_F is determined by the charge carrier type of the graphene ($\Delta E_F > 0$ for p-type graphene and $\Delta E_F < 0$ for n-type graphene. Two opposite sign of interaction dipole charges Q_D are assumed to be located at x=0 and x=d. The boundary conditions are assigned as U(0)=0,

$$U(2d+X) = \phi_M - \chi_S - k_B T \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_D}\right), \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{d-\varepsilon}^{d+\varepsilon} \rho(x) dx = Q_G + Q_D, \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{2d-\varepsilon}^{2d+\varepsilon} \rho(x) dx = Q_{SS}.$$
 The

voltage drop $\Delta_{MG} = \frac{Q_G - Q_D}{C}$ across the metal/graphene interface and the voltage drop $\Delta_{GS} = -\frac{Q_{SS} + Q_{SC}}{C}$ across the graphene/GaAs interface can be also obtained from the modeling [15, 163, 164, 189, 190, 207-224, 389, 487], where $C = \frac{\mathcal{E}_0}{d}$ is the capacitance of vacuum gap per unit area, $Q_{SC} = \sqrt{2\mathcal{E}_0\mathcal{E}_r N_D(\phi_{bi} - k_BT)}$ is the space charge density in GaAs, and $\phi_{bi} = \phi_B - k_BT \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_D}\right)$ is the built-in potential energy.





Figure 49. Charge distribution across the metal/graphene/GaAs junction [389], where Q_M is the metal surface charge density, Q_D is the interaction dipole charge, Q_G is the doping charge density of the graphene, Q_{SS} is the interface-trap charge density, Q_{SC} is the space charge density in the depletion region, d is the thickness of the vacuum gap, and X is the thickness of the GaAs substrate.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

(a)	D_{it} (eV ⁻¹ ·cm ⁻²)		0	1×10 ¹²	² 5×10 ¹²	1×10 ¹³	5×10 ¹³	1×10 ¹⁴	5×10 ¹⁴	1×10 ¹⁵
```		AI	0.187	0.229	0.356	0.459	0.704	0.766	0.826	0.834
	Calculated $\phi_{\scriptscriptstyle B}$ (eV)	Ti	0.283	0.322	0.442	0.535	0.738	0.784	0.829	0.836
	(assuming $Q_p = 0$ )	Ni	0.681	0.691	0.722	0.746	0.805	0.821	0.937	0.840
	_	Pt	0.808	0.810	0.816	0.821	0.834	0.838	0.841	0.842
	S		0.412	0.384	0.301	0.234	0.082	0.045	0.010	0.005
(b) [	$D_{it}$ (eV ⁻¹ ·cm ⁻² )		0	1×10 ¹²	5×10 ¹²	1×10 ¹³	5×10 ¹³	1×10 ¹⁴	5×10 ¹⁴	1×10 ¹⁵
, ,	Estimated Q _D	Al	-5.87	-5.92	-6.13	-6.39	-8.62	-11.84	-54.48	-149.98
	(10 ⁻⁶ C·cm ⁻² )	Ti	-5.23	-5.29	-5.52	-5.81	-8.35	-12.05	-62.69	-178.49
	(to fit with the I-V	Ni	1.60	1.74	2.27	3.09	18.61	60.31	1286.07	5048.71
	measured $\phi_{\scriptscriptstyle B}$ )	Pt	3.35	3.51	4.29	5.58	28.57	89.08	1843.13	7210.81
(c)	Metal		AI		Ti		Ni		Pt	
(0)	$\phi_M$ (eV)	4.08		8	4.33		5.15		5.65	
	$Q_{D}$ (10 ⁻⁶ C·cm ⁻² )		-6.13		-5.52		2.27		4.29	
	$D_{ii}$ (eV ⁻¹ ·cm ⁻² )	5×	10 ¹²	5×10 ¹⁴	5×10 ¹²	5×10 ¹⁴	5×10 ¹²	5×10 ¹⁴	5×10 ¹²	5×10 ¹⁴
	$E_{CNL}$ (eV)	0.	582	0.413	0.582	0.413	0.582	0.413	0.582	0.413
	$\phi_B$ (eV) 0.		895	1.008	0.901	1.008	0.465	0.995	0.392	0.993
	$\begin{array}{c c} \Delta E_{F} \ (eV) & 0.521 \\ \hline \Delta_{MG} \ (V) & 0.941 \\ \hline \Delta_{GS} \ (V) & -0.056 \\ \end{array}$		521	0.539	0.529	0.546	-0.039	0.167	-0.135	0.106
			941	0.959	0.699	0.716	-0.689	-0.483	-1.285	-1.044
			.056	0.039	-0.058	0.032	0.074	0.398	0.097	0.456
	$Q_{M}$ (10 ⁻⁶ C·cm ⁻² )	-3	.364	-3.306	-3.467	-3.412	0.234	0.848	0.498	1.215
1	$Q_{c}$ (10 ⁻⁶ C·cm ⁻² )	З.	197	3.424	3.295	3.511	-0.018	0.328	-0.216	0.133
	$Q_{ss}$ (10 ⁻⁶ C·cm ⁻² )	0.	042	-0.251	0.047	-0.231	-0.302	-1.308	-0.361	-1.480
	$Q_{sc}$ (10 ⁻⁶ C·cm ⁻² )	0.	125	0.133	0.125	0.133	0.087	0.132	0.079	0.132

Figure 50. (a) Schottky barrier height  $\phi_B$  and pinning strength *S* by assuming  $Q_D = 0$  and varying  $D_{it}$  for the metal/graphene/GaAs junctions. (b) Estimated  $Q_D$  to match with the I-V-extracted  $\phi_B$  by varying  $D_{it}$  for the metal/graphene/GaAs junctions. (c) Calculated relevant potentials and charges for the metal/graphene/GaAs junctions [191-194, 389].





Figure 51. Energy band alignments of metal/graphene/n-GAaS junctions for the high (a,c) and low (b,d) interface-trap densities regions, where  $\phi_B$  is the Schottky barrier height,  $\phi_M$  is the work-function of the metal,  $\phi_G$  is the work-function of the graphene,  $\phi_{bi}$  is the built-in potential energy,  $E_F$  is the Fermi-level,  $\Delta E_F$  is the Fermi-level shift in the graphene,  $E_0$  is the vacuum level,  $E_c$  is the conduction band edge in the semiconductor,  $E_v$  is the valence band edge in the semiconductor,  $E_{CNL}$  is the charge neutrality level of the semiconductor,  $E_g$  is the band gap of the semiconductor,  $\Delta_{MG}$  is the potential energy change across the metal/graphene interface,  $\Delta_{GS}$  is the potential energy change across the graphene/semiconductor interface,  $Q_M$  is the charge density on the metal surface,  $Q_D$  is the interface-trap charge density,  $Q_{SC}$  is the space charge density in the depletion region, d is the Van der Waals gap distance between the graphene and the metal.  $D_{it}$  is the interface-trap density on the semiconductor surface, and  $\chi_S$  is the electron affinity of the semiconductor [389].



## **3.8 Electronegativity Difference and Interaction Dipole Charge**

Based on the finite element electrostatic modeling (Chapter 3.7), the Schottky barrier heights  $\phi_{B}$  are calculated for four different combinations of the interaction dipole charge density  $Q_{D}$  and the interface-trap density  $D_{it}$ . As shown in Figure 52a, the negative value of pinning factor for the metal/graphene/GaAs junction is found to be obtained only with  $Q_D \neq 0$  for the low interface-trap density  $D_{it}$ . For the Pt/graphene/GaAs junction, it is also found that  $Q_D$  must have positive sign to obtain the measured small value of Schottky barrier height  $\phi_B$ . In fact, this polarity coincides with the DFT calculation results [163-164] discussed in Chapter 1.6.1. However, the polarity of  $Q_D$  for the Al/graphene/GaAs junction is found to be negative in order to match with the measured Schottky barrier height. According to the DFT calculations [163-164], the polarity of  $Q_D$  for the Al/graphene interface should be positive and its magnitude is much smaller than that of Pt/graphene interface. Considering the electrostatic potential drops across the gap between the metal and the graphene, the positive sign of  $Q_D$  is expected to always lower the Schottky barrier height of metal/graphene/nsemiconductor junction, relative to the metal/ n-semiconductor junction without the graphene interlayer. However, as seen in Figure 52a, the Schottky barrier height of Al/graphene/GaAs junction on the low interface-trap density regions is obtained to be quite low with  $Q_D = 0$  or  $Q_D > 0$  (blue circle in Figure 52a). In other words, it is necessary for  $Q_D < 0$  in order to match the experimentally measured large Schottky barrier height (red square in Figure 52a).





Figure 52. (a) Calculated Schottky barrier height  $\phi_B$  of metal/graphene/GaAs junction from the finite element electrostatic modeling as a function of the metal work-function [191-194] for the low interface-trap density  $D_{it} = 5 \times 10^{12} \text{ eV}^{-1} \text{cm}^{-2}$  and the high interface-trap density  $D_{it} = 5 \times 10^{14} \text{ eV}^{-1} \text{cm}^{-2}$ . The interaction dipole charge densities  $Q_D$  are chosen to be zero or the values obtained in the Figure 50c. (b) Calculated  $Q_D$  from the finite element electrostatic modeling and conventional values of the metal atom electronegativity [488] as a function of the metal work-function [191-194]. Two circles indicate two groups categorized with the opposite polarities of interaction dipole charge  $Q_D$  [389].



Figure 6b shows the calculated  $Q_D$  and the metal atom electronegativity [488] as a function of metal work-function [191-194]. The exchange correlation potential for electrons is known to be attractive to the metal surface, that is, the metal attracts the electrons on the metal surface [163-164, 489]. And the atomic electronegativity values of all the metals are seen to be smaller than that of carbon. Thus, the interacting electrons can be attracted more toward the graphene side, inducing the  $Q_D > 0$ .

Now, the question is how the  $Q_D < 0$  of Al/graphene/GaAs junction is possible. Here, we can think of the electronegativity difference between the metal and the carbon atom. Compared to carbon, the atomic electronegativities of Al and Ti is quite smaller than that of Ni and Pt (Figure 6b). Thus, the attracting direction of interacting electrons can be shifted toward the graphene side so as to reverse the direction of the exchange correlation force, leading to the  $Q_D < 0$ . As the Ni and Pt have the high work-functions, the difference of electronegativity value from the carbon is seen to be smaller than the Al and Ti (Figure 6b). Thus, considering this exchange correlation, it is expected that the interacting electrons of Ni and Pt are shifted toward the metal, resulting in the  $Q_D > 0$ .



# **3.9 Parallel Conduction Model Calculation**

Our Ni/graphene/GaAs junction [389] reveals the low Schottky barrier height estimated from the I-V measurements (Figure 43c) and the high Schottky barrier height (1.020 eV) on the prevailing region identified from the IPE measurements (Figure 44c), indicating that this junction is quite suitable for employing the parallel conduction model [187-190, 378, 379] for the thermionic emission [15, 340-348] through an inhomogeneous Schottky contact. It is expected that the Schottky barrier height of the low barrier patches [359-377] would be lower than the I-V extracted Schottky barrier height, two different cases of 0.4 eV and 0.3 eV are considered to estimate the areal fraction of low barrier patch. The I-V extracted Schottky barrier height (0.464eV) should be the effective Schottky barrier height of the inhomogeneous Ni/graphene/GaAs junction consisting of high and low Schottky barrier heights. Figure 53a and Figure 53b show the I-V curves of Ni/graphene/GaAs junction and Figure 53c and Figure 53d provide the estimated effective Schottky barrier height of the junction as a function of the areal fraction of low-barrier small patches (Chapter 1.4.5). According to the parallel conduction model calculation [187-190, 378, 379], it is estimated the low barrier portion would be about 8.15 % and 0.18 % for 0.4 eV and 0.3 eV, respectively. Here, the estimated areal fraction 0.18 % for 0.3 eV is really small. Moreover, this low-barrier fraction might be even smaller since the actual could be lower than 0.3 eV. This result implies that the low-barrier region of Ni/graphene/GaAs junction with no native oxide layer [illustrated in Figure 48d and Figure 51d] indeed occupies a very small areal fraction. This is believed to be the reason why it is quite difficult to locate any of the small patches by using the cross-sectional high-resolution transmission electron microscopy images (Chapter 3.5 and Figure 46). Furthermore, The ratio of current flowing through the low barrier patches to that flowing through the high barrier region is obtained to be about  $2.19 \times 10^9$  in order to produce the measured I-V curve correctly [389]. Thus, it is claimed that the entire junction can become so leaky [359-377]. This is also consistent with our interpretation (Chapter 3.6) claiming that most of the junction current flows through those low-barrier patches in the actual I-V measurements. With this parallel conduction model [187-190, 378, 379], it is reasonably explainable how the small patches affect the I-V characteristics of the entire junction even with its areal fraction being very low.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 53. Parallel conduction model calculation for the Ni/graphene/GaAs junction. (a,c) I-V curves of the Ni/graphene/GaAs junction for several different low-barrier portion. (c,d) Effective Schottky barrier height of Ni/graphene/GaAs junction as a function of low-barrier portion. The blue dashed line shows the estimation of low-barrier portion to match the calculated effective Schottky barrier with the Schottky barrier height extracted from the I-V measurements. The low barrier is assumed to be 0.4 eV (a,c) and 0.3 eV (b,d) respectively. The high barrier High of prevailing region is 1.020 eV for (a)-(d), which is assumed to be identical to the Schottky barrier extracted from the IPE measurements.



# 3.10 Conclusion

It is experimentally observed that the negative Fermi-level pinning effect occurs on the region of GaAs surface with low interface-trap density in the metal/graphene/n-GaAs(001) junction [389], resulting from the electric dipole layer formed at the metal/graphene contact [163-164] due to the overlapping of electron wave-functions. This unusual negative Fermi-level pinning effect [389] can be understood with the interaction dipole charge at the metal/graphene contact [163-164]. In order to explain the observed negative pinning factor, the interacting electrons at the metal/graphene interface should be attracted more toward the graphene side for low work-function metals, bearing the increase of electrostatic potential across the interface. For high work-function metals, the interacting electrons should be attracted more toward the metal side, making the electrostatic potential decrease across the interface accordingly. The change of electrostatic potential across the metal/graphene interface signifies the modulation of effective metal work-function. The low interface-trap density regions, protected by the graphene interlayer, are found to have the local Schottky barrier affected directly by the interaction dipole layer at the metal/graphene contact. It is also discussed that the polarity of interaction dipole layer, indicating the position of interacting electrons, is likely to be determined by the interplay of exchange repulsion and electronegativity difference between metal and carbon atoms [389]. Based on this work, it can be claimed that the graphene interlayer can invert the effective metal work-function very efficiently and suggest the new of forming Schottky and Ohmic-like contacts simultaneously with the identical (particularly high work-function) metal electrodes on a GaAs-like semiconductor substrate possessing low surface-state density or the other 2D Van der Waals semiconducting materials [9].



Figure 54. Summary of Chapter 3 [389].



# 4. Recombination Enabling Low Temperature Rectification at Graphene/Si Junction

The graphene/semiconductor Schottky diode has been extensively explored for device applications [151-154, 490-510], exhibiting not only a rectifying behavior but also a broad spectral range of photodetection. In particular, the graphene/semiconductor contact is engineered to deeply understand the physics occurring at the interface, and enhance the electrical [151-154, 490, 492, 493, 495, 497-499, 502, 509, 510] or [491, 494, 496, 500, 501, 503-508, 511] optical properties. It is also reported that the reverse-biased current in the graphene/semiconductor junction is not saturated due to both the image force barrier lowering (Chapter 1.4.3) and the graphene doping enhanced barrier lowering [495, 498, 499]. The doping enhanced barrier lowering effect [495, 498, 499] relies on the fact the transferred CVD graphene is inevitably p-doped [512]. Meanwhile, the recent studies [499, 502] suggest that the non-ideal I-V characteristics is mainly attributed to the recombination [354-358] in addition to the interface-trap states and the barrier inhomogeneity [187-190, 210-213, 378, 379]. Although the metallic contaminant introduced on the graphene layer is expected to be the source of recombination [499, 502], it is also considered that the diffusion of hole carriers directly supplied from the p-type graphene into the semiconductor depletion layer leads to the increase of recombination current. Here, the graphene field-effect-transistor gated with Si depletion layer is fabricated to investigate the charge carrier transport mechanism across the graphene/Si junction and verify the doping type of graphene layer at the same time. The temperature-dependent I-V measurements provide the important clue in clarifying the non-ideal current source in the small forward-bias regime.



# 4.1 Sample Fabrication

The graphene field-effect-transistor gated with the Si depletion layer without the SiO₂ insulating layer can be fabricated with the following step. First, the n-type Si substrate is processed with the RCA cleaning [299-304, 390-406]. The 30-nm-thick Al₂O₃ insulating layer is then deposited on the Si surface using the atomic layer deposition (ALD). The stripe-shaped trench pattern is made with the conventional UV photolithography and the patterned region is etched with the buffered HF (BOE). The metal electrodes (Ti/Au, 5/50 nm) are deposited on the Al₂O₃ layer through a shadow mask by using the e-beam evaporation. The exposed Si surface is treated again with the RCA cleaning and the hydrogen passivation [299-304, 390-406]. The CVD grown graphene monolayer is then transferred on the whole surface of the sample [390-406] (Chapter 2.1). After transferring the graphene, the quality is examined with the Raman spectrum measurements (Figure 55) [465-467]. The rectangular-shaped graphene channel connecting the metal electrodes is patterned with the e-beam lithography and the RIE etching. As shown in Figure 56. the graphene channel between the metal electrodes is contacted to the Si surface and gated with not the common SiO₂ insulating layer but the Si depletion layer.





Figure 55. (a-d) Optical microscope image with the position indicator taken on the graphene on  $Al_2O_3$  (a), the bare  $Al_2O_3$  (b), the graphene on Si (c), and the Bare Si (d). (e-h) Raman spectra measured on the corresponding region [465-467]. (i) Raman spectrum of graphene with the  $Al_2O_3$  background signal subtracted. (j) Raman spectrum of graphene with the Si background signal subtracted.



Figure 56. (a) Schematic illustration of device structure. (b) Optical microscope image taken on the graphene channel. (c) Device mounted on the cryogenic temperature measurement system.



## 4.2 Temperature-Dependent Current-Voltage Measurement

As shown in Figure 57, by varying the temperature, the current-voltage measurement is performed on the graphene field-effect-transistor gated with the Si depletion layer to characterize the transport properties across the graphene channel or the graphene/Si interface.

Averaged over several different samples, the series resistance  $R_{DS}$  between the two electrodes at the zero gate voltage is estimated about 7.84 k $\Omega$  (Figure 57a and Figure 57d), which will be the sum of the graphene channel resistance  $R_{CH}$  and the Ti/graphene contact resistance  $2R_{CO} = \frac{2\rho_C}{WD_T}$ , where  $\rho_C$  is the area specific contact resistivity, W is the graphene channel width,  $D_T$  is the transfer length known to be much smaller than the length ( $D_L$  or  $D_R$ ) of graphene contact with the electrode on the left or right side [513-520]. Figure 58 shows the geometry parameters mentioned above. The graphene channel resistance is given by  $R_{CH} = R_S \frac{L}{W}$ , where  $R_S$  is the graphene sheet resistance and L is the graphene channel length. By assuming the area specific contact resistivity  $\rho_C = 30 \text{ k}\Omega\mu\text{m}^2$  for the Ti/graphene contacts and  $D_T = 0.1 \text{ }\mu\text{m}$  [513-520], it is estimated that the graphene sheet resistance  $R_S$  for our sample is about 2.24 k $\Omega/\Box$ .

Figure 57h and Figure 57i show the temperature-dependent current-voltage characteristics measured on the graphene/Si (Figure 57b) and Pt/Si (Figure 57c) junctions. As is well known [15, 187-190, 340-343], both junctions reveal the rectifying behavior at room temperature and the suppressed the forward and reverse biased currents with decreasing the temperature. However, depending on the temperature, it is seen that the rectifying behavior of the Pt/Si junction disappears more rapidly than that of the graphene/Si junction, and the current suppression becomes significant for the Pt/Si junction compared to the graphene/Si junction.

As shown in Figure 57j, the drain-to-source channel current in the graphene field-effect-transistor gated by the Si depletion layer (Figure 57d) reveals the low-efficient switching characteristics, which is likely to be disrupted by the current leaking through the graphene/Si contact (Figure 57e and Figure 57k). The sum of the channel current (Figure 57j) and the leakage current (Figure 57k) is shown in Figure 57l. Corrected with the leakage current flowing through the graphene/Si contact, Figure 57l reveals the enhanced switching characteristics compared to Figure 57j. Nevertheless, Figure 57l still reveals the low-efficient switching characteristics, implying that the gating with the Si depletion layer on the graphene layer is not so effective (Figure 57f). One thing to note clearly here is that the Dirac voltage is observed to be positive, verifying that the graphene layer is p-doped.





Figure 57. (a-f) Device structure and measurement configuration. (g) Graphene channel current versus drain voltage. (h) Current-voltage curves of the graphene/Si junction. (i) Current-voltage curves of the Pt/Si junction. (j) Graphene channel current versus gate voltage. (k) Graphene/Si leakage current versus gate voltage. (l) Total current flowing through graphene channel and graphene/Si junction versus gate voltage.



Figure 58. Device structure with geometry parameters, where W is the graphene channel width, L is the graphene channel length, S is the length of contact with Si,  $D_L$  is the length of graphene contact with Ti/Au electrode on the left side, and  $D_R$  is the length of graphene contact with Ti/Au electrode on the right side.



## **4.3 Improved Rectification Ratio at Low Temperature**

The temperature-dependent Schottky barrier height and the ideality factor are shown in Figure 59b for the graphene/Si junction and Figure 59c for the Pt/Si junction. The extracted Schottky barrier height decreases with the temperature decreases. The smaller Schottky barrier height at lower temperature is very likely to be due to the suppression of the thermionic emission effect [15, 187-190, 340-343]. The increase of ideality factor at lower temperature usually indicates the presence of barrier inhomogeneity [15, 187-190, 359-377]. However, the strong variation in the ideality factor of Pt/Si junction in comparison with graphene/Si junction might imply the different transport mechanism for graphene/Si junction. It is also observed that the rectification ratio at 2V plotted in Figure 59c is quite similar around the room temperature ( $\geq 250$  °C) for the graphene/Si and the Pt/Si junctions. However, the rectification ratio of the Pt/Si junction is reduced sharply with decreasing the temperature, while that of graphene/Si junction is maintained up to the low temperature ( $\geq 30$  K). This implies that the charge carrier transport mechanism for graphene/Si junctions might be different with each other and the non-ideal behavior of graphene/Si junction will be attributed to the other mechanism for charge carrier transport [15, 187-190, 340-353] (Chapter 1.4.4).



Figure 59. (a,b) Temperature-dependent Schottky barrier height and ideality factor with their standard errors for the graphene/Si (a) and the Pt/Si (b) junctions. (c) Rectification ratio at 2V.



## 4.4 Thermionic Emission Versus Recombination

The modified thermionic emission model for graphene/semiconductor Schottky contact [499. 502, 521] combined with the image force barrier lowering (Chapter 1.4.3) the graphene doping enhanced barrier lowering [495, 498, 499], and the series resistance [15, 187-190, 340-343] is adopted to analyze the current-voltage curve measured on our graphene/Si junction.

The modified thermionic emission equation for graphene/Si junction is given by Equation 58, where  $J_{TE}^{G}$  is the thermionic emission current density, q is the electric charge constant,  $k_{B}$  is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature,  $k_{B}T$  is the thermal energy (approximately 0.026 eV),  $\hbar$  is the plank constant.  $v_{F}$  is the Fermi velocity,  $V_{A}$  is the applied bias voltage, Jis the total current density, A is the contact area, R is the series resistance, n is the ideality

factor.  $\phi_{B0}$  is the zero bias Schottky barrier height,  $\Delta \phi_1 = \left(\frac{q^3 N_D |\psi_s|}{8\pi^2 \varepsilon_0^3 \kappa_s^3}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$  is the image force barrier lowering energy,  $N_D$  is the doping concentration (~1×10¹⁵ cm⁻³) of the n-type Si,

 $\psi = \phi_{bi} + \Delta \phi_1 = \phi_{B0} - k_B T \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_D}\right) - q(V_A - JAR)$  is the potential energy at the Si surface,  $\phi_{bi}$  is

the built-in potential energy,  $N_C = 2\left(\frac{m^*k_BT}{2\pi\hbar^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}$  is the effective density of states in the conduction band of the Si [522],  $m^*$  is the effective mass in Si.  $\mathcal{E}_0$  is the permittivity of the vacuum,  $\mathcal{K}_s$  is the dielectric constant of the semiconductor, and  $\Delta\phi_2$  is the graphene doping enhanced barrier lowering energy. The graphene doping enhanced barrier lowering energy  $\Delta\phi_2$  can be obtained [495, 498, 499] by solving the charge neutrality condition  $Q_G + Q_{SS} + Q_{SC} = 0$  [15, 163, 164, 189, 190, 207-224,

389, 487], where  $Q_G = \frac{q\Delta E_F |\Delta E_F|}{\pi \hbar^2 v_F^2}$  is the doping charge density of graphene,  $Q_{SS} = -qD_{it} \left[ E_g - E_{CNL} - (\phi_{B0} - \Delta \phi_1 - \Delta \phi_2) \right]$  is the interface-trap charge density on the Si surface,  $Q_{SC} = qN_DW_D$  is the space charge density in Si,  $D_{it}$  is the interface-trap density on the Si surface,

 $E_g$  is the band gap of the Si,  $E_{CNL}$  is the charge neutrality level of the Si, and  $W_D = \sqrt{\frac{2\varepsilon_0 \kappa_s |\psi|}{qN_D}}$ is the depletion region width. It should be noted that the increase of reverse-biased current is



attributed to the image force barrier lowering energy  $\Delta \phi_1$  and the graphene doping enhanced barrier lowering energy  $\Delta \phi_2$  [495, 498, 499]. The sign of  $\Delta E_F$  should be positive for p-type graphene as confirmed in Figure 571.

The measured data is well reproduced with the fitting curve obtained with Equation 58 by assuming n = 1.75,  $\phi_{B0} = 0.7$ , and  $J = J_{TE}^{G}$  (Figure 60a). As discussed in Chapter 4.3, it is considered that the non-ideal effect of graphene/Si junction is due to the other transport mechanism [15, 187-190, 340-353], not the presence of barrier inhomogeneity [15, 187-190, 359-377]. Based on the recent studies [499, 502] claiming that the recombination current [354-358] dominates the non-ideal behavior of the forward-biased current in the graphene/Si junction, the measured data is well reproduced with the sum of the thermionic emission current and recombination current by assuming n = 1,  $\phi_{B0} = 0.7$ , and  $J = J_{TE}^{G} + J_{RE}^{G}$  (Figure 60b), where  $J_{RE}^{G}$  is the recombination current density [15, 499, 502],  $n_i$  is the intrinsic carrier concentration in the Si [523],  $\tau = \tau_0 \exp\left(-\frac{E_c - E_r}{k_B T}\right)$  is the recombination lifetime in the Si [524-527],  $\tau_0$  is the recombination energy

level. Note that  $\tau_0 = 10 \,\mu s$  and  $E_c - E_r = 0.365 \,\text{eV}$  for the best fitting of the measured data.

$$J_{TE}^{G} = \frac{qk_{B}^{3}}{\pi\hbar^{3}v_{F}^{2}}T^{3}\exp\left[-\frac{q\left(\phi_{B0} - \Delta\phi_{1} - \Delta\phi_{2}\right)}{k_{B}T}\right]\left\{\exp\left[\frac{q\left(V_{A} - JAR\right)}{nk_{B}T}\right] - 1\right\}$$
(58)

$$J_{RE}^{G} = \frac{qW_{D}n_{i}}{2\tau} \left\{ \exp\left[\frac{q(V_{A} - JAR)}{2k_{B}T}\right] - 1 \right\}$$
(59)



As shown in Figure 60b, it is quite interesting that the measured forward-bias current can be reproduced with the thermionic emission independently with  $n \neq 1$  or the sum of the thermionic emission and the recombination with n = 1. It is seen that the recombination current dominates in the small forward-bias regime (0 ~ 0.2 V). Comparing Equation 58 with Equation 59, the slope of the natural logarithm of the current density  $\ln J$  as a function of the applied bias voltage  $V_A$  in the

small forward-bias regime is the  $\frac{q}{nk_BT}$  for the thermionic emission (Equation 58) and  $\frac{q}{2k_BT}$  for

the recombination (Equation 59). As shown in Figure 59b, the ideality factor extracted from the current-voltage curve measured on the Pt/Si junction increases with the temperature decreasing, which is known to be due to the presence of barrier inhomogeneity [15, 187-190, 359-377]. On the other hand, the ideality factor extracted from the slope in the current-voltage curve measured on the graphene/Si junction (Figure 59a) remains at about the similar value around 2. As is well known, the thermionic emission decreases rapidly with decreasing temperature [344-348]. From this point of view, we can make conjecture that the non-ideal effect of the graphene/Si junction in the small forward bias regime actually stems from the recombination and the recombination is somehow maintained up to around 100 K.



Figure 60. (a,b) Current density-voltage curve for the graphene/Si junction. (a) Measured data with the fitting curve to the thermionic emission current density  $J_{TE}^{G}$  with n = 1.75 and  $\phi_{B0} = 0.7$ . (b) Measured data with the fitting curve to the thermionic emission current density  $J_{TE}^{G}$  and recombination current density  $J_{RE}^{G}$  with n = 1 and  $\phi_{B0} = 0.7$ .



The cubic of the temperature  $T^3$  is in the coefficient of equation for the thermionic emission current density  $J_{TE}^G$  [499. 502, 521] (Equation 58). On the other hands, the coefficient of equation for the recombination current density  $J_{RE}^G$  [15, 499, 502] (Equation 59) consists of more complex  $\boxed{2\varepsilon_0\kappa |w|}$ 

temperature-dependent parameters such as the depletion region width  $W_D = \sqrt{\frac{2\varepsilon_0 \kappa_s |\psi|}{qN_D}}$ , the

potential energy  $\psi = \phi_{B0} - k_B T \ln\left(\frac{N_C}{N_D}\right) - q(V_A - JAR)$  at the Si surface, the effective density of

states  $N_C = 2 \left( \frac{m^* k_B T}{2\pi \hbar^2} \right)^{\overline{2}}$  in the conduction band of the Si [522], the intrinsic carrier concentration

$$n_i = 5.29 \times 10^{19} \left(\frac{T}{300}\right)^{2.54} \exp\left(-\frac{6726}{T}\right)$$
 in the Si [523], and the recombination lifetime  $\tau = \tau_0 \exp\left(-\frac{E_c - E_r}{k_B T}\right)$  in the Si [524-527]. Based on the thermionic emission current density  $J_{TE}^G$ 

[499. 502, 521] (Equation 58) and recombination current density  $J_{RE}^G$  [15, 499, 502] (Equation 59), the temperature-dependent current-voltage curve is plotted in Figure 61, which reveals the stark difference between the thermionic emission and the recombination. Comparing with the measured one (Figure 61a), both the current density of thermionic emission  $J_{TE}^G$  with n = 1.75 (Figure 61b) and the current density of thermionic emission  $J_{TE}^G$  with n = 1 (Figure 61c) are suppressed very significantly with the temperature decreasing. On the other hands, the reduction of current density of recombination  $J_{RE}^G$  with n = 1 (Figure 61d) is relatively slow depending on the temperature. Accordingly, the current density of the sum of the thermionic emission and the recombination  $J_{TE}^G + J_{RE}^G$  with n = 1 (Figure 61e) reveals that total current is dominated by the recombination. This is consistent our result claiming that the that recombination actually plays an important role in the charge carrier transport mechanism across the graphene/Si interface and the recombination is maintained up to the low temperature. Based on this result, it can be claimed that the low temperature rectification at the graphene/Si interface [151-154, 528] occurs due to the recombination.



INSTITUTE OF

ULSAN NATIONAL



Figure 61. (a-e) Current-voltage characteristics of the graphene/Si junction for the measured one (a), the thermionic emission  $J_{TE}^{G}$  with n = 1.75 (b), the thermionic emission  $J_{TE}^{G}$  with n = 1 (c), the recombination  $J_{RE}^{G}$  with n = 1 (d). and the sum of the thermionic emission and the recombination  $J_{TE}^{G} + J_{RE}^{G}$  with n = 1 (e).


### 4.5 Recombination Current due to the Hole Carriers Supplied from Graphene

Figure 62a shows the ratio of the recombination current  $J_{RE}^{G}$  to the sum of the thermionic emission current and the recombination current  $J_{TE}^{G} + J_{RE}^{G}$ , showing that the recombination process is actually predominant in the small forward bias regime and the total current is totally governed by the recombination current below 200 K. The energy band diagrams with the relevant potential energy parameters and charge carrier transport mechanisms are shown in Figure 62b for the zero bias, Figure 62c for the forward bias, and Figure 62c for the reverse bias. As confirmed in Figure 57l, the graphene is p-doped and possess a considerable amount of the hole carriers. Therefore, unlike the conventional metal/Si junction where the holes are generally limed in the metal electrode, the hole carriers supplied from the graphene can be directly injected into the Si surface and the Si depletion layer under the forward bias (Figure 62b). It is likely that the injected holes encountering the electrons in the Si depletion layer will contribute to the recombination current in the small forward bias regime. Since the depletion region width  $W_D$  shrinks with the increase of the applied bias voltage  $V_A$ , the recombination ratio shown in Figure 62a is reduced in the higher forward bias. As shown in Figure 61 and Figure 62a, the recombination current in the graphene/Si junction seems to survive at the low temperature up around 100 K. This is also likely because the depletion region width  $W_D$  increases as the temperature decreases [15], raising a possibility of meeting the injected holes supplied form the graphene and the electron coming from the Si bulk. It is also noted that the image force barrier lowering energy  $\Delta \phi_1$  and the graphene doping enhanced barrier lowering energy  $\Delta \phi_2$  cause the increase of reverse-biased current [495, 498, 499].



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 62. (b-d) Energy band diagram shown in the upper side is drawn as a function of position in the junction and the corresponding linear energy dispersion relation of graphene with the Fermi-level indicated is drawn below [389], where  $\phi_B$  is the Schottky barrier height,  $\phi_{B0}$  is the zero bias Schottky barrier height,  $\Delta \phi_1$  is the image force barrier lowering energy,  $\Delta \phi_2$  is the graphene doping enhanced barrier lowering energy,  $\phi_{bi}$  is the built-in potential energy,  $E_{FG}$  is the Fermilevel of the graphene,  $\Delta E_{FG}$  is the Fermi-level shift in the graphene,  $E_{FS}$  is the Fermi-level of the Si,  $E_C$  is the conduction band edge in the Si,  $E_V$  is the valence band edge in the Si,  $E_{CNL}$  is the charge neutrality level of the semiconductor,  $E_g$  is the band gap of the Si,  $Q_G$  is the doping charge density of the graphene,  $Q_{SS}$  is the interface-trap charge density on the Si surface,  $Q_{SC}$  is the space charge density in the depletion region of the Si.



# 4.6 Conclusion

The graphene field-effect-transistor without the SiO₂ insulating layer is fabricated to investigate the temperature-dependent carrier transport properties across the graphene channel or the graphene/Si interface. The p-type doping of graphene is also verified with the simultaneous transport measurement gated with the Si depletion layer developed by the positive bias on the Si substrate. It is found that the non-ideal effect of the graphene/Si junction stems from the recombination process dominating in the small forward bias regime since the hole carriers supplied from the p-doped graphene function as the source of recombination occurring in the Si depletion region. This implies that the recombination can be maintained up to the low temperature owing to the increased depletion width. Unlike conventional metal/semiconductor diode losing its function at low temperature, the graphene/Si Schottky diode can preserve the performance characteristics as a rectifier and offer the possibility to utilize a new class of diode that can operate even at the low temperature comparable to the room temperature.



Figure 63. Summary of Chapter 4.



### 5. Enhanced Thermionic Emission and Tunneling at Junction Edges

As explained in Chapter 1.4.2 and Chapter 2.7, the origin of Fermi-level pinning effect is known to be the electric dipole layer associated with the trap states on the semiconductor surface [15, 189, 190, 207-224]. The electric dipole layer is known to be restriced near the junction edge since the effective contact between the metal and the semiconductor for the charge transfer is reduced at the edge. Thus, the influence of interface electric dipole layer is expected to be limited when the occupied area of electric dipole layer is relatively too small so that the charge density on the semiconductor surface is restricted [159-162, 177, 468-472, 529-532]. In that case, the energy band profile in the depletion region on the semiconductor side appears not to be affected by the Fermi-level pinning effect, since the influence of interface electric dipole layer cannot reach deep into the semiconductor substrate. This area-dependent effect of interface electric dipole layer relies on the fact that the surface charge density at the center of the small-area Schottky junction will be comparable to that at the edge. More specifically, as the contact size of Schottky junction gets small below about hundreds nanometer, the magnitude of leakage current component will be largely increased mainly flowing through the junction edge where the Fermi-level pinning effect is seemingly limited. Accordingly, the currentvoltage characteristics of nano-junction will seem to be almost unaffected by the interface Fermi-level pinning effect although the actual Fermi-level pinning effect is strong at the entire junction [177]. This is a crucial phenomenon directly related to the nanoscale device operation (Chapter 1.4.4). Here, it is experimentally demonstrated that the effective Schottky barrier height of Al/Si and Al/Graphene/Si junctions decreases with the lateral width of junction decreasing. From the finite-element electrostatic modeling to obtain the energy band profile across the junction and the numerical calculation to estimate the current flowing through the junction, as the lateral size of junction becomes smaller, it is found that the potential barrier gets narrower and the current-voltage characteristic is governed by the thermionic emission and the tunneling of charge carriers around the junction edge. It is also believed that our work can provide a physically-reasonable clue for understanding the drastic size-dependent variation of current-voltage characteristic in the nanoscale device architecture.



### **5.1 Sample Fabrication**

The lateral-size-varying Al/Si and Al/graphene/Si junctions shown in Figure 64 are prepared as follows. The n-type (~  $1 \times 10^{15}$  cm⁻³) Si substrate is first cleaned with the RCA process [299-304]. The 30-nm-thick Al₂O₃ insulating film is deposited by using the atomic layer deposition (ALD). In order to fabricate the wide trenches in the Si substrate, the stripe patterns are created by photolithography processing. The exposed  $Al_2O_3$  regions are then removed by buffered oxide etchant (BOE) wet etching for 20 sec. After the photoresist removal, the samples are treated in methanol for rinsing. The monolayer graphene grown with chemical vapor deposition (CVD) was transferred onto the substrates. It is noted that the semi-dry transfer method is employed to minimize the water molecule trapping at the interface [390-406]. The metal electrodes consisting of Ti/Au (10/50 nm) are then deposited through a shadow mask on the  $Al_2O_3$  /Si surface by using the e-beam evaporation. The samples are dipped in a BOE etching solution once again to remove any native oxide. The rectangular-shaped width-varying patterns covering both the metal electrode and the Si trench are written by the e-beam lithography. Subsequently, the Al electrodes of 50 nm are deposited by the using e-beam evaporation. After the lift-off process, the Raman spectroscopy are carried out near the Al electrodes on Si trench. As shown in Figure 65, the quality of transferred graphene is identified by comparing the Raman spectra of the graphene-uncovered region with that of the graphene-covered region [465-467]. Finally, the graphene uncovered by Al electrodes are removed with reactive ion etching (RIE) to isolate each junction. The Al/Si and Al/graphene/Si junctions are formed on the graphene-uncovered and graphene-covered regions respectively.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 64. (a)-(l) Optical microscope images of the Al/Si junction formed on the Si-trench under the Al₂O₃. The contact size of junction is controlled by the lateral width of the Al electrode connected with the Ti/Au pad on the Al₂O₃. (a) 100  $\mu$ m, (b) 10  $\mu$ m, (c) 1  $\mu$ m, (d) 500 nm, (e) 200 nm, (f) 100 nm. (g)-(l) the corresponding magnified view of (a)-(f).



Figure 65. Raman spectra of the bare Si (a) measured on (b), the graphene on Si (c) measured on (d), graphene with the Si background signal subtracted (e) [465-467].



#### 5.2 Current-Voltage Measurement

Figure 66 show the current density-voltage curves measured on Al/Si and Al/graphene/Si junctions depending on the lateral size. The typical rectifying characteristic appears in Al/Si junction (Figure 66a) and the non-ideal forward-bias behavior is observed in Al/graphene/Si junction (Figure 66b). Aaveraged over several different junctions by adopting the thermionic emission model [15, 340-358], the extracted Schottky barrier heights and ideality factors are listed in Figure 66c. The effective Schottky barrier heights scale down with the lateral size of junction. Interestingly, the non-ideal effect in Al/graphene/Si junction becomes striking and saturated as the lateral width of junction decreases.

Regarding the reverse-bias leakage current, it is reported that the local material intermixing of metal and Si atoms inducing the low barrier patches in the metal/Si junction and increasing the leakage current can be blocked by the graphene diffusion barrier [177]. If the atomic interdiffusion at the interface is active enough, the reverse-bias leakage current of metal/Si junction will be increased, while that of metal/graphene/Si junction can be effectively suppressed with the graphene interlayer preventing the interdiffusion. However, the reverse-bias leakage current of Al/Si junction (Figure 66a) is somehow similar to that of Al/graphene/Si junction (Figure 66b). This implies that the atomic reaction at the Al/Si interface used in this work does not occur quite actively and the reverse-bias leakage currents of our Al/Si and Al/graphene/Si junctions are not attributed to the inhomogeneity-related leakage current. Meantime, the reverse-bias leakage current is noticeably increased with the downscaling of Al electrode, indicating that the reverse-bias leakage currents arise from the other mechanism.





Lateral width		100 µm	10 µm	1 µm	500 nm	200 nm	100 nm
Al/Si	$\phi_{\scriptscriptstyle B}$ (eV)	0.774	0.733	0.693	0.664	0.644	0.627
	n	1.83	1.89	1.98	1.99	2.05	2.09
Al/graphene/Si	$\phi_{\scriptscriptstyle B}$ (eV)	0.747	0.713	0.622	0.619	0.620	0.609
	n	2.35	2.14	3.90	4.19	4.37	5.16

Figure 66. (a,b) Current densitiy-voltage curves measured on the Al/Si (a) and the Al/graphene/Si (b) junctions depending on the lateral width of Al electrode. (c) Extracted Schottky barrier heights and ideality factors depending on the lateral size.



#### **5.3 Energy Band Profile across Interface**

In order to understand the influence of electrostatic environment between nano and bulk geometries on the leakage current near the edge of the Schottky junction, as shown in Figure 67, the conduction energy band distributions at around the Al/Si interface are plotted by performing the finite element electrostatic modeling with a commercial software package FlexPDE [482-484]. The schematic of device structure shown in Figure 67a is employed for the modeling by varying the lateral width of Al electrode. As can be seen from the cross-sectional band profiles across the center and edge of Al/Si junction in Figure 68, the depletion width shrinks smaller with the downscaling of lateral width. This is found at both the center (Figure 68a) and the edge (Figure 68b). The number of charge carriers tunneling through the Schottky barrier is expected to increase sharply as the depletion width decreases [15, 349-353, 533, 534]. In particular, from the center to the edge, the Schottky barrier height decreases and the depletion width becomes thinner. This implies that both the thermionic emission current due to the low Schottky barrier height and the tunneling current due to the narrow barrier width at the edge of the Schottky junction lead to the modification in I–V characteristics. Actually, this expectation is in agreement with the increased reverse-bias leakage current in Figure 66a. Based on this result, it can be claimed that the reverse-bias leakage currents of Al/Si and Al/graphene/Si junctions are attributed to the edge-related leakage current.

Interestingly, the difference in depletion width between the center and the edge is significantly reduced in the nanoscale contacts (Figure 68d), compared to the wide planar contacts (Figure 68c). In other words, the energy band profiles across the center of nano-junction (Figure 68d) drops rapidly compared to that of planar-junction (Figure 68c). This is likely because the electric field at the center, just as that at the edge, is affected by the surrounding semiconductor bulk in the nano-sized junction. At this stage, it looks worthwhile to review the metal/semiconductor nano-junction, which is categorized into two cases in general. One is the nano-size metal contacts to bulk semiconductor, which is associated with the geometrically-induced nonlocal environmental pinning effect [535]. The other is the metal to semiconductor nano-contacts, deriving the environmental pinning effect from quantum confinement [536]. As mentioned previously, the origin of Fermi-level pinning is known to be the electric dipole layer brought about by the interface states on the semiconductor surface [15, 189, 190, 207-224]. Since the weighted charge distribution is lower at the edge in comparison with at the center, the influence of electric dipole layer changing the electrostatic potential across the interface is expected to be limited near the edge. This is actually what is observed in Figure 68c. However, as the junction lateral size relatively gets too small, there would be no significant change in the effect of interface dipole layer on the energy band profile between the center and the edge, which is identified in Figure 68d.





Figure 67. (a) Schematic of device structure employed for the modeling. (b)-(k) Conduction energy band distributions at around the Al/Si interface by varying the lateral width of Al electrode. 3D-view: 10  $\mu$ m (b), 1  $\mu$ m (c), 500 nm (d), 200 nm (e), 100 nm (f). 2D-view: 10  $\mu$ m (g), 1  $\mu$ m (h), 500 nm (i), 200 nm (j), 100 nm (k). The gray rectangles in (g)-(k) represent the areas of Al electrode.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 68. (a)-(d) Conduction energy band profiles across the center and the edge of Al/Si junction by varying the lateral width of Al electrode. (a) center, (b) edge, (c)  $10 \mu m$ , (d) 100 nm.



### 5.4 Thermionic Emission Versus Tunneling

In order to address the deviation of edge-related leakage currents between the nano-size Schottky junction and the wide-planar one, the thermionic emission and tunneling currents flowing across the center and the edge of Al/Si junction are calculated with a MATLAB program [15, 340-344, 349-353, 533, 534, 537]. As shown in Figure 69, the smaller the lateral size of junction, the larger the reversebias leakage current, which is in agreement with the experimental observation in Figure 66a. In addition, the thermionic emission current at the center (Figure 69a) is found to be smaller than that at the edge (Figure 69b). Likewise, the tunneling current at the center (Figure 69c) is also seen to be smaller than that at the edge (Figure 69d). This is because the barrier height and the barrier thickness at the center (Figure 68a) are higher and wider than those at the edge (Figure 68b). It is known that the thermionic emission is determined by the Schottky barrier height, while the tunneling depends on both the Schottky barrier height and the thickness [15, 340-344, 349-353]. The thermionic emission current (Figure 69a and Figure 69b) is observed to be larger than the tunneling current (Figure 69c and Figure 69d). Hence, it can be claimed that the Schottky barrier height substantially influences on the thermionic emission rather than the tunneling. Depending on the lateral size, the change in tunneling current (Figure 69c and Figure 69d) is more noticeable than that in thermionic emission current (Figure 69a and Figure 69b). As mentioned just before, the tunneling strongly depends on the thickness of Schottky barrier because the narrow barrier width results in a high electric field at the interface [15, 340-344, 349-353]. It is apparent that the Schottky barrier thickness becomes narrow (Figure 68a and Figure 68b) and the tunneling current increase (Figure 69c and Figure 69d) in accordance with decreasing of lateral junction size. This phenomenon is expected to be significant in the Schottky junction with narrower barrier thickness fabricated with the more highly-doped Si substrate than those used in this work.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 69. (a)-(d) Current densitiy-voltage curves calculated on the center and the edge of the Al/Si junction by varying the lateral width of the Al electrode. (a) Thermionic emission current at the junction center, (b) Thermionic emission current at the junction edge, (c) Tunneling current at the junction center, (d) thermionic emission current at the junction edge.



## 5.5 Edge Current Enhanced with Downscaling of Lateral Width

Based on our I-V measurement in Figure 66, band profile in Figure 68, and current calculation in Figure 69, it can be claimed as follows. In case of the Al/Si junction (Figure 70a and Figure 70c), the dominant conduction mechanism is responsible for the thermionic emission and the tunneling, which are enhaced at the junction edge (Figure 70c) due to the reduced barrier height and thickness. Because the depletion region where the recombination takes place is thin at the junction edge, the recombination will be low. On the other hand, for the Al/graphene/Si junction (Figure 70b and Figure 70d), the recombination is expected to become significant with the graphene interlayer. The graphene is considered to be p-doped and a substantial amount of the hole carriers supplied from the p-doped graphene interlayer can be injected into the Si depletion region, contributing to the recombination eventually. What is interesting in this point is that the depletion width, *i.e.*, the Schottky barrier thickness itself is the competing factor determining both the tunneling and the recombination. As seen in Figure 66, the saturated non-ideal I-V characteristic under the forward-bias seems to be attributed to the interplay of tunneling and recombination especially for the nano-Schottky junction.



SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 70. (a)-(d) Schematic of illustrating the transport mechanisms in the metal/Si junction at the junction center (a) and the edge (c) and the metal/graphene/Si junction at the junction center (b) and the edge (d) described by thermionic emission, tunneling, and recombination [389].



## **5.6 Conclusion**

It is experimentally observed that the effective Schottky barrier height of Al/Si and Al/graphene/Si junctions are reduced with decreasing the lateral size of Al electrode. It is found that the thermionic emission and the tunneling of charge carriers across the interface near the junction edge provide a plausible explanation for the downscaling effect in Al/Si and Al/graphene/Si junctions. The dominance of the edge current component in the total junction current implies that the lateral-size-dependent charge carrier transport is mainly attributed to the low effective Schottky barrier height formed around the junction edge. The forward-biased current of Al/graphene/Si junction is enhanced in comparison with that of Al/Si junction, which is attributed to the recombination process regarding the hole carriers injected from p-doped graphene, which is consistent with Chapter 4. The low resistance conduction path is generally considered to be the most important factor in the leakage current so that this work provides the useful information to solve the leakage current problems in the nanoscale devices.



Figure 71. Summary of Chapter 5.



# 6. Electrically-Controlled Carrier Guiding in Single-Channel Graphene Superlattice Device

As discussed in Chapter 1.3.2 and Chapter 1.7.1, the ballistic charge carrier in the graphene satisfies the fundamental conservation laws and acts like the massless Dirac particle described by the Dirac equation [68-72, 186]. Here, the theoretical calculations on the time-evolving probability density of electron wave packets propogating in the graphene superlattice structure are performed, showing that the propagation direction and the spread of electron wave packets in the graphene channel sensitively depend on the magnitude of superlattice potential. The graphene superlattice is adopted by a Kronnig-Penny type of periodic potential generated with alternating n-and p-type doping regions in the graphene. The single-channel multi-drain graphene superlattice device can be used to guide the charge carriers to a specific direction just by controlling the electrostatic environment in the channel, inspiring a new perspective in the conductance switching mechanism of the graphene.



## **6.1 Device Geometry**

The single-channel multi-drain graphene device is designed with pristine graphene (Figure 72a) or superlattice graphene (Figure 72e). If we assume the probability density distribution of a Gaussian localized electron wave packets in the pristine graphene at initial (Figure 72b), the electron probability density distribution can be tracked with time-evolving (Figure 72d) or time-integrated (Figure 72c) forms. As shown in Figure 72c and Figure 72d, the electron packets propogate in the form of a concentric circle with the pristine graphene.



Figure 72. (a) Device geometry of pristine graphene device with channel (blue) on insulating substrate (black) in xy coordinate space. (yellow): metal electrodes of source, drain, and side drain. (b) Electron probability density distribution of Gaussian localized wave packets in pristine graphene at initial with the central wave vector  $\mathbf{k}_c$  set by the energy  $E(k_c) = E_0 = \hbar v_F |\mathbf{k}_c| = 0.02 \text{ eV}$  of incident electron wave packet. (c) Time-integrated probability density distributions of electron wave packets in the pristine graphene. (d) Time-evolving probability density distributions of electron wave packets in pristine graphene at 100 fs, 150 fs, 200 fs, and 250 fs. (e) Device geometry of superlattice graphene device with channel (blue) on insulating substrate (black) in xy coordinate space. (yellow): metal electrodes of source, drain, and side drain. (red): superlattice potential with different half-period lengths (150 nm, 50 nm, 30 nm, and 10 nm).



# 6.2 Electron Trajectory Incident to Graphene Superlattice Potential

Recalling the electron quantum optics [63-67] in the graphene as discussed in Chapter 1.7.1 and Chapter .1.7.2, the electron trajectory passing through the potential barrier reveals Klein tunneling [68-72] and negative refraction [73-77]. If the incidence is perpendicular to the surface of potential barrier in graphene, the electron can tunnel the potential barrier with probability regardless of its height and width, *i.e.*, the absence of back-scattering [68-72]. In addition to that, owing to the negative refraction [73-77], the angle-dependent transmission [78-82] and the collimation [83-87] can be achieved with the periodic potentials in graphene [88-92], so-called the graphene superlattice [93-97]. The trajectories of electron incident to the graphene superlattice are illustrated in Figure 73 and Figure 74.





Figure 73. (a,b,c) Schematic of trajectories of electron incident to the graphene superlattice (Chapter 1.7.1 and Chapter .1.7.2). The incident angle is 30° and the magnitude of superlattice potential is moderate (a), extensive (b), minor (c).





Figure 74. (a,b,c) Schematic of trajectories of electron incident to the graphene superlattice (Chapter 1.7.1 and Chapter .1.7.2). The incident angle is 60° and the magnitude of superlattice potential is moderate (a), extensive (b), minor (c).



## 6.3 Time-Evolving Electron Probability Distribution in Graphene Superlattice

The Gaussian wave packets  $\Psi$  of the massless Dirac fermion in the graphene is given by Equation 60, where A is the wave-function coefficient,  $k_x$  is the momentum wave-vector component along the x direction,  $k_y$  is that along the y direction, X = 30 nm is the spatial extent along the x, Y = 30 nm is the spatial extent along the y, s is the band index (1 for the conduction band and -1 for the valence band),  $u_{i,j}^n$  is the first row column component,  $v_{i,j}^n$  is the second row column component, and is U the potential magnitude. Based on the conservation of total energy and the transverse momentum parallel to the interface, The time-evolution of Gaussian wave packets can be obtained with Equations 61-63, [63-97] by applying the  $\hat{H}_{total}\Psi(x, y, \Delta t) = i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Psi(x, y, \Delta t)$  of the time evolution of the wave-function with the energy of an incident electron with the central wave vector  $\mathbf{k}_c$ ,  $\Delta x = \Delta y = 1$  nm,  $\Delta t = 0.1$  fs,

$$U(x+2L) = U(x)$$
, and  $U(x) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & (0 < x < L) \\ U & (L < x < 2L) \end{bmatrix}$ .

$$\Psi(x, y, 0) = A \exp\left[i\left(k_x x + k_y y\right)\right] \exp\left[-\left(\frac{x^2}{2X^2} + \frac{y^2}{2Y^2}\right)\right] \left(s \exp\left[i \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{k_y}{k_x}\right)\right]\right) = \left(\frac{u_{i,j}^n}{v_{i,j}^n}\right) \quad (60)$$

$$\Psi(x, y, \Delta t) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \frac{\Delta t}{i\hbar} U(x) & v_F \Delta t \left( i \frac{\partial}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) \\ -v_F \Delta t \left( i \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) & 1 + \frac{\Delta t}{i\hbar} U(x) \end{pmatrix} \Psi(x, y, 0)$$
(61)

$$u_{i,j}^{n+1} = u_{i,j}^{n-1} + \frac{2U_i}{i\hbar} \Delta t u_{i,j}^n + v_F \Delta t \left( i \frac{v_{i,j+1}^n - v_{i,j-1}^n}{\Delta y} - \frac{v_{i+1,j}^n - v_{i-1,j}^n}{\Delta x} \right)$$
(62)

$$v_{i,j}^{n+1} = v_{i,j}^{n-1} - v_F \Delta t \left( i \frac{u_{i,j+1}^n - u_{i,j-1}^n}{\Delta y} + \frac{u_{i+1,j}^n - u_{i-1,j}^n}{\Delta x} \right) + \frac{2U_i}{i\hbar} \Delta t v_{i,j}^n$$
(63)



Based on the above equations, the transmission coefficient for the electron wave packect incident on the graphene superlattice with the different lengths of half- period within the same channel length is obtained by varying the magnitude of superlattice potential. As shown in Figure 75, the propagation direction and angular spread of electron wave packets strongly depends on superlattice potential magnitude or periodicity.



Figure 75. (a-f) Transmission coefficient for the electron wave packect incident on the graphene superlattice with the different lengths of half- period (150 nm, 50 nm, 30 nm, and 10 nm) within the same channel length as a function of the magnitude of superlattice potential. (a)  $E(k_c) = E_0$  and

$$\phi = \frac{\pi}{6}$$
, (b)  $E(k_c) = 2E_0$  and  $\phi = \frac{\pi}{6}$ , (c)  $E(k_c) = E_0$  and  $\phi = \frac{\pi}{4}$ , (d)  $E(k_c) = 2E_0$  and  $\phi = \frac{\pi}{4}$ , (e)  $E(k_c) = 2E_0$  and  $\phi = \frac{\pi}{3}$ , and (f)  $E(k_c) = 2E_0$  and  $\phi = \frac{\pi}{3}$ , where  $E(k_c)$  is the

energy of incident electron wave packet with the central wave vector  $\mathbf{k}_c$  and  $\phi$  is the incident angle.



The time-evolving electron probability densitiy distributions in the single-channel multi-drain graphene device under the superlattice potential with the different lengths of half- period (Figure 72e) by varying the applied voltage to the superlattice potential barrier are shown in Figure 76 for 150 nm, Figure 77 for 50 nm, Figure 78 for 30 nm, and Figure 79 for 10 nm. The single-channel multi-drain graphene device is designed with the pristine graphene (Figure 72a) or the superlattice graphene (Figure 72e). Because of the influence of the superlattice on the electron trajectory as described in Figure 73 and Figure 74, the electron wave packets propagate in the collimated form depending on the applied voltage to the superlattice potential barrier, no longer in the form of concentric circles.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 76. Time-evolving probability densitive distributions of electron wave packets in the graphene superlattice device with the 150 nm of half-period length by varying the applied voltage (0.1 eV, 0.3 eV, 0.5 eV, and 0.7 eV) to the superlattice potential barrier at 100 fs, 150 fs, 200 fs, and 250 fs.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 77. Time-evolving probability densitiy distributions of electron wave packet in the graphene superlattice device with the 50 nm of half-period length by varying the applied voltage (0.1 eV, 0.3 eV, 0.5 eV, and 0.7 eV) to the superlattice potential barrier at 100 fs, 150 fs, 200 fs, and 250 fs.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 78. Time-evolving probability densitiy distributions of electron wave packet in the graphene superlattice device with the 30 nm of half-period length by varying the applied voltage (0.1 eV, 0.3 eV, 0.5 eV, and 0.7 eV) to the superlattice potential barrier at 100 fs, 150 fs, 200 fs, and 250 fs.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 79. Time-evolving probability densitiy distributions of electron wave packet in the graphene superlattice device with the 10 nm of half-period length by varying the applied voltage (0.1 eV, 0.3 eV, 0.5 eV, and 0.7 eV) to the superlattice potential barrier at 100 fs, 150 fs, 200 fs, and 250 fs.



## 6.4 Time-Integrated Electron Probability Distribution in Graphene Superlattice

The corresponding time-integrated electron probability density distributions are shown in Figure 80. As seen in the figure, the ratio between the number of electrons flowing into the drain electrode and that of electrons flowing into the side drain can be modulated arbitrarily.



Figure 80. Time-integrated probability density distributions of electron wave packet in the graphene superlattice device with the different lengths of half- period (150 nm, 50 nm, 30 nm, and 10 nm) by varying the applied voltage (0.1 eV, 0.3 eV, 0.5 eV, and 0.7 eV) to the superlattice potential barrier.



#### 6.5 Superlattice-Periodicity-Dependent On-Off Current Ratio

. The electrons flow into either drain or side drain. If the total current is set to be the sum of drain current and side drain currents, the drain current over total current as a function of the magnitude of superlattice potential with the different lengths of half- period is obtained as shown in Figure 81. As a result of comparative analysis of different energies of incident electron wave packets, it is found that the higher energy (Figure 81b and Figure 81d) increases the number of electrons flowing through the drain due to the increased portion of normal incident electrons corresponding to the Klein tunneling compared to the smaller energy (Figure 81a and Figure 81c). Accordingly, for the higher energy, the current ratio to the side drain cannot be sufficiently modulated by varying the applied voltage to the superlattice potential. This implies that the voltage difference between the drain and the source should not be so large in order to better control the current into the side drain. Furthermore, it is difficult for the electrons to reach to the side drain with the wider channel width (Figure 81c and Figure 81d) by considering the angular spread of electron wave packets. Thus, the narrower channel width (Figure 81a and Figure 81b) is more suitable for controlling the electrons reaching to the side drain.



ULSAN NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



Figure 81. Drain current ratio (drain current over total current) as a function of the magnitude of superlattice potential with the different lengths of half- period (150 nm, 50 nm, 30 nm, and 10 nm). (a)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = E_0$  and W = 250 nm, (b)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = 2E_0$  and W = 250 nm, (c)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = E_0$  and W = 500 nm, (d)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = 2E_0$  and W = 500 nm, where  $E(\mathbf{k}_c)$  is the energy of incident electron wave packet with the central wave vector  $\mathbf{k}_c$  and W is the channel width. Note: electrons flow into either drain or side drain (total current = drain current + side drain currents).



As shown in Figure 82, the on-off current ratio is obtained as the ratio between the maximum and minimum number of electrons flowing into the drain electrode based on the current ratio in Figure 81. The smaller length of superlattice period and the narrower width of channel reveal the higher switching ratio.



Superlattice Half-period Length (nm)

Figure 82. On-off current ratio as a function of the superlattice half-period length. (a)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = E_0$ and W = 300 nm, (b)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = 2E_0$  and W = 300 nm, (c)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = E_0$  and W = 600 nm, (d)  $E(\mathbf{k}_c) = 2E_0$  and W = 600 nm, where  $E(\mathbf{k}_c)$  is the energy of incident electron wave packet with the central wave vector  $\mathbf{k}_c$  and W is the channel width.



# 6.6 Conclusion

It is demonstrated that the single-channel multi-drain graphene device where charge carriers are guided to a specific direction on purpose can be realized with the superlattice structure. Both propagation direction and angular spread of electron wave packet in the single graphene channel can be manipulated just by tuning the magnitude of applied bias or the length of the superlattice period. The ratio between the number of electrons flowing into the drain electrode and that of electrons flowing into the side drain is found to be modulated arbitrarily by tuning the magnitude of the superlattice potential. This work provides a scalable method to fabricate the graphene device large on-off current ratio while maintaining a high carrier mobility of graphene, bult also paves the way to control the practically available off-state of the graphene device overcoming the zero band-gap nature.



Figure 83. Summary of Chapter 6.



# **Appendix 1. Graphene Superlattices**

The Kronnig-Penny type one-dimensional external periodic potential is introduced in Chapter 6. In the real device application, the alternating n- and p-type doping regions on the graphene channel can be formed by applying the proper voltages on the comb-shaped top gate electrode and the global bottom gate electrode (Figure 84 and Figure 85).



Figure 84. (a,b) Scanning electron microscopy images taken on the Kronnig-Penny type superlattice structure with different lengths of half- period, about 50 nm (a) and 40 nm (b).



Figure 85. Fabrication process of the graphene superlattice device.



As discussed in Chapter 1.7.2, the well-designed superlattice structure patterned on the graphene channel functions as an interconnected network for current flow [88-97, 443-461]. In addition to the Kronnig-Penny type periodic structure [88-97] with translational invariance, the nanomesh [447-450, 461]. As shown in Figure 86, by addressing artificially patterned square- or triangular superlattices in the graphene channel, the transport pathway of charge carrier can be modulated depending on its width, interval, shape, and periodicity.



Figure 86. (a,b) Optical images taken on the graphene channel (a) with the superlattice structure (b). (c,e) Scanning electron microscopy images taken on the square superlattice structure. (d,f) Scanning electron microscopy images taken on the triangular superlattice structure.



# Appendix 2. Artificial Randomized Defects with Metal Adatom on Graphene

The artificial randomized defects induced by the metal adatom deposition on the graphene channel [147-150] can be interpreted as the graphene superlattice as well.



Figure 87. Optical image taken on the graphene Hall bar with the metal adatom.



Figure 88. (a-d) Atomic force microscopy images taken on the Au on  $SiO_2$  (a,b) and the Au on graphene/SiO₂ (c,d).


## Appendix 3. Graphene Aharonov-Bohm Inteferometer

The conductance oscillation involving localization and confinement can be also observed in the graphene with the quantum interference signature [103-122]. The Aharonov-Bohm interferometer is the most typical form for the experimental observation of conductance oscillation [108-112]. Figure 89 shows the pattern of Aharonov-Bohm interferometer with the quantum point contact and the side gate.



Figure 89. Scanning electron microscopy image taken on the pattern of Aharonov-Bohm interferomter.



## **Conclusion and Outlook**

In this dissertation, two different aspects of the ballistic carrier transport (Chapter 1.2) through the graphene (Chapter 1.3) were studied (Figure 90). Regarding the out-of-plane ballistic carrier transport (Chapter 1.2.2), the ballistic carrier transport across the graphene hetero-interface (Chapter 1.6) was highlighted owing to the IPE measurement (Chapter 1.5) enabling the direct determination of interfacial energy barrier in the entire region of Schottky junction (Chapter 1.4) with the hot carrier transport. By employing the idea of the graphene diffusion barrier (Chapter 1.6.2) and the graphene interlayer (Chapter 1.6.3), the theoretically predicted strong Fermi-level pinning effect at the metal/Si interface was experimentally explored (Chapter 2). Based on the electric dipole layer formed by graphene-metal interaction (Chapter 1.6.1), the uncommon negative Fermi-level pinning effect at the metal/GaAs interface (Chapter 3) was also observed with the graphene interlayer (Chapter 1.6.3), which is readily new discovery of unusual nature in device physics. It was found that the low barrier patches induced by the material intermixing of metal and Si atoms in the conventional metal/Si junction can be blocked (Chapter 2) by the graphene diffusion barrier (Chapter 1.6.2), while the low interface-trap region of GaAs surface can be preserved (Chapter 3) with the graphene diffusion barrier (Chapter 1.6.2). The areal fraction of low barrier patches was estimated with the parallel conduction model (Chapter 1.4.5). The graphene field-effect-transistor gated with the Si depletion layer characterizing the transport properties across the graphene channel or the graphene/Si interface (Chapter 4) revealed the the non-ideal effect of the graphene/Si junction stemming from the recombination process in the small forward bias regime. It was expected that the recombination current (Chapter 1.4.4) due to the hole carriers supplied from p-doped graphene (Chapter 1.3) survives at low temperature, offering the possibility to operate the diode at low temperature (Chapter 4). It was also demonstrated in the lateral size scaling Schottky junction (Chapter 5) with and without graphene interlayer (Chapter 1.6.3) that the charge carrier transport across the interface is mainly attributed to the thermionic emission and the tunneling (Chapter 1.4.4) near the junction edge due to the low effective Schottky barrier height. The result will contribute to solving the leakage current problems in the nanoscale device (Chapter 5). With regard to the in-plane ballistic carrier transport (Chapter 1.2.3), the ballistic carrier transport in the graphene under the superlattice was investigated by importing the useful concepts in electron quantum optics (Chapter 1.7). It was found that the propagation direction and angular spread of electron wave packets can be modulated (Chapter 6) by tuning the superlattice potential magnitude or periodicity. The superlattice combined with the idea of single-channel and multi-drain can be used to control the off-state of graphene device (Chapter 6). In conclusion, the research covered in this dissertation provides a creative perspective on the conductance switching in nano device by implementing exotic quantum phenomenon or designing a new types of architecture.



It is just like steering the electrons to imitate the photons or installing a roadblock to control the current flow. The results will not only stimulate the research interests searching for new physical phenomena in the fields of nanomaterial and device physics but also have enormous implications on the relevant communities in making next-generation electronic device. Further research needs to be required to understand the carrier transport mechanism across the interface or the fundamental physics occurring at the interface.



Figure 90. Summary and outline of dissertation. (a,b) Out-of-plane ballistic carrier transport through grapehene (a) Ballistic carrier transport across metal/graphene/semiconductor intreface. (b) Ballistic carrier transport through graphene/semiconductor intreface. (c) Ballistic carrier transport in graphene channel.



## References

- [1] Kelly, M. J., *Low-Dimensional Semiconductors: Materials, Physics, Technology, Devices.* Clarendon Press: 1995; Vol. 3.
- [2] Davies, J. H., *The Physics of Low-Dimensional Semiconductors: An Introduction*. Cambridge university press: 1998.
- [3] Qi, X.-L.; Zhang, S.-C., Topological Insulators and Superconductors. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2011, 83 (4), 1057.
- [4] Basov, D.; Averitt, R.; Hsieh, D., Towards Properties On Demand in Quantum Materials. *Nat. Mater.* 2017, 16 (11), 1077.
- [5] Erwin, S. C.; Zu, L.; Haftel, M. I.; Efros, A. L.; Kennedy, T. A.; Norris, D. J., Doping Semiconductor Nanocrystals. *Nature* 2005, 436 (7047), 91.
- [6] Alivisatos, A. P., Semiconductor Clusters, Nanocrystals, and Quantum Dots. *Science* **1996**, 271 (5251), 933-937.
- [7] Thelander, C.; Agarwal, P.; Brongersma, S.; Eymery, J.; Feiner, L.-F.; Forchel, A.; Scheffler,
   M.; Riess, W.; Ohlsson, B.; Gösele, U., Nanowire-Based One-Dimensional Electronics.
   *Materials Today* 2006, 9 (10), 28-35.
- [8] Wong, H.-S. P.; Akinwande, D., Carbon Nanotube and Graphene Device Physics. Cambridge University Press: 2011.
- [9] Ajayan, P.; Kim, P.; Banerjee, K., Van der Waals Materials. *Physics today* **2016**, 69, 9-38.
- [10] Tinkham, M., Introduction to Superconductivity. Courier Corporation: 2004.
- [11] Moore, J. E., The Birth of Topological Insulators. *Nature* **2010**, 464 (7286), 194.
- [12] Nazarov, Y. V.; Blanter, Y. M., *Quantum Transport: Introduction to Nanoscience*. Cambridge university press: 2009.
- [13] Chen, G.; Church, D. A.; Englert, B.-G.; Henkel, C.; Rohwedder, B.; Scully, M. O.; Zubairy,
   M. S., *Quantum Computing Devices: Principles, Designs, and Analysis.* Chapman and
   Hall/CRC: 2006.
- [14] Yofe, A., Physics at Surfaces. *Contemporary Physics* **1988**, 29 (4), 411-414.
- [15] Sze, S. M.; Ng, K. K., *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*. John wiley & sons: 2006.
- [16] Gantmakher, V.; Levinson, I., Scattering of Current Carriers in Metals and Semiconductors. Moscow Izdatel Nauka 1984.
- [17] Zabloudil, J.; Hammerling, R.; Szunyogh, L.; Weinberger, P., *Electron Scattering in Solid* Matter: A Theoretical and Computational Treatise. Springer Science & Business Media: 2006; Vol. 147.
- [18] Shur, M. S.; Eastman, L. F., Ballistic Transport in Semiconductor at Low Temperatures for



Low-Power High-Speed Logic. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 1979, 26 (11), 1677-1683.

- [19] Heiblum, M.; Nathan, M.; Thomas, D. C.; Knoedler, C., Direct Observation of Ballistic Transport in GaAs. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1985**, 55 (20), 2200.
- [20] Fischetti, M. V.; DiMaria, D. J.; Dori, L.; Batey, J.; Tierney, E.; Stasiak, J., Ballistic Electron Transport in Thin Silicon Dioxide Films. *Phys. Rev. B* 1987, 35 (9), 4404.
- Baranger, H. U.; DiVincenzo, D. P.; Jalabert, R. A.; Stone, A. D., Classical and Quantum Ballistic-Transport Anomalies in Microjunctions. *Phys. Rev. B* 1991, 44 (19), 10637.
- [22] Li, H. J.; Lu, W.; Li, J.; Bai, X.; Gu, C., Multichannel Ballistic Transport in Multiwall Carbon Nanotubes. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2005, 95 (8), 086601.
- [23] Du, X.; Skachko, I.; Barker, A.; Andrei, E. Y., Approaching Ballistic Transport in Suspended Graphene. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2008, 3 (8), 491.
- [24] Tse, W.-K.; Hwang, E.; Das Sarma, S., Ballistic Hot Electron Transport in Graphene. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2008, 93 (2), 023128.
- Baringhaus, J.; Ruan, M.; Edler, F.; Tejeda, A.; Sicot, M.; Taleb-Ibrahimi, A.; Li, A.-P.; Jiang,
   Z.; Conrad, E. H.; Berger, C., Exceptional Ballistic Transport in Epitaxial Graphene
   Nanoribbons. *Nature* 2014, 506 (7488), 349.
- [26] Binnig, G.; Rohrer, H.; Gerber, C.; Weibel, E., Surface Studies by Scanning Tunneling Microscopy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1982**, 49 (1), 57.
- [27] Binnig, G.; Rohrer, H., Scanning Tunneling Microscopy. *IBM Journal of Research and Development* **2000**, 44 (1/2), 279.
- [28] Binnig, G.; Rohrer, H., Scanning Tunneling Microscopy. Surf. Sci. 1983, 126 (1-3), 236-244.
- [29] Bell, L.; Kaiser, W., Observation of Interface Band Structure by Ballistic-Electron-Emission Microscopy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1988**, 61 (20), 2368.
- [30] Kaiser, W.; Bell, L., Direct Investigation of Subsurface Interface Electronic Structure by Ballistic-Electron-Emission Microscopy. In Electronic Structure of Metal-Semiconductor Contacts, Springer: 1990; pp 252-255.
- [31] Prietsch, M., Ballistic-Electron Emission Microscopy (BEEM): Studies of Metal/Semiconductor Interfaces with Nanometer Resolution. *Physics Reports* 1995, 253 (4), 163-233.
- [32] Afanas' ev, V. V., Internal Photoemission Spectroscopy: Principles and Applications. Elsevier: 2010.
- [33] Hüfner, S., *Photoelectron Spectroscopy: Principles and Applications*. Springer Science & Business Media: 2013.
- [34] Afanas' ev, V. V., Internal Photoemission Spectroscopy: Fundamentals and Recent Advances. Elsevier: 2014.



- [35] Novoselov, K. S.; Geim, A. K.; Morozov, S. V.; Jiang, D.; Zhang, Y.; Dubonos, S. V.; Grigorieva, I. V.; Firsov, A. A., Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films. *Science* 2004, 306 (5696), 666-669.
- [36] Novoselov, K. S.; Geim, A. K.; Morozov, S.; Jiang, D.; Katsnelson, M. I.; Grigorieva, I.;
   Dubonos, S.; Firsov; AA, Two-Dimensional Gas of Massless Dirac Fermions in Graphene.
   *Nature* 2005, 438 (7065), 197.
- [37] Novoselov, K. S.; Jiang, D.; Schedin, F.; Booth, T.; Khotkevich, V.; Morozov, S.; Geim, A. K., Two-Dimensional Atomic Crystals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2005, 102 (30), 10451-10453.
- [38] Zhang, Y.; Tan, Y.-W.; Stormer, H. L.; Kim, P., Experimental Observation of the Quantum Hall Effect and Berry's Phase in Graphene. *Nature* **2005**, 438 (7065), 201.
- [39] Geim, A. K., Graphene: Status and Prospects. *Science* **2009**, 324 (5934), 1530-1534.
- [40] Neto, A. C.; Guinea, F.; Peres, N. M.; Novoselov, K. S.; Geim, A. K., The Electronic Properties of Graphene. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2009, 81 (1), 109.
- [41] Avouris, P., Graphene: Electronic and Photonic Properties and Devices. *Nano Lett.* 2010, 10 (11), 4285-4294.
- [42] Geim, A. K.; Novoselov, K. S., *The Rise of Graphene*. In Nanoscience and Technology: A Collection of Reviews from Nature Journals, World Scientific: 2010; pp 11-19.
- [43] Novoselov, K. S.; Fal, V.; Colombo, L.; Gellert, P.; Schwab, M.; Kim, K., A Roadmap for Graphene. *Nature* 2012, 490 (7419), 192.
- [44] Ren, W.; Cheng, H.-M., The Global Growth of Graphene. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2014**, 9 (10), 726.
- [45] Lemme, M. C.; Echtermeyer, T. J.; Baus, M.; Kurz, H., A Graphene Field-Effect Device. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* **2007**, 28 (4), 282-284.
- [46] Westervelt, R., Graphene Nanoelectronics. *Science* **2008**, 320 (5874), 324-325.
- [47] Sarma, S. D.; Adam, S.; Hwang, E.; Rossi, E., Electronic Transport in Two-Dimensional Graphene. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2011, 83 (2), 407.
- [48] Dean, C. R.; Young, A. F.; Meric, I.; Lee, C.; Wang, L.; Sorgenfrei, S.; Watanabe, K.; Taniguchi, T.; Kim, P.; Shepard, K. L., Boron Nitride Substrates for High-Quality Graphene Electronics. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2010**, 5 (10), 722.
- [49] Bonaccorso, F.; Sun, Z.; Hasan, T.; Ferrari, A., Graphene Photonics and Optoelectronics. *Nature Photonics* 2010, 4 (9), 611.
- [50] Mueller, T.; Xia, F.; Avouris, P., Graphene Photodetectors for High-Speed Optical Communications. *Nature Photonics* 2010, 4 (5), 297.
- [51] Sun, Z.; Hasan, T.; Torrisi, F.; Popa, D.; Privitera, G.; Wang, F.; Bonaccorso, F.; Basko, D.



M.; Ferrari, A. C., Graphene Mode-Locked Ultrafast Laser. ACS Nano 2010, 4 (2), 803-810.

- [52] Liu, M.; Yin, X.; Ulin-Avila, E.; Geng, B.; Zentgraf, T.; Ju, L.; Wang, F.; Zhang, X., A Graphene-Based Broadband Optical Modulator. *Nature* 2011, 474 (7349), 64.
- [53] Pesin, D.; MacDonald, A. H., Spintronics and Pseudospintronics in Graphene and Topological Insulators. *Nat. Mater.* 2012, 11 (5), 409.
- [54] Lazić, P.; Sipahi, G. M.; Kawakami, R.; Žutić, I., Graphene Spintronics: Spin Injection and Proximity Effects from First Principles. *Phys. Rev. B* 2014, 90 (8), 085429.
- [55] Han, W.; Kawakami, R. K.; Gmitra, M.; Fabian, J., Graphene Spintronics. *Nat. Nanotechnol.*2014, 9 (10), 794.
- [56] Roche, S.; Åkerman, J.; Beschoten, B.; Charlier, J.-C.; Chshiev, M.; Dash, S. P.; Dlubak, B.;
   Fabian, J.; Fert, A.; Guimarães, M., Graphene Spintronics: The European Flagship
   Perspective. 2D Materials 2015, 2 (3), 030202.
- [57] Yu, A.; Roes, I.; Davies, A.; Chen, Z., Ultrathin, Transparent, and Flexible Graphene Films for Supercapacitor Application. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2010**, 96 (25), 253105.
- [58] Kang, J.; Kim, H.; Kim, K. S.; Lee, S.-K.; Bae, S.; Ahn, J.-H.; Kim, Y.-J.; Choi, J.-B.; Hong,
   B. H., High-Performance Graphene-Based Transparent Flexible Heaters. *Nano Lett.* 2011, 11 (12), 5154-5158.
- [59] Torrisi, F.; Hasan, T.; Wu, W.; Sun, Z.; Lombardo, A.; Kulmala, T. S.; Hsieh, G.-W.; Jung, S.;
   Bonaccorso, F.; Paul, P. J., Inkjet-Printed Graphene Electronics. ACS Nano 2012, 6 (4), 2992-3006.
- [60] Akinwande, D.; Petrone, N.; Hone, J., Two-Dimensional Flexible Nanoelectronics. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, 5, 5678.
- [61] Kim, S.; Gupta, M. K.; Lee, K. Y.; Sohn, A.; Kim, T. Y.; Shin, K. S.; Kim, D.; Kim, S. K.; Lee, K. H.; Shin, H. J., Transparent Flexible Graphene Triboelectric Nanogenerators. *Adv. Mater.* 2014, 26 (23), 3918-3925.
- [62] Kabiri Ameri, S.; Ho, R.; Jang, H.; Tao, L.; Wang, Y.; Wang, L.; Schnyer, D. M.; Akinwande, D.; Lu, N., Graphene Electronic Tattoo Sensors. *ACS Nano* 2017, 11 (8), 7634-7641.
- [63] Nomura, K.; MacDonald, A. H., Quantum Transport of Massless Dirac Fermions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2007, 98 (7), 076602.
- [64] Matulis, A.; Masir, M. R.; Peeters, F., Application of Optical Beams to Electrons in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2011, 83 (11), 115458.
- [65] Agrawal, N.; Ghosh, S.; Sharma, M., Electron Optics with Dirac Fermions: Electron Transport in Monolayer and Bilayer Graphene through Magnetic Barrier and Their Superlattices. *International Journal of Modern Physics B* 2013, 27 (10), 1341003.
- [66] Chen, S.; Han, Z.; Elahi, M. M.; Habib, K. M.; Wang, L.; Wen, B.; Gao, Y.; Taniguchi, T.;



Watanabe, K.; Hone, J., Electron Optics with PN Junctions in Ballistic Graphene. *Science* **2016**, 353 (6307), 1522-1525.

- [67] Wang, K.; Elahi, M. M.; Wang, L.; Habib, K. M.; Taniguchi, T.; Watanabe, K.; Hone, J.; Ghosh, A. W.; Lee, G.-H.; Kim, P., Graphene Transistor Based on Tunable Dirac Fermion Optics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2019**, 116 (14), 6575-6579.
- [68] Katsnelson, M. I.; Novoselov, K. S.; Geim, A. K., Chiral Tunnelling and the Klein Paradox in Graphene. *Nat. Phys.* 2006, 2 (9), 620-625.
- [69] Bai, C.; Zhang, X., Klein Paradox and Resonant Tunneling in a Graphene Superlattice. *Phys. Rev. B* **2007**, 76 (7), 075430.
- [70] Stander, N.; Huard, B.; Goldhaber-Gordon, D., Evidence for Klein Tunneling in Graphene P-N Junctions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2009, 102 (2), 026807.
- [71] Pereira Jr, J.; Peeters, F.; Chaves, A.; Farias, G., Klein Tunneling in Single and Multiple Barriers in Graphene. *Semiconductor Science and Technology* **2010**, 25 (3), 033002.
- [72] Allain, P. E.; Fuchs, J. N., Klein Tunneling in Graphene: Optics with Massless Electrons. *Eur. Phys. J. B* 2011, 83 (3), 301-317.
- [73] Cheianov, V. V.; Fal'ko, V.; Altshuler, B., The Focusing of Electron Flow and a Veselago Lens in Graphene PN Junctions. *Science* 2007, 315 (5816), 1252-1255.
- [74] Xing, Y.; Wang, J.; Sun, Q.-f., Focusing of Electron Flow in a Bipolar Graphene Ribbon with Different Chiralities. *Phys. Rev. B* **2010**, 81 (16), 165425.
- [75] Lee, G.-H.; Park, G.-H.; Lee, H.-J., Observation of Negative Refraction of Dirac Fermions in Graphene. *Nature Physics* **2015**, 11 (11), 925.
- [76] Milovanović, S.; Moldovan, D.; Peeters, F., Veselago Lensing in Graphene with a PN Junction: Classical Versus Quantum Effects. J. Appl. Phys. 2015, 118 (15), 154308.
- [77] Libisch, F.; Hisch, T.; Glattauer, R.; Chizhova, L.; Burgdörfer, J., Veselago Lens and Klein
   Collimator in Disordered Graphene. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* 2017, 29 (11), 114002.
- [78] Low, T.; Appenzeller, J., Electronic Transport Properties of a Tilted Graphene P–N Junction. *Phys. Rev. B* 2009, 80 (15), 155406.
- [79] Sutar, S.; Comfort, E.; Liu, J.; Taniguchi, T.; Watanabe, K.; Lee, J., Angle-Dependent Carrier Transmission in Graphene P–N Junctions. *Nano Lett.* 2012, 12 (9), 4460-4464.
- [80] Sajjad, R. N.; Ghosh, A. W., Manipulating Chiral Transmission by Gate Geometry: Switching in Graphene with Transmission Gaps. ACS Nano 2013, 7 (11), 9808-9813.
- [81] Rahman, A.; Guikema, J. W.; Hassan, N. M.; Marković, N., Angle-Dependent Transmission in Graphene Heterojunctions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2015, 106 (1), 013112.
- [82] Rickhaus, P.; Makk, P.; Liu, M.-H.; Richter, K.; Schönenberger, C., Gate Tuneable



Beamsplitter in Ballistic Graphene. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2015, 107 (25), 251901.

- [83] Park, C.-H.; Son, Y.-W.; Yang, L.; Cohen, M. L.; Louie, S. G., Electron Beam Supercollimation in Graphene Superlattices. *Nano Lett.* 2008, 8 (9), 2920-2924.
- [84] Wang, Z.; Liu, F., Manipulation of Electron Beam Propagation by Hetero-Dimensional Graphene Junctions. *ACS Nano* **2010**, 4 (4), 2459-2465.
- [85] Choi, S.; Park, C.-H.; Louie, S. G., Electron Supercollimation in Graphene and Dirac Fermion Materials Using One-Dimensional Disorder Potentials. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2014, 113 (2), 026802.
- [86] Morandi, O.; Barletti, L., Particle Dynamics in Graphene: Collimated Beam Limit. *Journal of Computational and Theoretical Transport* **2014**, 43 (1-7), 418-432.
- [87] Liu, M.-H.; Gorini, C.; Richter, K., Creating and Steering Highly Directional Electron Beams in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2017, 118 (6), 066801.
- [88] Park, C.-H.; Yang, L.; Son, Y.-W.; Cohen, M. L.; Louie, S. G., Anisotropic Behaviours of Massless Dirac Fermions in Graphene under Periodic Potentials. *Nature Physics* 2008, 4 (3), 213.
- [89] Park, C.-H.; Louie, S. G., Making Massless Dirac Fermions from a Patterned Two-Dimensional Electron Gas. *Nano Lett.* 2009, 9 (5), 1793-1797.
- [90] Masir, M. R.; Vasilopoulos, P.; Peeters, F., Kronig–Penney Model of Scalar and Vector Potentials in Graphene. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* 2010, 22 (46), 465302.
- [91] Barbier, M.; Vasilopoulos, P.; Peeters, F., Extra Dirac Points in the Energy Spectrum for Superlattices on Single-Layer Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2010, 81 (7), 075438.
- [92] Wang, S.; Tan, L. Z.; Wang, W.; Louie, S. G.; Lin, N., Manipulation and Characterization of Aperiodical Graphene Structures Created in a Two-Dimensional Electron Gas. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2014, 113 (19), 196803.
- [93] Park, C.-H.; Yang, L.; Son, Y.-W.; Cohen, M. L.; Louie, S. G., New Generation of Massless Dirac Fermions in Graphene under External Periodic Potentials. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2008, 101 (12), 126804.
- [94] Abedpour, N.; Esmailpour, A.; Asgari, R.; Tabar, M. R. R., Conductance of a Disordered Graphene Superlattice. *Phys. Rev. B* **2009**, 79 (16), 165412.
- [95] Yang, M.; Nurbawono, A.; Zhang, C.; Feng, Y. P.; Ariando, Two-Dimensional Graphene Superlattice Made with Partial Hydrogenation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2010, 96 (19), 193115.
- [96] Xu, Y.; Zou, J.; Jin, G., Exotic Electronic Properties in Thue–Morse Graphene Superlattices. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* 2013, 25 (24), 245301.
- [97] Lee, M.; Wallbank, J. R.; Gallagher, P.; Watanabe, K.; Taniguchi, T.; Fal'ko, V. I.; Goldhaber-Gordon, D., Ballistic Miniband Conduction in a Graphene Superlattice. *Science*



**2016**, 353 (6307), 1526-1529.

- [98] Beenakker, C., Specular Andreev Reflection in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2006**, 97 (6), 067007.
- [99] Cayssol, J., Crossed Andreev Reflection in a Graphene Bipolar Transistor. *Phys. Rev. Lett.***2008**, 100 (14), 147001.
- [100] Beenakker, C., Colloquium: Andreev Reflection and Klein Tunneling in Graphene. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2008, 80 (4), 1337.
- [101] Zareyan, M.; Mohammadpour, H.; Moghaddam, A. G., Andreev-Klein Reflection in Graphene Ferromagnet-Superconductor Junctions. *Phys. Rev. B* 2008, 78 (19), 193406.
- [102] Rainis, D.; Taddei, F.; Dolcini, F.; Polini, M.; Fazio, R., Andreev Reflection in Graphene Nanoribbons. *Phys. Rev. B* 2009, 79 (11), 115131.
- [103] Shytov, A. V.; Rudner, M. S.; Levitov, L. S., Klein Backscattering and Fabry-Pérot Interference in Graphene Heterojunctions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, 101 (15), 156804.
- [104] Gunlycke, D.; White, C., Graphene Interferometer. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 93 (12), 122106.
- [105] Young, A. F.; Kim, P., Quantum Interference and Klein Tunnelling in Graphene Heterojunctions. *Nat Phys* **2009**, 5 (3), 222-226.
- [106] Rainis, D.; Taddei, F.; Polini, M.; León, G.; Guinea, F.; Fal'ko, V. I., Gauge Fields and Interferometry in Folded Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2011, 83 (16), 165403.
- [107] Rickhaus, P.; Maurand, R.; Liu, M.-H.; Weiss, M.; Richter, K.; Schönenberger, C., Ballistic Interferences in Suspended Graphene. *Nat. Commun.* 2013, 4, 2342.
- [108] Recher, P.; Trauzettel, B.; Rycerz, A.; Blanter, Y. M.; Beenakker, C.; Morpurgo, A., Aharonov-Bohm Effect and Broken Valley Degeneracy in Graphene Rings. *Phys. Rev. B* 2007, 76 (23), 235404.
- [109] Russo, S.; Oostinga, J. B.; Wehenkel, D.; Heersche, H. B.; Sobhani, S. S.; Vandersypen, L. M.; Morpurgo, A. F., Observation of Aharonov-Bohm Conductance Oscillations in a Graphene Ring. *Phys. Rev. B* 2008, 77 (8), 085413.
- [110] Jackiw, R.; Milstein, A.; Pi, S.-Y.; Terekhov, I., Induced Current and Aharonov-Bohm Effect in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* **2009**, 80 (3), 033413.
- [111] Schelter, J.; Bohr, D.; Trauzettel, B., Interplay of the Aharonov-Bohm Effect and Klein Tunneling in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2010, 81 (19), 195441.
- [112] De Juan, F.; Cortijo, A.; Vozmediano, M. A.; Cano, A., Aharonov–Bohm Interferences from Local Deformations in Graphene. *Nature Physics* 2011, 7 (10), 810.
- [113] Khveshchenko, D., Electron Localization Properties in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2006, 97 (3), 036802.
- [114] Pereira, V. M.; Guinea, F.; Dos Santos, J. L.; Peres, N.; Neto, A. C., Disorder Induced



Localized States in Graphene. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2006, 96 (3), 036801.

- [115] Tikhonenko, F.; Horsell, D.; Gorbachev, R.; Savchenko, A., Weak Localization in Graphene Flakes. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2008, 100 (5), 056802.
- [116] Bliokh, Y. P.; Freilikher, V.; Savel'ev, S.; Nori, F., Transport and Localization in Periodic and Disordered Graphene Superlattices. *Phys. Rev. B* 2009, 79 (7), 075123.
- [117] Zhao, Q.; Gong, J.; Müller, C. A., Localization Behavior of Dirac Particles in Disordered Graphene Superlattices. *Phys. Rev. B* **2012**, 85 (10), 104201.
- [118] Berger, C.; Song, Z.; Li, X.; Wu, X.; Brown, N.; Naud, C.; Mayou, D.; Li, T.; Hass, J.; Marchenkov, A. N., Electronic Confinement and Coherence in Patterned Epitaxial Graphene. *Science* 2006, 312 (5777), 1191-1196.
- [119] Peres, N.; Neto, A. C.; Guinea, F., Dirac Fermion Confinement in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2006, 73 (24), 241403.
- [120] Liu, X.; Oostinga, J. B.; Morpurgo, A. F.; Vandersypen, L. M., Electrostatic Confinement of Electrons in Graphene Nanoribbons. *Phys. Rev. B* 2009, 80 (12), 121407.
- [121] Bardarson, J. H.; Titov, M.; Brouwer, P., Electrostatic Confinement of Electrons in an Integrable Graphene Quantum Dot. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2009, 102 (22), 226803.
- [122] Phark, S.-h.; Borme, J.; Vanegas, A. L.; Corbetta, M.; Sander, D.; Kirschner, J., Direct Observation of Electron Confinement in Epitaxial Graphene Nanoislands. *ACS Nano* 2011, 5 (10), 8162-8166.
- [123] Kim, K.; Choi, J.-Y.; Kim, T.; Cho, S.-H.; Chung, H.-J., A Role for Graphene in Silicon-Based Semiconductor Devices. Nature 2011, 479 (7373), 338.
- [124] Zhou, S. Y.; Gweon, G.-H.; Fedorov, A.; First, P., de; De Heer, W.; Lee, D.-H.; Guinea, F.;
   Neto, A. C.; Lanzara, A., Substrate-Induced Bandgap Opening in Epitaxial Graphene. *Nat. Mater.* 2007, 6 (10), 770.
- [125] Nourbakhsh, A.; Cantoro, M.; Vosch, T.; Pourtois, G.; Clemente, F.; van der Veen, M. H.; Hofkens, J.; Heyns, M. M.; De Gendt, S.; Sels, B. F., Bandgap Opening in Oxygen Plasma-Treated Graphene. *Nanotechnology* **2010**, 21 (43), 435203.
- [126] Balog, R.; Jørgensen, B.; Nilsson, L.; Andersen, M.; Rienks, E.; Bianchi, M.; Fanetti, M.; Lægsgaard, E.; Baraldi, A.; Lizzit, S., Bandgap Opening in Graphene Induced by Patterned Hydrogen Adsorption. *Nat. Mater.* **2010**, 9 (4), 315.
- [127] Denis, P. A., Band Gap Opening of Monolayer and Bilayer Graphene Doped with Aluminum, Silicon, Phosphorus, and Sulfur. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2010**, 492 (4-6), 251-257.
- [128] Dvorak, M.; Oswald, W.; Wu, Z., Bandgap Opening by Patterning Graphene. *Scientific* reports **2013**, 3, 2289.
- [129] Sahu, S.; Rout, G., Band Gap Opening in Graphene: A Short Theoretical Study. International



Nano Letters 2017, 7 (2), 81-89.

- [130] Lusk, M. T.; Carr, L. D., Nanoengineering Defect Structures on Graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2008, 100 (17), 175503.
- [131] Chen, J.-H.; Cullen, W. G.; Jang, C.; Fuhrer, M.; Williams, E. D., Defect Scattering in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2009, 102 (23), 236805.
- [132] Banhart, F.; Kotakoski, J.; Krasheninnikov, A. V., Structural Defects in Graphene. ACS Nano 2010, 5 (1), 26-41.
- [133] Karoui, S.; Amara, H.; Bichara, C.; Ducastelle, F., Nickel-Assisted Healing of Defective Graphene. *ACS Nano* **2010**, 4 (10), 6114-6120.
- [134] Liu, L.; Qing, M.; Wang, Y.; Chen, S., Defects in Graphene: Generation, Healing, and Their Effects on the Properties of Graphene: A Review. *Journal of Materials Science & Technology* 2015, 31 (6), 599-606.
- [135] Yoon, T.; Kim, J.-H.; Choi, J. H.; Jung, D. Y.; Park, I.-J.; Choi, S.-Y.; Cho, N. S.; Lee, J.-I.;
   Kwon, Y.-D.; Cho, S., Healing Graphene Defects Using Selective Electrochemical Deposition: toward Flexible and Stretchable Devices. *ACS Nano* 2016, 10 (1), 1539-1545.
- [136] Huard, B.; Sulpizio, J.; Stander, N.; Todd, K.; Yang, B.; Goldhaber-Gordon, D., Transport Measurements across a Tunable Potential Barrier in Graphene. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2007, 98 (23), 236803.
- [137] Özyilmaz, B.; Jarillo-Herrero, P.; Efetov, D.; Kim, P., Electronic Transport in Locally Gated Graphene Nanoconstrictions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2007, 91 (19), 192107.
- [138] Stampfer, C.; Schurtenberger, E.; Molitor, F.; Guttinger, J.; Ihn, T.; Ensslin, K., Tunable Graphene Single Electron Transistor. *Nano Lett.* 2008, 8 (8), 2378-2383.
- [139] Meric, I.; Han, M. Y.; Young, A. F.; Ozyilmaz, B.; Kim, P.; Shepard, K. L., Current Saturation in Zero-Bandgap, Top-Gated Graphene Field-Effect Transistors. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2008, 3 (11), 654.
- [140] Williams, J.; Low, T.; Lundstrom, M.; Marcus, C., Gate-Controlled Guiding of Electrons in Graphene. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2011, 6 (4), 222.
- [141] Nam, S.-G.; Ki, D.-K.; Park, J. W.; Kim, Y.; Kim, J. S.; Lee, H.-J., Ballistic Transport of Graphene PNP Junctions with Embedded Local Gates. *Nanotechnology* 2011, 22 (41), 415203.
- [142] Li, J.; Wang, K.; McFaul, K. J.; Zern, Z.; Ren, Y.; Watanabe, K.; Taniguchi, T.; Qiao, Z.; Zhu, J., Gate-Controlled Topological Conducting Channels in Bilayer Graphene. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2016, 11 (12), 1060.
- [143] Butler, S. Z.; Hollen, S. M.; Cao, L.; Cui, Y.; Gupta, J. A.; Gutiérrez, H. R.; Heinz, T. F.;Hong, S. S.; Huang, J.; Ismach, A. F., Progress, Challenges, and Opportunities in Two-



Dimensional Materials beyond Graphene. ACS Nano 2013, 7 (4), 2898-2926.

- [144] Fiori, G.; Bonaccorso, F.; Iannaccone, G.; Palacios, T.; Neumaier, D.; Seabaugh, A.; Banerjee, S. K.; Colombo, L., Electronics Based on Two-Dimensional Materials. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2014, 9 (10), 768.
- [145] Gupta, A.; Sakthivel, T.; Seal, S., Recent Development in 2D Materials beyond Graphene. *Prog. Mater. Sci.* 2015, 73, 44-126.
- Bhimanapati, G. R.; Lin, Z.; Meunier, V.; Jung, Y.; Cha, J.; Das, S.; Xiao, D.; Son, Y.; Strano,
   M. S.; Cooper, V. R., Recent Advances in Two-Dimensional Materials beyond Graphene. ACS Nano 2015, 9 (12), 11509-11539.
- [147] Lehtinen, P.; Foster, A. S.; Ayuela, A.; Krasheninnikov, A.; Nordlund, K.; Nieminen, R. M.,
   Magnetic Properties and Diffusion of Adatoms on a Graphene Sheet. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2003, 91 (1), 017202.
- [148] Chan, K. T.; Neaton, J.; Cohen, M. L., First-Principles Study of Metal Adatom Adsorption on Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2008, 77 (23), 235430.
- [149] Mao, Y.; Yuan, J.; Zhong, J., Density Functional Calculation of Transition Metal Adatom Adsorption on Graphene. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* 2008, 20 (11), 115209.
- [150] Liu, X.; Wang, C.; Yao, Y.; Lu, W.; Hupalo, M.; Tringides, M.; Ho, K., Bonding and Charge Transfer by Metal Adatom Adsorption on Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2011, 83 (23), 235411.
- [151] Chen, C.-C.; Aykol, M.; Chang, C.-C.; Levi, A.; Cronin, S. B., Graphene-Silicon Schottky Diodes. *Nano Lett.* 2011, 11 (5), 1863-1867.
- [152] Tongay, S.; Lemaitre, M.; Schumann, T.; Berke, K.; Appleton, B. R.; Gila, B.; Hebard, A. F., Graphene/GaN Schottky Diodes: Stability at Elevated Temperatures. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2011, 99 (10), 102102.
- [153] Sinha, D.; Lee, J. U., Ideal Graphene/Silicon Schottky Junction Diodes. *Nano Lett.* 2014, 14 (8), 4660-4664.
- [154] Di Bartolomeo, A., Graphene Schottky diodes: An Experimental Review of the Rectifying Graphene/Semiconductor Heterojunction. *Physics Reports* **2016**, 606, 1-58.
- [155] Yang, H.; Heo, J.; Park, S.; Song, H. J.; Seo, D. H.; Byun, K.-E.; Kim, P.; Yoo, I.; Chung, H.-J.; Kim, K., Graphene Barristor, a Triode Device with a Gate-Controlled Schottky Barrier. *Science* 2012, 336 (6085), 1140-1143.
- [156] Hwang, H. J.; Chang, K. E.; Yoo, W. B.; Shim, C. H.; Lee, S. K.; Yang, J. H.; Kim, S.-Y.; Lee,
  Y.; Cho, C.; Lee, B. H., A Graphene Barristor Using Nitrogen Profile Controlled ZnO Schottky Contacts. *Nanoscale* 2017, 9 (7), 2442-2448.
- [157] Kim, S.; Choi, Y. J.; Woo, H. J.; Sun, Q.; Lee, S.; Kang, M. S.; Song, Y. J.; Wang, Z. L.; Cho,J. H., Piezotronic Graphene Barristor: Efficient and Interactive Modulation of Schottky



Barrier. Nano energy 2018, 50, 598-605.

- [158] Kim, S. Y.; Hwang, J.; Kim, Y. J.; Hwang, H. J.; Son, M.; Revannath, N.; Ham, M. H.; Cho, K.; Lee, B. H., Threshold Voltage Modulation of a Graphene–ZnO Barristor Using a Polymer Doping Process. *Advanced Electronic Materials* **2019**, 1800805.
- [159] Lee, E. J.; Balasubramanian, K.; Weitz, R. T.; Burghard, M.; Kern, K., Contact and Edge Effects in Graphene Devices. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2008, 3 (8), 486.
- [160] Nagashio, K.; Nishimura, T.; Kita, K.; Toriumi, A., Contact Resistivity and Current Flow Path at Metal/Graphene Contact. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2010**, 97 (14), 143514.
- [161] Allain, A.; Kang, J.; Banerjee, K.; Kis, A., Electrical Contacts to Two-Dimensional Semiconductors. *Nat. Mater.* 2015, 14 (12), 1195.
- [162] Xu, Y.; Cheng, C.; Du, S.; Yang, J.; Yu, B.; Luo, J.; Yin, W.; Li, E.; Dong, S.; Ye, P., Contacts between Two-and Three-Dimensional Materials: Ohmic, Schottky, and P–N Heterojunctions. *ACS Nano* **2016**, 10 (5), 4895-4919.
- [163] Giovannetti, G.; Khomyakov, P.; Brocks, G.; Karpan, V. v.; Van den Brink, J.; Kelly, P. J., Doping Graphene with Metal Contacts. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, 101 (2), 026803.
- [164] Khomyakov, P.; Giovannetti, G.; Rusu, P.; Brocks, G. v.; Van den Brink, J.; Kelly, P. J., First-Principles Study of the Interaction and Charge Transfer between Graphene and Metals. *Phys. Rev. B* 2009, 79 (19), 195425.
- [165] Guo, B.; Liu, Q.; Chen, E.; Zhu, H.; Fang, L.; Gong, J. R., Controllable N-doping of Graphene. *Nano Lett.* 2010, 10 (12), 4975-4980.
- [166] Liu, H.; Liu, Y.; Zhu, D., Chemical Doping of Graphene. J. Mater. Chem. 2011, 21 (10), 3335-3345.
- [167] Yu, W. J.; Li, Z.; Zhou, H.; Chen, Y.; Wang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Duan, X., Vertically Stacked Multi-Heterostructures of Layered Materials for Logic Transistors and Complementary Inverters. *Nat. Mater.* 2013, 12 (3), 246.
- [168] Georgiou, T.; Jalil, R.; Belle, B. D.; Britnell, L.; Gorbachev, R. V.; Morozov, S. V.; Kim, Y.-J.;
  Gholinia, A.; Haigh, S. J.; Makarovsky, O., Vertical Field-Effect Transistor Based on
  Graphene–WS₂ Heterostructures for Flexible and Transparent Electronics. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2013**, 8 (2), 100.
- [169] Fisichella, G.; Greco, G.; Roccaforte, F.; Giannazzo, F., Current Transport in Graphene/AlGaN/GaN Vertical Heterostructures Probed at Nanoscale. *Nanoscale* 2014, 6 (15), 8671-8680.
- [170] Zhou, R.; Ostwal, V.; Appenzeller, J., Vertical Versus Lateral Two-Dimensional Heterostructures: on the Topic of Atomically Abrupt P/N-Junctions. *Nano Lett.* 2017, 17 (8), 4787-4792.



- [171] Geim, A. K.; Grigorieva, I. V., Van der Waals Heterostructures. *Nature* 2013, 499 (7459), 419-425.
- [172] Lee, C.-H.; Lee, G.-H.; Van Der Zande, A. M.; Chen, W.; Li, Y.; Han, M.; Cui, X.; Arefe, G.; Nuckolls, C.; Heinz, T. F., Atomically Thin P–N Junctions with Van der Waals Heterointerfaces. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2014**, 9 (9), 676.
- [173] Novoselov, K.; Mishchenko, A.; Carvalho, A.; Neto, A. C., 2D Materials and Van der Waals Heterostructures. *Science* 2016, 353 (6298), aac9439.
- [174] Liu, Y.; Weiss, N. O.; Duan, X.; Cheng, H.-C.; Huang, Y.; Duan, X., Van der Waals Heterostructures and Devices. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* 2016, 1 (9), 16042.
- Byun, K.-E.; Chung, H.-J.; Lee, J.; Yang, H.; Song, H. J.; Heo, J.; Seo, D. H.; Park, S.;
   Hwang, S. W.; Yoo, I., Graphene for True Ohmic Contact at Metal–Semiconductor Junctions.
   *Nano Lett.* 2013, 13 (9), 4001-4005.
- [176] Wong, C. P. Y.; Koek, T. J. H.; Liu, Y.; Loh, K. P.; Goh, K. E. J.; Troadec, C.; Nijhuis, C. A., Electronically Transparent Graphene Barriers against Unwanted Doping of Silicon. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2014, 6 (22), 20464-20472.
- [177] Yoon, H. H.; Jung, S.; Choi, G.; Kim, J.; Jeon, Y.; Kim, Y. S.; Jeong, H. Y.; Kim, K.; Kwon, S.-Y.; Park, K., Strong Fermi-Level Pinning at Metal/n-Si (001) Interface Ensured by Forming an Intact Schottky Contact with a Graphene Insertion Layer. *Nano Lett.* **2016**, 17 (1), 44-49.
- [178] Lee, M.-H.; Cho, Y.; Byun, K.-E.; Shin, K. W.; Nam, S.-G.; Kim, C.; Kim, H.; Han, S.-A.; Kim, S.-W.; Shin, H.-J., Two-Dimensional Materials Inserted at the Metal/Semiconductor Interface: Attractive Candidates for Semiconductor Device Contacts. *Nano Lett.* 2018, 18 (8), 4878-4884.
- [179] Liu, F.; Ming, P.; Li, J., Ab Initio Calculation of Ideal Strength and Phonon Instability of Graphene under Tension. *Phys. Rev. B* 2007, 76 (6), 064120.
- [180] Lee, C.; Wei, X.; Kysar, J. W.; Hone, J., Measurement of the Elastic Properties and Intrinsic Strength of Monolayer Graphene. *Science* 2008, 321 (5887), 385-388.
- [181] Sakhaee-Pour, A., Elastic Properties of Single-Layered Graphene Sheet. *Solid State Commun.***2009**, 149 (1-2), 91-95.
- [182] Scarpa, F.; Adhikari, S.; Phani, A. S., Effective Elastic Mechanical Properties of Single Layer Graphene Sheets. *Nanotechnology* 2009, 20 (6), 065709.
- [183] Wallace, P. R., The Band Theory of Graphite. *Physical Review* **1947**, 71 (9), 622.
- [184] Ashcroft, N. W.; Mermin, N. D., Solid State Physics. Holt, Rinehart and Winston: 1976.
- [185] Kittel, C.; McEuen, P.; McEuen, P., *Introduction to Solid State Physics*. Wiley New York: 1996; Vol. 8.



- [186] Thaller, B., *The Dirac Equation*. Springer Science & Business Media: 2013.
- [187] Tung, R., Electron Transport at Metal-Semiconductor Interfaces: General Theory. *Phys. Rev.* B 1992, 45 (23), 13509.
- [188] Tung, R., Schottky Barrier Height—Do We Really Understand What We Measure? Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena 1993, 11 (4), 1546-1552.
- [189] Tung, R. T., Recent Advances in Schottky Barrier Concepts. *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports* **2001**, 35 (1-3), 1-138.
- [190] Tung, R. T., The Physics and Chemistry of the Schottky Barrier Height. *Applied Physics Reviews* **2014**, 1 (1), 011304.
- [191] Michaelson, H. B., The Energy Band Profile across Interface of the Elements and Its Periodicity. J. Appl. Phys. 1977, 48 (11), 4729-4733.
- [192] Weinert, M.; Watson, R., Contributions to the Work Function of Crystals. *Phys. Rev. B* 1984, 29 (6), 3001.
- [193] Skriver, H. L.; Rosengaard, N., Surface Energy and Work Function of Elemental Metals. *Phys. Rev. B* 1992, 46 (11), 7157.
- [194] Haynes, W. M., CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics. CRC press: 2014.
- [195] Nevolin, V., Electron Affinity for Intrinsic Semiconductors. *Soviet Physics Journal* 1982, 25 (9), 835-838.
- [196] Schottky, W., Zur Halbleitertheorie der Sperrschicht-Und Spitzengleichrichter. Zeitschrift für *Physik* **1939**, 113 (5-6), 367-414.
- [197] Mott, N. F., The Theory of Crystal Rectifiers. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*. *Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences* **1939**, 171 (944), 27-38.
- [198] Shockley, W.; Pearson, G., Modulation of Conductance of Thin Films of Semi-Conductors by Surface Charges. *Physical Review* **1948**, 74 (2), 232.
- [199] Garrett, C.; Brattain, W. H., Physical Theory of Semiconductor Surfaces. *Physical Review* 1955, 99 (2), 376.
- [200] Heine, V., Theory of surface states. *Physical Review* **1965**, 138 (6A), A1689.
- [201] Kurtin, S.; McGill, T.; Mead, C., Fundamental Transition in the Electronic Nature of Solids. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1969**, 22 (26), 1433.
- [202] Inglesfield, J., *Surface Electronic Structure*. In Electronic Properties of Surfaces, Routledge: 2018; pp 1-69.
- [203] Flietner, H. In Passivity and Electronic Properties of the Silicon/Silicondioxide Interface, *Materials Science Forum, Trans Tech Publ:* **1995**; pp 73-82.
- [204] Mizsei, J., Fermi-Level Pinning and Passivation on the Oxide-Covered and Bare Silicon



surfaces and interfaces. Vacuum 2002, 67 (1), 59-67.

- [205] Van Otterloo, J., Schottky Barriers on Clean-Cleaved Silicon. Surface Science Letters 1981, 104 (2-3), L205-L209.
- [206] Allen, F.; Gobeli, G., Work Function, Photoelectric Threshold, and Surface States of Atomically Clean Silicon. *Physical Review* **1962**, 127 (1), 150.
- [207] Bardeen, J., Surface States and Rectification at a Metal Semi-Conductor Contact. *Physical Review* **1947**, 71 (10), 717.
- [208] Cowley, A.; Sze, S., Surface States and Barrier Height of Metal-Semiconductor Systems. J. Appl. Phys. 1965, 36 (10), 3212-3220.
- [209] Cohen, M. L., Schottky and Bardeen Limits for Schottky Barriers. *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology* **1979**, 16 (5), 1135-1136.
- [210] Flores, F.; Tejedor, C., Energy Barriers and Interface States at Heterojunctions. *Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics* **1979**, 12 (4), 731.
- [211] Wolf, D.; Yip, S., Materials Interfaces: Atomic-Level Structure and Properties. 1992.
- [212] Brillson, L. J., Surfaces and Interfaces of Electronic Materials. John Wiley & Sons: 2010; Vol. 7.
- [213] Mönch, W., Electronic Properties of Semiconductor Interfaces. Springer Science & Business Media: 2013; Vol. 43.
- [214] Hirose, M.; Altaf, N.; Arizumi, T., Contact Properties of Metal-Silicon Schottky Barriers. *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics* **1970**, 9 (3), 260.
- [215] Mönch, W., On Metal-Semiconductor Surface Sarriers. Surf. Sci. 1970, 21, 443-446.
- [216] Katnani, A.; Margaritondo, G., Empirical Rule to Predict Heterojunction Band Discontinuities. J. Appl. Phys. 1983, 54 (5), 2522-2525.
- [217] Tersoff, J., Theory of Semiconductor Heterojunctions: The Role of Quantum Dipoles. *Phys. Rev. B* **1984**, 30 (8), 4874.
- [218] Tersoff, J., Schottky Barrier Heights and the Continuum of Gap States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 1984, 52 (6), 465.
- [219] Tung, R., Schottky-Barrier Formation at Single-Crystal Metal-Semiconductor Interfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1984**, 52 (6), 461.
- [220] Tersoff, J., Schottky Barriers and Semiconductor Band Structures. *Phys. Rev. B* 1985, 32 (10), 6968.
- [221] Harrison, W.; Tersoff, J., Tight-Binding Theory of Heterojunction Band Lineups and Interface Dipoles. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena 1986, 4 (4), 1068-1073.
- [222] Mönch, W., Metal-Semiconductor Contacts: Electronic Properties. Surf. Sci. 1994, 299, 928-



944.

- [223] Tung, R. T., Chemical Bonding and Fermi Level Pinning at Metal-Semiconductor Interfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2000, 84 (26), 6078.
- [224] Tung, R. T., Formation of an Electric Dipole at Metal-Semiconductor Interfaces. *Phys. Rev. B* 2001, 64 (20), 205310.
- [225] Jones, R., Intrinsic Surface States in Semiconductors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 1968, 20 (18), 992.
- [226] Hirabayashi, K., Intrinsic Surface States in Semiconductors. I. Diamond-Type Crystals. *Journal of the Physical Society of Japan* **1969**, 27 (6), 1475-1484.
- [227] Eastman, D.; Grobman, W., Photoemission Densities of Intrinsic Surface States for Si, Ge, and GaAs. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1972**, 28 (21), 1378.
- [228] Rowe, J., Covalent Bonding of Metal Atoms at the Schottky-Barrier Interface of GaAs, Ge, and Si. *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology* **1976**, 13 (4), 798-801.
- [229] Brillson, L., The Structure and Properties of Metal-Semiconductor Interfaces. Surface Science Reports 1982, 2 (2), 123-326.
- [230] Kahn, A., Semiconductor Surface Structures. Surface science reports 1983, 3 (4-5), 193-300.
- [231] Nicollian, E. H.; Brews, J. R.; Nicollian, E. H., MOS (Metal Oxide Semiconductor) Physics and Technology. Wiley New York et al.: 1982; Vol. 1987.
- [232] Dow, J.; Allen, R.; Sankey, O., *Intrinsic and Extrinsic Surface Electronic States of Semiconductors*. In Chemistry and Physics of Solid Surfaces V, Springer: 1984; pp 483-500.
- [233] Poindexter, E. H., MOS Interface States: Overview and Physicochemical Perspective. Semiconductor Science and Technology 1989, 4 (12), 961.
- [234] Flores, F.; Perez, R.; Rincon, R.; Saiz-Pardo, R., Electron States at Semiconductor Interfaces: The Intrinsic and Extrinsic Charge Neutrality Levels. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Physical and Engineering Sciences* 1993, 344 (1673), 567-577.
- [235] Robertson, J.; Lin, L. In *Fermi Level Pinning in Si, Ge and GaAs Systems-MIGS or Defects?*,
   2009 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), IEEE: 2009; pp 1-4.
- [236] Brattain, W. H.; Shockley, W., Density of Surface States on Silicon Deduced from Contact Potential Measurements. *Physical Review* 1947, 72 (4), 345.
- [237] Terman, L. M., An Investigation of Surface States at a Silicon/Silicon Oxide Interface Employing Metal-Oxide-Silicon Diodes. *Solid-State Electron.* **1962**, 5 (5), 285-299.
- [238] Grunthaner, F.; Maserjian, J., Experimental Observations of the Chemistry of the SiO₂/Si Interface. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 1977, 24 (6), 2108-2112.
- [239] Grunthaner, F.; Grunthaner, P., Chemical and Electronic Structure of the SiO₂/Si Interface. *Materials Science Reports* 1986, 1 (2), 65-160.



- [240] Oh, J.; Yeom, H.; Hagimoto, Y.; Ono, K.; Oshima, M.; Hirashita, N.; Nywa, M.; Toriumi, A.;
   Kakizaki, A., Chemical Structure of the Ultrathin SiO₂/Si (100) Interface: An Angle-Resolved Si 2p Photoemission Study. *Phys. Rev. B* 2001, 63 (20), 205310.
- [241] Hobbs, C.; Fonseca, L.; Dhandapani, V.; Samavedam, S.; Taylor, B.; Grant, J.; Dip, L.; Triyoso, D.; Hegde, R.; Gilmer, D. In *Fermi Level Pinning at the PolySi/Metal Oxide Interface*, 2003 Symposium on VLSI Technology. Digest of Technical Papers (IEEE Cat. No. 03CH37407), IEEE: 2003; pp 9-10.
- [242] Hobbs, C. C.; Fonseca, L. R.; Knizhnik, A.; Dhandapani, V.; Samavedam, S. B.; Taylor, W. J.; Grant, J. M.; Dip, L.; Triyoso, D. H.; Hegde, R. I., In *Fermi-Level Pinning at the Polysilicon/Metal-Oxide Interface-Part II*. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 2004, 51 (6), 978-984.
- [243] Deal, B. E.; Helms, C. R., *The Physics and Chemistry of SiO*₂ and the Si-SiO₂ Interface. Springer Science & Business Media: 2013.
- [244] El-Sayed, A.-M.; Watkins, M. B.; Shluger, A. L.; Afanas'ev, V. V., Identification of Intrinsic Electron Trapping Sites in Bulk Amorphous Silica from Ab Initio Calculations. *Microelectronic Engineering* 2013, 109, 68-71.
- [245] Dimoulas, A.; Tsipas, P.; Sotiropoulos, A.; Evangelou, E., Fermi-level Pinning and Charge Neutrality Level in Germanium. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2006, 89 (25), 252110.
- [246] Nishimura, T.; Kita, K.; Toriumi, A., Evidence for Strong Fermi-Level Pinning due to Metal-Induced Gap States at Metal/Germanium Interface. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2007, 91 (12), 123123.
- [247] Grassman, T. J.; Bishop, S. R.; Kummel, A. C., An Atomic View of Fermi Level Pinning of Ge (100) by O₂. Surf. Sci. 2008, 602 (14), 2373-2381.
- [248] Yamane, K.; Hamaya, K.; Ando, Y.; Enomoto, Y.; Yamamoto, K.; Sadoh, T.; Miyao, M., Effect of Atomically Controlled Interfaces on Fermi-level Pinning at Metal/Ge Interfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2010, 96 (16), 162104.
- [249] Cardona, M.; Christensen, N. E., Acoustic Deformation Potentials and Heterostructure Band Offsets in Semiconductors. *Phys. Rev. B* 1987, 35 (12), 6182.
- [250] Walukiewicz, W., Fermi Level Dependent Native Defect Formation: Consequences for Metal–Semiconductor and Semiconductor–Semiconductor Interfaces. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena* 1988, 6 (4), 1257-1262.
- [251] Mönch, W., *Role of Virtual Gap States and Defects in Metal-Semiconductor Contacts*. In Electronic Structure of Metal-Semiconductor Contacts, Springer: 1990; pp 224-227.
- [252] Füssel, W.; Schmidt, M.; Angermann, H.; Mende, G.; Flietner, H., Defects at the Si/SiO₂ Interface: their Nature and Behaviour in Technological Processes and Stress. *Nuclear*



Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment **1996**, 377 (2-3), 177-183.

- [253] Chadi, D.; Citrin, P.; Park, C.; Adler, D.; Marcus, M.; Gossmann, H.-J., Fermi-Level-Pinning Defects in Highly N-Doped Silicon. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1997**, 79 (24), 4834.
- [254] Reddy, A.; Chan, J.; Burr, T.; Mo, R.; Wade, C.; Chidsey, C.; Michel, J.; Kimerling, L., Defect States at Silicon Surfaces. *Physica B: Condensed Matter* **1999**, 273, 468-472.
- [255] Wagner, L.; Spicer, W., Photoemission Study of the Effect of Bulk Doping and Oxygen Exposure on Silicon Surface States. *Phys. Rev. B* 1974, 9 (4), 1512.
- [256] Wilmsen, C.; Kee, R.; Geib, K., Initial Oxidation and Oxide/Semiconductor Interface Formation on GaAs. *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology* **1979**, 16 (5), 1434-1438.
- [257] Schmeisser, D.; Schnell, R.; Bogen, A.; Himpsel, F.; Rieger, D.; Landgren, G.; Morar, J., Surface Oxidation States of Germanium. *Surf. Sci.* **1986**, 172 (2), 455-465.
- [258] Gould, G.; Irene, E. *The Influence of Silicon Surface Cleaning Procedures on Silicon Oxidation*; NORTH CAROLINA UNIV AT CHAPEL HILL DEPT OF CHEMISTRY: 1986.
- [259] Ohmi, T.; Miyashita, M.; Itano, M.; Imaoka, T.; Kawanabe, I., Dependence of Thin-Oxide Films Quality on Surface Microroughness. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 1992, 39 (3), 537-545.
- [260] McKee, R.; Walker, F.; Chisholm, M., Physical Structure and Inversion Charge at a Semiconductor Interface with a Crystalline Oxide. *Science* **2001**, 293 (5529), 468-471.
- [261] Hoffman, R. L.; Mardilovich, P. P.; Herman, G. S., *Combined binary oxide semiconductor device*. Google Patents: 2007.
- [262] Kuzum, D.; Krishnamohan, T.; Pethe, A. J.; Okyay, A. K.; Oshima, Y.; Sun, Y.; McVittie, J. P.; Pianetta, P. A.; McIntyre, P. C.; Saraswat, K. C., Ge-Interface Engineering with Ozone Oxidation for Low Interface-State Density. *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 2008, 29 (4), 328-330.
- [263] Buck, T.; McKim, F., Effects of Certain Chemical Treatments and Ambient Atmospheres on Surface Properties of Silicon. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1958, 105 (12), 709-714.
- [264] Schlüter, M., Chemical Trends in Metal-Semiconductor Barrier Heights. *Phys. Rev. B* 1978, 17 (12), 5044.
- [265] Brower, K. L.; Myers, S., Chemical Kinetics of Hydrogen and (111) Si-SiO₂ Interface Defects. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1990**, 57 (2), 162-164.
- [266] De Nijs, J.; Druijf, K.; Afanas' ev, V.; Van der Drift, E.; Balk, P., Hydrogen Induced Donor-Type Si/SiO₂ Interface States. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1994**, 65 (19), 2428-2430.
- [267] Angermann, H.; Dittrich, T.; Flietner, H., Investigation of Native-Oxide Growth on HF-Treated Si (111) Surfaces by Measuring the Surface-State Distribution. *Applied Physics A*



1994, 59 (2), 193-197.

- [268] Hattori, T., Chemical Structures of the SiO₂Si Interface. *Critical Reviews in Solid State and Material Sciences* 1995, 20 (4), 339-382.
- [269] Angermann, H., Characterization of Wet-Chemically Treated Silicon Interfaces by Surface Photovoltage Measurements. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry* 2002, 374 (4), 676-680.
- [270] Zou, Y.; Kilian, L.; Schöll, A.; Schmidt, T.; Fink, R.; Umbach, E., Chemical Bonding of PTCDA on Ag Surfaces and the Formation of Interface States. *Surf. Sci.* 2006, 600 (6), 1240-1251.
- [271] Angermann, H., Conditioning of Si-Interfaces by Wet-Chemical Oxidation: Electronic Interface Properties Study by Surface Photovoltage Measurements. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2014, 312, 3-16.
- [272] Lai, S., Two-Carrier Nature of Interface-State Generation in Hole Trapping and Radiation Damage. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1981**, 39 (1), 58-60.
- [273] Lenahan, P. M.; Dressendorfer, P., Hole Traps and Trivalent Silicon Centers in Metal/Oxide/Silicon Devices. J. Appl. Phys. 1984, 55 (10), 3495-3499.
- [274] Haywood, S.; De Keersmaecker, R., Hole Trapping and Interface State Generation during Bias-Temperature Stress of SiO₂ Layers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1985**, 47 (4), 381-383.
- [275] Wang, S.; Sung, J.; Lyon, S. A., Relationship between Hole Trapping and Interface State Generation in Metal-Oxide-Silicon Structures. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1988**, 52 (17), 1431-1433.
- [276] DiMaria, D.; Buchanan, D.; Stathis, J.; Stahlbush, R., Interface States Induced by the Presence of Trapped Holes near the Silicon–Silicon-Dioxide Interface. J. Appl. Phys. 1995, 77 (5), 2032-2040.
- [277] Nishimura, T.; Kita, K.; Toriumi, A., A Significant Shift of Schottky Barrier Heights at Strongly Pinned Metal/Germanium Interface by Inserting an Ultra-Thin Insulating Film. *Applied physics express* 2008, 1 (5), 051406.
- [278] Zhou, Y.; Ogawa, M.; Han, X.; Wang, K. L., Alleviation of Fermi-level Pinning Effect on Metal/Germanium Interface by Insertion of an Ultrathin Aluminum Oxide. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2008, 93 (20), 202105.
- [279] Zhou, Y.; Han, W.; Wang, Y.; Xiu, F.; Zou, J.; Kawakami, R.; Wang, K. L., Investigating the Origin of Fermi Level Pinning in Ge Schottky Junctions Using Epitaxially Grown Ultrathin MgO Films. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2010**, 96 (10), 102103.
- [280] Martens, K.; Rooyackers, R.; Firrincieli, A.; Vincent, B.; Loo, R.; De Jaeger, B.; Meuris, M.; Favia, P.; Bender, H.; Douhard, B., Contact Resistivity and Fermi-Level Pinning in N-Type Ge Contacts with Epitaxial Si-Passivation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2011**, 98 (1), 013504.



- [281] Wang, R.; Xu, M.; Ye, P. D.; Huang, R., Schottky-Barrier Height Modulation of Metal/In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As Interfaces by Insertion of Atomic-Layer Deposited Ultrathin Al₂O₃. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena* **2011**, 29 (4), 041206.
- [282] Paramahans Manik, P.; Kesh Mishra, R.; Pavan Kishore, V.; Ray, P.; Nainani, A.; Huang, Y.-C.; Abraham, M. C.; Ganguly, U.; Lodha, S., Fermi-Level Unpinning and Low Resistivity in Contacts to N-Type Ge with a Thin ZnO Interfacial Layer. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2012**, 101 (18), 182105.
- [283] Agrawal, A.; Lin, J.; Barth, M.; White, R.; Zheng, B.; Chopra, S.; Gupta, S.; Wang, K.; Gelatos, J.; Mohney, S. E., Fermi Level Depinning and Contact Resistivity Reduction Using a Reduced Titania Interlayer in N-Silicon Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor Ohmic Contacts. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2014, 104 (11), 112101.
- [284] Hiraki, A., A model on the Mechanism of Room Temperature Interfacial Intermixing Reaction in Various Metal-Semiconductor Couples: What Triggers the Reaction? *J. Electrochem. Soc.* 1980, 127 (12), 2662-2665.
- [285] Ottaviani, G.; Tu, K.; Mayer, J., Interfacial Reaction and Schottky Barrier in Metal-Silicon Systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1980**, 44 (4), 284.
- [286] Hiraki, A.; Narusawa, T.; Gibson, W., Low Temperature Intermixing Reactions between Silicon and Metals. *MRS Online Proceedings Library Archive* **1981**, 10.
- [287] Rossi, G.; Abbati, I.; Lindau, I.; Spicer, W., Intermixing at the Early Stage of the Si (111)/Ag Interface Growth. *Applications of Surface Science* **1982**, 11, 348-354.
- [288] Kendelewicz, T.; Rossi, G.; Petro, W.; Babalola, I.; Lindau, I.; Spicer, W., Similarities in Chemical Intermixing at the Cu/InP and Cu/Si Interfaces. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena* 1983, 1 (3), 564-569.
- [289] Hiraki, A., Low Temperature Reactions at Si/metal Interfaces; What is Going on at the Interfaces? *Surface Science Reports* **1983**, 3 (7), 357-412.
- [290] Clabes, J.; Rubloff, G.; Tan, T., Chemical Reaction and Schottky-Barrier Formation at V/Si Interfaces. *Phys. Rev. B* 1984, 29 (4), 1540.
- [291] Butz, R.; Rubloff, G.; Tan, T.; Ho, P. S., Chemical and Structural Aspects of Reaction at the Ti/Si Interface. *Phys. Rev. B* 1984, 30 (10), 5421.
- [292] Grioni, M.; Joyce, J.; Chambers, S.; O'Neill, D.; Del Giudice, M.; Weaver, J., Cluster-Induced Reactions at a Metal-Semiconductor Interface: Ce on Si (111). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 1984, 53 (24), 2331.
- [293] Del Giudice, M.; Joyce, J.; Ruckman, M.; Weaver, J., Cluster Formation and Atomic Intermixing at the Reactive V/Ge (111) Interface. *Phys. Rev. B* 1985, 32 (8), 5149.



- [294] Ruckman, M.; Joyce, J.; Boscherini, F.; Weaver, J., Asymmetries in Atomic Intermixing at Au/Ge and Ge/Au Interfaces. *Phys. Rev. B* **1986**, 34 (8), 5118.
- [295] Ruckman, M.; Joyce, J.; Weaver, J., Interdiffusion and Reaction at the Fe/GaAs (110) Interface. *Phys. Rev. B* 1986, 33 (10), 7029.
- [296] Kawazu, Y.; Kudo, H.; Onari, S.; Arai, T., Initial Stage of the Interfacial Reaction between Nickel and Hydrogenated Amorphous Silicon. *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics* 1990, 29 (4R), 729.
- [297] Nakayama, T.; Itaya, S.; Murayama, D. In Nano-Scale View of Atom Intermixing at Metal/Semiconductor Interfaces, Journal of Physics: Conference Series, IOP Publishing: 2006; p 216.
- [298] Nakayama, T.; Shinji, S.; Sotome, S., Why and How Atom Intermixing Proceeds at Metal/Si Interfaces; Silicide Formation vs. Random Mixing. *ECS Transactions* 2008, 16 (10), 787-795.
- [299] Kern, W., Cleaning Solution Based on Hydrogen Peroxide for Use in Silicon Semiconductor Technology. *RCA review* 1970, 31, 187-205.
- [300] Kern, W., The Evolution of Silicon Wafer Cleaning Technology. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1990, 137 (6), 1887-1892.
- [301] Kern, W., Handbook of Semiconductor Wafer Cleaning Technology. *New Jersey: Noyes Publication* **1993**, 111-196.
- [302] Itano, M.; Kern, F. W.; Miyashita, M.; Ohmi, T., Particle Removal from Silicon Wafer Surface in Wet Cleaning Process. *IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing* 1993, 6 (3), 258-267.
- [303] Ohmi, T., Total Room Temperature Wet Cleaning for Si Substrate Surface. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1996, 143 (9), 2957-2964.
- [304] Atluri, V.; Herbots, N.; Dagel, D.; Bhagvat, S.; Whaley, S., Hydrogen Passivation of Si (100)
   Wafers as Templates for Low Temperature (T< 600 C) Epitaxy. *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms* 1996, 118 (1-4), 144-150.
- [305] Freeouf, J., Silicide Schottky Barriers: an Elemental Description. *Solid State Commun.* 1980, 33 (10), 1059-1061.
- [306] Tu, K.; Thompson, R.; Tsaur, B., Low Schottky Barrier of Rare-Earth Silicide on n-Si. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1981, 38 (8), 626-628.
- [307] Hiraki, A., Low Temperature Reactions at Si-Metal Contacts–from SIO₂ Growth due to Si– Au Reaction to the Mechanism of Silicide Formation. *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics* 1983, 22 (4R), 549.
- [308] Schmid, P., Silicide-Silicon Schottky Barriers. Helvetica Physica Acta 1985, 58 (2-3), 371-



382.

- [309] Ho, P. S.; Yang, E. S.; Evans, H. L.; Wu, X., Electronic States at Silicide-Silicon Interfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1986**, 56 (2), 177.
- [310] Rubloff, G.; Tromp, R.; Van Loenen, E., Material Reaction and Silicide Formation at the Refractory Metal/Silicon Interface. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1986**, 48 (23), 1600-1602.
- [311] Holloway, K.; Sinclair, R.; Nathan, M., Amorphous Silicide Formation by Thermal Reaction: A Comparison of Several Metal–Silicon Systems. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology* A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films 1989, 7 (3), 1479-1483.
- [312] Hayzelden, C.; Batstone, J., Silicide Formation and Silicide-Mediated Crystallization of Nickel-Implanted Amorphous Silicon Thin Films. J. Appl. Phys. **1993**, 73 (12), 8279-8289.
- [313] Chen, L. J., *Silicide Technology for Integrated Circuits*. Iet: 2004; Vol. 5.
- [314] Chen, H.-M.; Chang, C.-H.; Yu, C.-H., *Silicide Formation and Associated Devices*. Google Patents: 2014.
- [315] Spicer, W.; Lindau, I.; Gregory, P.; Garner, C.; Pianetta, P.; Chye, P., Synchrotron Radiation Studies of Electronic Structure and Surface Chemistry of GaAs, GaSb, and InP. *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology* 1976, 13 (4), 780-785.
- [316] Spicer, W.; Lindau, I.; Skeath, P.; Su, C.; Chye, P., Unified Mechanism for Schottky-Barrier Formation and III-V Oxide Interface States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1980**, 44 (6), 420.
- [317] Swarts, C.; McGill, T.; Goddard Iii, W., Reconstruction of the (110) Surface of III–V Semiconductor Compounds. *Surf. Sci.* **1981**, 110 (2), 400-414.
- [318] Vurgaftman, I.; Meyer, J. á.; Ram-Mohan, L. á., Band Parameters for III–V Compound Semiconductors and Their Alloys. *J. Appl. Phys.* **2001**, 89 (11), 5815-5875.
- [319] Schmidt, W., III-V Compound Semiconductor (001) Surfaces. Applied Physics A 2002, 75 (1), 89-99.
- [320] Huang, M.; Chang, Y.; Chang, C.; Lee, Y.; Chang, P.; Kwo, J.; Wu, T.; Hong, M., Surface Passivation of III-V Compound Semiconductors Using Atomic-Layer-Deposition-Grown Al₂O₃. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2005, 87 (25), 252104.
- [321] Xuan, Y.; Ye, P. D.; Shen, T., Substrate Engineering for High-Performance Surface-Channel III-V Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2007, 91 (23), 232107.
- [322] Hasegawa, H.; Akazawa, M., Interface Models and Processing Technologies for Surface Passivation and Interface Control in III–V Semiconductor Nanoelectronics. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2008, 254 (24), 8005-8015.
- [323] Robertson, J., Model of Interface States at III-V Oxide Interfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2009, 94 (15), 152104.



- [324] Del Alamo, J. A., Nanometre-Scale Electronics with III–V Compound Semiconductors. *Nature* **2011**, 479 (7373), 317.
- [325] Ghita, R. V.; Logofatu, C.; Negrila, C.-C.; Trupina, L.; Cotirlan-Simioniuc, C., Surface Modification of III-V Compounds Substrates for Processing Technology. *Nanoscaled Films* and Layers 2017, 115.
- [326] Gregory, P.; Spicer, W.; Ciraci, S.; Harrison, W., Surface State Band on GaAs (110) Face. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1974**, 25 (9), 511-514.
- [327] Guichar, G.; Sebenne, C.; Garry, G., Intrinsic and Defect-Induced Surface States of Cleaved GaAs (110). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1976**, 37 (17), 1158.
- [328] Bachrach, R., Metal–Semiconductor Surface and Interface States on (110) GaAs. *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology* 1978, 15 (4), 1340-1343.
- [329] Mele, E. J.; Joannopoulos, J., Electronic States at Unrelaxed and Relaxed GaAs (110) surfaces. *Phys. Rev. B* **1978**, 17 (4), 1816.
- [330] Kreutz, E., Character of Surface States at GaAs Surfaces. *physica status solidi* (a) 1979, 56
  (2), 687-696.
- [331] Grant, R.; Waldrop, J.; Kowalczyk, S.; Kraut, E., Correlation of GaAs surface chemistry and Interface Fermi-level position: A Single Defect Model Interpretation. *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology* **1981**, 19 (3), 477-480.
- [332] Spicer, W.; Newman, N.; Spindt, C.; Liliental-Weber, Z.; Weber, E., "Pinning" and Fermi Level Movement at GaAs Surfaces and Interfaces. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology* A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films 1990, 8 (3), 2084-2089.
- [333] dachi, S., GaAs and Related Materials: Bulk Semiconducting and Superlattice Properties. World Scientific: 1994.
- [334] Drummond, T. J., Schottky Barriers on GaAs: Screened Pinning at Defect Levels. *Phys. Rev. B* 1999, 59 (12), 8182.
- [335] Hudait, M.; Krupanidhi, S., Interface States Density Distribution in Au/n-GaAs Schottky Diodes on n-Ge and n-GaAs Substrates. *Materials Science and Engineering: B* 2001, 87 (2), 141-147.
- [336] Altuntaş, H.; Altındal, Ş.; Özçelik, S.; Shtrikman, H., Electrical Characteristics of Au/n-GaAs Schottky Barrier Diodes with and without SiO₂ Insulator Layer at Room Temperature. *Vacuum* 2009, 83 (7), 1060-1065.
- [337] Colleoni, D.; Miceli, G.; Pasquarello, A., Fermi-Level Pinning through Defects at GaAs/Oxide Interfaces: A Density Functional Study. *Phys. Rev. B* 2015, 92 (12), 125304.
- [338] Colleoni, D.; Miceli, G.; Pasquarello, A., Band Alignment and Chemical Bonding at the GaAs/Al₂O₃ Interface: A Hybrid Functional Study. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2015**, 107 (21), 211601.



- [339] Cheng, C.-P.; Chen, W.-S.; Lin, K.-Y.; Wei, G.-J.; Cheng, Y.-T.; Lin, Y.-H.; Wan, H.-W.; Pi, T.-W.; Tung, R. T.; Kwo, J., Atomic Nature of the Schottky Barrier Height Formation of the Ag/GaAs (001)-2× 4 Interface: An In-Situ Synchrotron Radiation Photoemission Study. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2017, 393, 294-298.
- [340] Mead, C. A., Metal-Semiconductor Surface Barriers. *Solid-State Electron.* **1966**, 9 (11-12), 1023-1033.
- [341] Chang, C.; Sze, S., Carrier Transport across Metal-Semiconductor Barriers. *Solid-State Electron.* **1970**, 13 (6), 727-740.
- [342] Rhoderick, E. H., Metal-Semiconductor Contacts. *IEE Proceedings I-Solid-State and Electron Devices* **1982**, 129 (1), 1.
- [343] Bethe, H. A., *Theory of the Boundary Layer of Crystal Rectifiers*. In Semiconductor Devices: Pioneering Papers, World Scientific: 1991; pp 387-399.
- [344] Dushman, S., Thermionic Emission. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **1930**, 2 (4), 381.
- [345] Herring, C.; Nichols, M., Thermionic Emission. Rev. Mod. Phys. 1949, 21 (2), 185.
- [346] Crowell, C., The Richardson Constant for Thermionic Emission in Schottky Barrier Diodes. *Solid-State Electron.* **1965**, 8 (4), 395-399.
- [347] Yang, Y.; Coon, D.; Shepard, P., Thermionic Emission in Silicon at Temperatures below 30 K. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1984, 45 (7), 752-754.
- [348] Cheung, S.; Cheung, N., Extraction of Schottky Diode Parameters from Forward Current-Voltage Characteristics. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1986**, 49 (2), 85-87.
- [349] Parker, G.; Mead, C., Tunneling in CdTe Schottky Barriers. *Physical Review* 1969, 184 (3), 780.
- [350] Rideout, V.; Crowell, C., Effects of Image Force and Tunneling on Current Transport in Metal-Semiconductor (Schottky Barrier) Contacts. *Solid-State Electron.* 1970, 13 (7), 993-1009.
- [351] Crofton, J.; Sriram, S., Reverse Leakage Current Calculations for SiC Schottky Contacts. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* **1996**, 43 (12), 2305-2307.
- [352] Yu, L.; Liu, Q.; Xing, Q.; Qiao, D.; Lau, S.; Redwing, J., The Role of the Tunneling Component in the Current–Voltage Characteristics of Metal-GaN Schottky diodes. J. Appl. Phys. 1998, 84 (4), 2099-2104.
- [353] Hashizume, T.; Kotani, J.; Hasegawa, H., Leakage Mechanism in GaN and AlGaN Schottky Interfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2004, 84 (24), 4884-4886.
- [354] Panayotatos, P.; Card, H., Recombination in the Space-Charge Region of Schottky Barrier Solar cells. Solid-State Electron. 1980, 23 (1), 41-47.
- [355] Wittmer, M., Carrier Recombination and High-Barrier Schottky Diodes on Silicon. Applied



*Physics A* **1990**, 51 (6), 451-454.

- [356] Chen, T.; Lee, T.; Fung, S.; Beling, C., Determination of the Recombination Current in Schottky Diodes from Photovoltage Measurements. *Physica Status Solidi (a)* **1993**, 138 (1), K55-K58.
- [357] Woods, N.; Hall, S., On the Contribution of Recombination Currents in Schottky Barrier Diodes. *Semiconductor science and technology* **1994**, 9 (12), 2295.
- [358] Wang, X.; He, L., Effects of Recombination Current on the Current–Voltage Characteristics in Metal–InGaAs Schottky Diodes. J. Appl. Phys. 1998, 84 (3), 1449-1453.
- [359] Güttler, H. H.; Werner, J. H., Influence of Barrier Inhomogeneities on Noise at Schottky Contacts. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1990**, 56 (12), 1113-1115.
- [360] Tanabe, A.; Konuma, K.; Teranishi, N.; Tohyama, S.; Masubuchi, K., Influence of Fermi-Level Pinning on Barrier Height Inhomogeneity in PtSi/p-Si Schottky Contacts. J. Appl. Phys. 1991, 69 (2), 850-853.
- [361] Werner, J. H.; Güttler, H. H., Barrier Inhomogeneities at Schottky Contacts. J. Appl. Phys. 1991, 69 (3), 1522-1533.
- [362] Werner, J. H.; Güttler, H. H., Transport Properties of Inhomogeneous Schottky Contacts. *Physica Scripta* 1991, 1991 (T39), 258.
- [363] Tung, R.; Levi, A.; Sullivan, J.; Schrey, F., Schottky-Barrier Inhomogeneity at Epitaxial NiSi₂ Interfaces on Si (100). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1991**, 66 (1), 72.
- [364] Tung, R.; Sullivan, J.; Schrey, F., On the Inhomogeneity of Schottky Barriers. *Materials Science and Engineering: B* **1992**, 14 (3), 266-280.
- [365] Bhatnagar, M.; Baliga, B. J.; Kirk, H.; Rozgonyi, G., Effect of Surface Inhomogeneities on the Electrical Characteristics of SiC Schottky Contacts. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 1996, 43 (1), 150-156.
- [366] Defives, D.; Noblanc, O.; Dua, C.; Brylinski, C.; Barthula, M.; Aubry-Fortuna, V.; Meyer, F., Barrier Inhomogeneities and Electrical Characteristics of Ti/4H-SiC Schottky Rectifiers. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 1999, 46 (3), 449-455.
- [367] Mönch, W., Barrier Heights of Real Schottky Contacts Explained by Metal-Induced Gap States and Lateral Inhomogeneities. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena* 1999, 17 (4), 1867-1876.
- [368] Osvald, J., Numerical Study of Electrical Transport in Inhomogeneous Schottky Diodes. J. Appl. Phys. 1999, 85 (3), 1935-1942.
- [369] Zhu, S.; Van Meirhaeghe, R.; Detavernier, C.; Cardon, F.; Ru, G.-P.; Qu, X.-P.; Li, B.-Z., Barrier height Inhomogeneities of Epitaxial CoSi₂ Schottky Contacts on n-Si (100) and (111).



Solid-State Electron. 2000, 44 (4), 663-671.

- [370] Im, H.-J.; Ding, Y.; Pelz, J.; Choyke, W., Nanometer-Scale Test of the Tung Model of Schottky-Barrier Height Inhomogeneity. *Phys. Rev. B* 2001, 64 (7), 075310.
- [371] Hsu, J.; Manfra, M.; Lang, D.; Richter, S.; Chu, S.; Sergent, A.; Kleiman, R.; Pfeiffer, L.; Molnar, R., Inhomogeneous Spatial Distribution of Reverse Bias Leakage in GaN Schottky Diodes. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2001, 78 (12), 1685-1687.
- [372] Chand, S., An Accurate Approach for Analysing an Inhomogeneous Schottky Diode with a Gaussian Distribution of Barrier Heights. *Semiconductor science and technology* 2002, 17 (7), L36.
- [373] Calvet, L.; Wheeler, R.; Reed, M., Electron Transport Measurements of Schottky Barrier Inhomogeneities. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2002, 80 (10), 1761-1763.
- [374] Chand, S.; Bala, S., Analysis of Current–Voltage Characteristics of Inhomogeneous Schottky Diodes at Low Temperatures. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2005**, 252 (2), 358-363.
- [375] Leroy, W.; Opsomer, K.; Forment, S.; Van Meirhaeghe, R., The Barrier Height Inhomogeneity in Identically Prepared Au/n-GaAs Schottky Barrier Diodes. *Solid-State Electron.* 2005, 49 (6), 878-883.
- [376] Iucolano, F.; Roccaforte, F.; Giannazzo, F.; Raineri, V., Barrier Inhomogeneity and Electrical Properties of Pt/Ga N Schottky Contacts. J. Appl. Phys. 2007, 102 (11), 113701.
- [377] Hamida, A. F.; Ouennoughi, Z.; Sellai, A.; Weiss, R.; Ryssel, H., Barrier Inhomogeneities of Tungsten Schottky Diodes on 4H-SiC. *Semiconductor Science and Technology* 2008, 23 (4), 045005.
- [378] Tung, R., Electron Transport of Inhomogeneous Schottky Barriers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 1991, 58 (24), 2821-2823.
- [379] Sullivan, J.; Tung, R.; Pinto, M.; Graham, W., Electron Transport of Inhomogeneous Schottky Barriers: A Numerical Study. *J. Appl. Phys.* **1991**, 70 (12), 7403-7424.
- [380] Fowler, R. H., The Analysis of Photoelectric Sensitivity Curves for Clean Metals at Various Temperatures. *Physical Review* **1931**, 38 (1), 45.
- [381] Berglund, C. N.; Spicer, W. E., Photoemission Studies of Copper and Silver: Theory. *Physical Review* 1964, 136 (4A), A1030.
- [382] Powell, R., Interface Barrier Energy Determination from Voltage Dependence of Photoinjected Currents. J. Appl. Phys. **1970**, 41 (6), 2424-2432.
- [383] Dalal, V. L., Simple Model for Internal Photoemission. J. Appl. Phys. 1971, 42 (6), 2274-2279.
- [384] Helman, J.; Sanchez-Sinencio, F., Theory of Internal Photoemission. *Phys. Rev. B* **1973**, 7 (8), 3702.



- [385] Hartstein, A.; Weinberg, Z., Unified Theory of Internal Photoemission and Photon-Assisted Tunneling. *Phys. Rev. B* 1979, 20 (4), 1335.
- [386] Afanas' ev, V.; Stesmans, A., Internal Photoemission at Interfaces of High-κ Insulators with Semiconductors and Metals. J. Appl. Phys. 2007, 102 (8), 5.
- [387] Afanas' ev, V. V., Electron Band Alignment at Interfaces of Semiconductors with Insulating Oxides: An Internal Photoemission Study. *Adv. Condens. Matter Phys.* **2014**, 2014.
- [388] Bardi, J.; Binggeli, N.; Baldereschi, A., Existence of Localized Interface States in Metal/GaAs (100) Junctions: Au Versus Al Contacts. *Phys. Rev. B* 2000, 61 (8), 5416.
- [389] Yoon, H. H.; Song, W.; Jung, S.; Kim, J.; Mo, K.; Choi, G.; Jeong, H. Y.; Lee, J. H.; Park, K., Negative Fermi-level Pinning Effect of Metal/n-GaAs (001) Junction Induced by Graphene Interlayer. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2019.
- [390] Stankovich, S.; Dikin, D. A.; Piner, R. D.; Kohlhaas, K. A.; Kleinhammes, A.; Jia, Y.; Wu, Y.; Nguyen, S. T.; Ruoff, R. S., Synthesis of Graphene-Based Nanosheets via Chemical Reduction of Exfoliated Graphite Oxide. *Carbon* 2007, 45 (7), 1558-1565.
- [391] Ruoff, R., Graphene: Calling All Chemists. Nat. Nanotechnol. 2008, 3 (1), 10.
- [392] Li, X.; Cai, W.; An, J.; Kim, S.; Nah, J.; Yang, D.; Piner, R.; Velamakanni, A.; Jung, I.; Tutuc,
   E., Large-Area Synthesis of High-Quality and Uniform Graphene Films on Copper Foils.
   *Science* 2009, 324 (5932), 1312-1314.
- [393] Li, X.; Zhu, Y.; Cai, W.; Borysiak, M.; Han, B.; Chen, D.; Piner, R. D.; Colombo, L.; Ruoff, R. S., Transfer of Large-Area Graphene Films for High-Performance Transparent Conductive Electrodes. *Nano Lett.* 2009, 9 (12), 4359-4363.
- [394] Regan, W.; Alem, N.; Alemán, B.; Geng, B.; Girit, Ç.; Maserati, L.; Wang, F.; Crommie, M.;
   Zettl, A., A Direct Transfer of Layer-Area Graphene. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2010, 96 (11), 113102.
- [395] Caldwell, J. D.; Anderson, T. J.; Culbertson, J. C.; Jernigan, G. G.; Hobart, K. D.; Kub, F. J.; Tadjer, M. J.; Tedesco, J. L.; Hite, J. K.; Mastro, M. A., Technique for the Dry Transfer of Epitaxial Graphene onto Arbitrary Substrates. ACS Nano 2010, 4 (2), 1108-1114.
- [396] Bae, S.; Kim, H.; Lee, Y.; Xu, X.; Park, J.-S.; Zheng, Y.; Balakrishnan, J.; Lei, T.; Kim, H. R.; Song, Y. I., Roll-to-Roll Production of 30-Inch Graphene Films for Transparent Electrodes. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2010, 5 (8), 574.
- [397] Lee, Y.; Bae, S.; Jang, H.; Jang, S.; Zhu, S.-E.; Sim, S. H.; Song, Y. I.; Hong, B. H.; Ahn, J.-H., Wafer-Scale Synthesis and Transfer of Graphene Films. *Nano Lett.* 2010, 10 (2), 490-493.
- [398] Regan, W.; Alem, N.; Alemán, B.; Geng, B.; Girit, Ç.; Maserati, L.; Wang, F.; Crommie, M.;Zettl, A., A Direct Transfer of Layer-Area Graphene. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2010, 96 (11), 113102.



- [399] Lock, E. H.; Baraket, M.; Laskoski, M.; Mulvaney, S. P.; Lee, W. K.; Sheehan, P. E.; Hines, D. R.; Robinson, J. T.; Tosado, J.; Fuhrer, M. S., High-Quality Uniform Dry Transfer of Graphene to Polymers. *Nano Lett.* 2011, 12 (1), 102-107.
- [400] Liang, X.; Sperling, B. A.; Calizo, I.; Cheng, G.; Hacker, C. A.; Zhang, Q.; Obeng, Y.; Yan, K.; Peng, H.; Li, Q., Toward Clean and Crackless Transfer of Graphene. ACS Nano 2011, 5 (11), 9144-9153.
- [401] Suk, J. W.; Kitt, A.; Magnuson, C. W.; Hao, Y.; Ahmed, S.; An, J.; Swan, A. K.; Goldberg, B.
  B.; Ruoff, R. S., Transfer of CVD-Grown Monolayer Graphene onto Arbitrary Substrates. *ACS Nano* 2011, 5 (9), 6916-6924.
- [402] Lin, Y.-C.; Lu, C.-C.; Yeh, C.-H.; Jin, C.; Suenaga, K.; Chiu, P.-W., Graphene Annealing: How Clean Can It Be? *Nano Lett.* 2011, 12 (1), 414-419.
- [403] Kang, J.; Shin, D.; Bae, S.; Hong, B. H., Graphene Transfer: Key for Applications. *Nanoscale* 2012, 4 (18), 5527-5537.
- [404] Her, M.; Beams, R.; Novotny, L., Graphene Transfer with Reduced Residue. *Physics Letters* A **2013**, 377 (21-22), 1455-1458.
- [405] Fechine, G. J.; Martin-Fernandez, I.; Yiapanis, G.; Bentini, R.; Kulkarni, E. S.; de Oliveira, R.
  V. B.; Hu, X.; Yarovsky, I.; Neto, A. H. C.; Özyilmaz, B., Direct Dry Transfer of Chemical Vapor Deposition Graphene to Polymeric Substrates. *Carbon* 2015, 83, 224-231.
- [406] Jung, S.; Yoon, H. H.; Jin, H.; Mo, K.; Choi, G.; Lee, J.; Park, H.; Park, K., Reduction of Water-Molecule-Induced Current-Voltage Hysteresis in Graphene Field Effect Transistor with Semi-Dry Transfer Using Flexible Supporter. J. Appl. Phys. 2019, 125 (18), 184302.
- [407] Chen, S.; Brown, L.; Levendorf, M.; Cai, W.; Ju, S.-Y.; Edgeworth, J.; Li, X.; Magnuson, C.
  W.; Velamakanni, A.; Piner, R. D., Oxidation Resistance of Graphene-Coated Cu and Cu/Ni
  Alloy. ACS Nano 2011, 5 (2), 1321-1327.
- [408] Topsakal, M.; Şahin, H.; Ciraci, S., Graphene Coatings: An Efficient Protection from Oxidation. *Phys. Rev. B* 2012, 85 (15), 155445.
- [409] Kim, H.-Y.; Lee, C.; Kim, J.; Ren, F.; Pearton, S., Graphene as a diffusion barrier for Al and Ni/Au contacts on silicon. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena* 2012, 30 (3), 030602.
- [410] Hong, J.; Lee, S.; Lee, S.; Han, H.; Mahata, C.; Yeon, H.-W.; Koo, B.; Kim, S.-I.; Nam, T.;
   Byun, K., Graphene as an Atomically Thin Barrier to Cu Diffusion into Si. *Nanoscale* 2014, 6 (13), 7503-7511.
- [411] Ahlberg, P.; Jeong, S. H.; Jiao, M.; Wu, Z.; Jansson, U.; Zhang, S.-L.; Zhang, Z.-B., Graphene as a Diffusion Barrier in Galinstan-Solid Metal Contacts. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 2014, 61 (8), 2996-3000.



- [412] Morrow, W. K.; Pearton, S. J.; Ren, F., Review of Graphene as a Solid State Diffusion Barrier. Small 2016, 12 (1), 120-134.
- [413] Jariwala, D.; Marks, T. J.; Hersam, M. C., Mixed-Dimensional Van der Waals Heterostructures. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, 16 (2), 170.
- [414] Jang, J.; Lee, Y.; Yoon, J.-Y.; Yoon, H. H.; Koo, J.; Choe, J.; Jeon, S.; Sung, J.; Park, J.; Lee, W. C., One-Dimensional Assembly on Two-Dimensions: AuCN Nanowire Epitaxy on Graphene for Hybrid Phototransistors. *Nano Lett.* 2018, 18 (10), 6214-6221.
- [415] Zhang, Z.; Lin, P.; Liao, Q.; Kang, Z.; Si, H.; Zhang, Y., Graphene-Based Mixed-Dimensional van der Waals Heterostructures for Advanced Optoelectronics. *Adv. Mater.* 2019, 31 (37), 1806411.
- [416] Pauli, W., Über den Zusammenhang des Abschlusses der Elektronengruppen im Atom mit der Komplexstruktur der Spektren. Zeitschrift für Physik A Hadrons and Nuclei 1925, 31 (1), 765-783.
- [417] Pauli, W., Remarks on the History of the Exclusion Principle. *Science* **1946**, 103 (2669), 213-215.
- [418] Kaplan, I. G., The Pauli Exclusion Principle: Origin, Verifications, and Applications. John Wiley & Sons: 2017.
- [419] Steane, A., Quantum Computing. *Reports on Progress in Physics* 1998, 61 (2), 117.
- [420] Lo, H.-K.; Spiller, T.; Popescu, S., *Introduction to Quantum Computation and Information*. World Scientific: 1998.
- [421] Leff, H.; Rex, A. F., *Maxwell's Demon 2 Entropy, Classical and Quantum Information, Computing.* CRC Press: 2002.
- [422] Störmer, H.; Dingle, R.; Gossard, A.; Wiegmann, W.; Sturge, M., Two-Dimensional Electron Gas at a Semiconductor-Semiconductor Interface. *Solid State Commun.* 1979, 29 (10), 705-709.
- [423] Delagebeaudeuf, D.; Linh, N. T., Metal-(n) AlGaAs-GaAs Two-Dimensional Electron Gas FET. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 1982, 29 (6), 955-960.
- [424] Kallin, C.; Halperin, B., Excitations from a Filled Landau Level in the Two-Dimensional Electron Gas. *Phys. Rev. B* **1984**, 30 (10), 5655.
- [425] Hirakawa, K.; Sakaki, H., Mobility of the Two-Dimensional Electron Gas at Selectively Doped N-Type Al_xGa_{1-x}As/GaAs Heterojunctions with Controlled Electron Concentrations. *Phys. Rev. B* 1986, 33 (12), 8291.
- [426] Van Wees, B.; Van Houten, H.; Beenakker, C.; Williamson, J. G.; Kouwenhoven, L.; Van der Marel, D.; Foxon, C., Quantized Conductance of Point Contacts in a Two-Dimensional Electron Gas. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1988**, 60 (9), 848.



- [427] Tanatar, B.; Ceperley, D. M., Ground State of the Two-Dimensional Electron Gas. *Phys. Rev. B* 1989, 39 (8), 5005.
- [428] Pfeiffer, L.; West, K.; Stormer, H.; Eisenstein, J.; Baldwin, K.; Gershoni, D.; Spector, J.,
   Formation of a High Quality Two-Dimensional Electron Gas on Cleaved GaAs. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 1990, 56 (17), 1697-1699.
- [429] Crommie, M.; Lutz, C.; Eigler, D., Imaging Standing Waves in a Two-Dimensional Electron Gas. *Nature* 1993, 363 (6429), 524.
- [430] Topinka, M.; LeRoy, B. J.; Westervelt, R.; Shaw, S.; Fleischmann, R.; Heller, E.; Maranowski, K.; Gossard, A., Coherent Branched Flow in a Two-Dimensional Electron Gas. *Nature* 2001, 410 (6825), 183.
- [431] Thiel, S.; Hammerl, G.; Schmehl, A.; Schneider, C. W.; Mannhart, J., Tunable Quasi-Two-Dimensional Electron Gases in Oxide Heterostructures. *Science* **2006**, 313 (5795), 1942-1945.
- [432] Goldstein, H.; Poole, C.; Safko, J., *Classical Mechanics*. AAPT: 2002.
- [433] Halliday, D.; Resnick, R.; Walker, J., Fundamentals of Physics. John Wiley & Sons: 2013.
- [434] Marion, J. B., *Classical Dynamics of Particles and Systems*. Academic Press: 2013.
- [435] Sakurai, J. J.; Commins, E. D., Modern Quantum Mechanics, Revised Edition. AAPT: 1995.
- [436] Shankar, R., *Principles of Quantum Mechanics*. Springer Science & Business Media: 2012.
- [437] Griffiths, D. J.; Schroeter, D. F., *Introduction to Quantum Mechanics*. Cambridge University Press: 2018.
- [438] Klein, O., Die Reflexion von Elektronen an einem Potentialsprung nach der relativistischen Dynamik von Dirac. *Zeitschrift für Physik* **1929**, 53 (3-4), 157-165.
- [439] Calogeracos, A.; Dombey, N., History and Physics of the Klein Paradox. *Contemporary physics* **1999**, 40 (5), 313-321.
- [440] Bjorken, J. D.; Drell, S. D., *Relativistic Quantum Mechanics*. McGraw-Hill: 1965.
- [441] Greiner, W., *Relativistic Quantum Mechanics*. Springer: 1990; Vol. 3.
- [442] Dirac, P. A. M., *Lectures on Quantum Mechanics*. Courier Corporation: 2001; Vol. 2.
- [443] Wang, X.; Ouyang, Y.; Li, X.; Wang, H.; Guo, J.; Dai, H., Room-Temperature All-Semiconducting Sub-10-nm Graphene Nanoribbon Field-Effect Transistors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2008, 100 (20), 206803.
- [444] Li, X.; Wang, X.; Zhang, L.; Lee, S.; Dai, H., Chemically Derived, Ultrasmooth Graphene Nanoribbon Semiconductors. *Science* 2008, 319 (5867), 1229-1232.
- [445] Cai, J.; Ruffieux, P.; Jaafar, R.; Bieri, M.; Braun, T.; Blankenburg, S.; Muoth, M.; Seitsonen,
  A. P.; Saleh, M.; Feng, X., Atomically Precise Bottom-up Fabrication of Graphene Nanoribbons. *Nature* 2010, 466 (7305), 470.
- [446] Sprinkle, M.; Ruan, M.; Hu, Y.; Hankinson, J.; Rubio-Roy, M.; Zhang, B.; Wu, X.; Berger, C.;



De Heer, W. A., Scalable Templated Growth of Graphene Nanoribbons on SiC. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2010**, 5 (10), 727.

- [447] Bai, J.; Zhong, X.; Jiang, S.; Huang, Y.; Duan, X., Graphene Nanomesh. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2010**, 5 (3), 190.
- [448] Akhavan, O., Graphene Nanomesh by ZnO Nanorod Photocatalysts. *ACS Nano* **2010**, 4 (7), 4174-4180.
- [449] Liang, X.; Jung, Y.-S.; Wu, S.; Ismach, A.; Olynick, D. L.; Cabrini, S.; Bokor, J., Formation of Bandgap and Subbands in Graphene Nanomeshes with Sub-10 nm Ribbon Width Fabricated Via Nanoimprint Lithography. *Nano Lett.* 2010, 10 (7), 2454-2460.
- [450] Zeng, Z.; Huang, X.; Yin, Z.; Li, H.; Chen, Y.; Li, H.; Zhang, Q.; Ma, J.; Boey, F.; Zhang, H.,
   Fabrication of Graphene Nanomesh by Using an Anodic Aluminum Oxide Membrane as a Template. *Adv. Mater.* 2012, 24 (30), 4138-4142.
- [451] Meyer, J. C.; Girit, C.; Crommie, M.; Zettl, A., Hydrocarbon Lithography on Graphene Membranes. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 92 (12), 123110.
- [452] Ponomarenko, L.; Gorbachev, R.; Yu, G.; Elias, D.; Jalil, R.; Patel, A.; Mishchenko, A.;
   Mayorov, A.; Woods, C.; Wallbank, J., Cloning of Dirac Fermions in Graphene Superlattices.
   *Nature* 2013, 497 (7451), 594.
- [453] Sandner, A.; Preis, T.; Schell, C.; Giudici, P.; Watanabe, K.; Taniguchi, T.; Weiss, D.; Eroms,
   J., Ballistic Transport in Graphene Antidot Lattices. *Nano Lett.* 2015, 15 (12), 8402-8406.
- [454] Lu, T.-M.; Laroche, D.; Huang, S.-H.; Chuang, Y.; Li, J.-Y.; Liu, C., High-Mobility Capacitively-Induced Two-Dimensional Electrons in a Lateral Superlattice Potential. *Scientific Reports* 2016, 6, 20967.
- [455] Brey, L.; Palacios, J., Exchange-Induced Charge Inhomogeneities in Rippled Neutral Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2008, 77 (4), 041403.
- [456] Isacsson, A.; Jonsson, L. M.; Kinaret, J. M.; Jonson, M., Electronic Superlattices in Corrugated Graphene. *Phys. Rev. B* 2008, 77 (3), 035423.
- [457] Bao, W.; Miao, F.; Chen, Z.; Zhang, H.; Jang, W.; Dames, C.; Lau, C. N., Controlled Ripple Texturing of Suspended Graphene and Ultrathin Graphite Membranes. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2009, 4 (9), 562.
- [458] Wang, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Liu, F., Formation of Hydrogenated Graphene Nanoripples by Strain Engineering and Directed Surface Self-Assembly. *Phys. Rev. B* 2011, 83 (4), 041403.
- [459] Withers, F.; Bointon, T. H.; Dubois, M.; Russo, S.; Craciun, M. F., Nanopatterning of Fluorinated Graphene by Electron Beam Irradiation. *Nano Lett.* 2011, 11 (9), 3912-3916.
- [460] Dubey, S.; Singh, V.; Bhat, A. K.; Parikh, P.; Grover, S.; Sensarma, R.; Tripathi, V.; Sengupta, K.; Deshmukh, M. M., Tunable Superlattice in Graphene to Control the Number of Dirac



Points. Nano Lett. 2013, 13 (9), 3990-3995.

- [461] Forsythe, C.; Zhou, X.; Watanabe, K.; Taniguchi, T.; Pasupathy, A.; Moon, P.; Koshino, M.; Kim, P.; Dean, C. R., Band Structure Engineering of 2D Materials Using Patterned Dielectric Superlattices. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2018, 13 (7), 566.
- [462] Chu, W.; Kraütle, H.; Mayer, J.; Müller, H.; Nicolet, M. A.; Tu, K., Identification of the Dominant Diffusing Species in Silicide Formation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1974**, 25 (8), 454-457.
- [463] Del Giudice, M.; Joyce, J.; Ruckman, M.; Weaver, J., Silicide Formation at the Ti/Si (111)
   Interface: Room-Temperature Reaction and Schottky-Barrier Formation. *Phys. Rev. B* 1987, 35 (12), 6213.
- [464] Kawazu, Y.; Kudo, H.; Onari, S.; Arai, T., Low-Temperature Crystallization of Hydrogenated Amorphous Silicon Induced by Nickel Silicide Formation. *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics* 1990, 29 (12R), 2698.
- [465] Tuinstra, F.; Koenig, J. L., Raman Spectrum of Graphite. *The Journal of Chemical Physics* 1970, 53 (3), 1126-1130.
- [466] Long, D. A.; Long, D., Raman Spectroscopy. McGraw-Hill New York: 1977; Vol. 276.
- [467] Ferrari, A. C., Raman Spectroscopy of Graphene and Graphite: Disorder, Electron–Phonon Coupling, Doping and Nonadiabatic Effects. *Solid State Commun.* **2007**, 143 (1-2), 47-57.
- [468] Léonard, F.; Tersoff, J., Role of Fermi-Level Pinning in Nanotube Schottky Diodes. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2000, 84 (20), 4693.
- [469] Koch, N.; Vollmer, A., Electrode-molecular semiconductor contacts: Work-functiondependent hole injection barriers versus Fermi-level pinning. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2006, 89 (16), 162107.
- [470] Léonard, F.; Talin, A. A., Electrical Contacts to One-and Two-Dimensional Nanomaterials. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2011, 6 (12), 773.
- [471] Gong, C.; McDonnell, S.; Qin, X.; Azcatl, A.; Dong, H.; Chabal, Y. J.; Cho, K.; Wallace, R.
   M., Realistic Metal–Graphene Contact Structures. *ACS Nano* 2013, 8 (1), 642-649.
- [472] Wang, L.; Meric, I.; Huang, P.; Gao, Q.; Gao, Y.; Tran, H.; Taniguchi, T.; Watanabe, K.; Campos, L.; Muller, D., One-Dimensional Electrical Contact to a Two-Dimensional Material. *Science* 2013, 342 (6158), 614-617.
- [473] Song, J.; Choi, Y.; Seo, S.; Oh, D.; Cho, M.; Yao, T.; Oh, M., Wet Chemical Cleaning Process of GaAs Substrate for Ready-to-Use. J. Cryst. Growth 2004, 264 (1-3), 98-103.
- [474] Rideout, V., A Review of the Theory and Technology for Ohmic Contacts to Group III–V Compound Semiconductors. *Solid-State Electron.* 1975, 18 (6), 541-550.
- [475] Piotrowska, A., Ohmic Contacts to GaAs: Fundamentals and Practice. ACTA Physica Polonica Series A 1993, 84, 491-491.



- [476] Ke, M.-l.; Westwood, D.; Matthai, C. C.; Richardson, B. E.; Williams, R., Hot-Electron Transport through Au/GaAs and Au/GaAs/AlAs Heterojunction Interfaces: Ballistic-Electron-Emission-Microscopy Measurement and Monte Carlo Simulation. *Phys. Rev. B* 1996, 53 (8), 4845.
- [477] Torkhov, N., Formation of a Native-Oxide Structure on the Surface of n-GaAs under Natural Oxidation in Air. *Semiconductors* **2003**, 37 (10), 1177-1184.
- [478] Talin, A. A.; Ohlberg, D. A.; Williams, R. S.; Sullivan, P.; Koutselas, I.; Williams, B.; Kavanagh, K. L., Time Dependent Ballistic Electron Emission Microscopy Studies of a Au/(100) GaAs Interface with a Native Oxide Diffusion Barrier. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1993**, 62 (23), 2965-2967.
- [479] Allwood, D.; Carline, R.; Mason, N.; Pickering, C.; Tanner, B.; Walker, P., Characterization of Oxide Layers on GaAs Substrates. *Thin Solid Films* **2000**, 364 (1-2), 33-39.
- [480] Feng, L.; Zhang, L.-d.; Liu, H.; Gao, X.; Miao, Z.; Cheng, H.-c.; Wang, L.; Niu, S. In Characterization Study of Native Oxides on GaAs (100) Surface by XPS, International Symposium on Photoelectronic Detection and Imaging 2013: Low-Light-Level Technology and Applications, International Society for Optics and Photonics: 2013; p 89120N.
- [481] Suyatin, D. B.; Jain, V.; Nebol'sin, V. A.; Trägårdh, J.; Messing, M. E.; Wagner, J. B.; Persson, O.; Timm, R.; Mikkelsen, A.; Maximov, I., Strong Schottky Barrier Reduction at Au-Catalyst/GaAs-Nanowire Interfaces by Electric Dipole Formation and Fermi-Level Unpinning. *Nat. Commun.* 2014, 5, 3221.
- [482] Park, K.-B.; Ding, Y.; Pelz, J.; Mikhov, M.; Wang, Y.; Skromme, B., Effect of Inclined Quantum Wells on Macroscopic Capacitance-Voltage Response of Schottky Contacts: Cubic Inclusions in Hexagonal SiC. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2005**, 86 (22), 222109.
- [483] Choi, G.; Yoon, H. H.; Jung, S.; Jeon, Y.; Lee, J. Y.; Bahng, W.; Park, K., Schottky Barrier Modulation of Metal/4H-SiC Junction with Thin Interface Spacer Driven by Surface Polarization Charge on 4H-SiC Substrate. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2015**, 107 (25), 252101.
- [484] PDE Solutions, Inc. Spokane Valley, WA, U.S.A., http://www.pdesolutions.
- [485] Brammertz, G.; Lin, H.; Martens, K.; Mercier, D.; Merckling, C.; Penaud, J.; Adelmann, C.; Sioncke, S.; Wang, W.; Caymax, M., Capacitance–Voltage Characterization of GaAs–Oxide Interfaces. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2008, 155 (12), H945-H950.
- [486] Colinge, J.-P.; Colinge, C. A., Physics of Semiconductor Devices. Springer Science & Business Media: 2005.
- [487] Kim, W.; Li, C.; Chaves, F. A.; Jiménez, D.; Rodriguez, R. D.; Susoma, J.; Fenner, M. A.;
   Lipsanen, H.; Riikonen, J., Tunable Graphene–GaSe Dual Heterojunction Device. *Adv. Mater.* 2016, 28 (9), 1845-1852.



- [488] Pearson, R. G., Absolute Electronegativity and Hardness: Application to Inorganic Chemistry. *Inorg. Chem.* 1988, 27 (4), 734-740.
- [489] Da Silva, J. L.; Stampfl, C.; Scheffler, M., Adsorption of Xe Atoms on Metal Surfaces: New Insights from First-Principles Calculations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2003**, 90 (6), 066104.
- [490] Mohammed, M.; Li, Z.; Cui, J.; Chen, T.-p., Junction Investigation of Graphene/Silicon Schottky Diodes. *Nanoscale Research Letters* **2012**, 7 (1), 302.
- [491] An, Y.; Behnam, A.; Pop, E.; Ural, A., Metal-Semiconductor-Metal Photodetectors Based on Graphene/P-Type Silicon Schottky Junctions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2013**, 102 (1), 013110.
- [492] Yim, C.; McEvoy, N.; Duesberg, G. S., Characterization of Graphene-Silicon Schottky Barrier Diodes Using Impedance Spectroscopy. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2013**, 103 (19), 193106.
- [493] Kim, H.-Y.; Lee, K.; McEvoy, N.; Yim, C.; Duesberg, G. S., Chemically Modulated Graphene Diodes. *Nano Lett.* **2013**, 13 (5), 2182-2188.
- [494] Liu, F.; Kar, S., Quantum Carrier Reinvestment-Induced Ultrahigh and Broadband Photocurrent Responses in Graphene–Silicon Junctions. ACS Nano 2014, 8 (10), 10270-10279.
- [495] Tomer, D.; Rajput, S.; Hudy, L.; Li, C.; Li, L., Carrier Transport in Reverse-Biased Graphene/Semiconductor Schottky Junctions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2015**, 106 (17), 173510.
- [496] Song, Y.; Li, X.; Mackin, C.; Zhang, X.; Fang, W.; Palacios, T. s.; Zhu, H.; Kong, J., Role of Interfacial Oxide in High-Efficiency Graphene–Silicon Schottky Barrier Solar Cells. *Nano Lett.* 2015, 15 (3), 2104-2110.
- [497] Tomer, D.; Rajput, S.; Hudy, L.; Li, C.; Li, L., Inhomogeneity in Barrier Height at Graphene/Si (GaAs) Schottky Junctions. *Nanotechnology* **2015**, 26 (21), 215702.
- [498] Zhang, X.; Zhang, L.; Chan, M., Doping Enhanced Barrier Lowering in Graphene-Silicon Junctions. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2016, 108 (26), 263502
- [499] Liang, S.-J.; Hu, W.; Di Bartolomeo, A.; Adam, S.; Ang, L. K. In A Modified Schottky Model for Graphene-Semiconductor (3D/2D) Contact: A Combined Theoretical and Experimental Study, 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), IEEE: 2016; pp 14.4. 1-14.4. 4.
- [500] Riazimehr, S.; Bablich, A.; Schneider, D.; Kataria, S.; Passi, V.; Yim, C.; Duesberg, G. S.; Lemme, M. C., Spectral Sensitivity of Graphene/Silicon Heterojunction Photodetectors. *Solid-State Electron.* 2016, 115, 207-212.
- [501] Di Bartolomeo, A.; Luongo, G.; Giubileo, F.; Funicello, N.; Niu, G.; Schroeder, T.; Lisker, M.; Lupina, G., Hybrid Graphene/Silicon Schottky Photodiode with Intrinsic Gating Effect. 2D Materials 2017, 4 (2), 025075.


- [502] Zhang, X.; Zhang, L.; Ahmed, Z.; Chan, M., Origin of Nonideal Graphene-Silicon Schottky Junction. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 2018, 65 (5), 1995-2002.
- [503] Alnuaimi, A.; Almansouri, I.; Saadat, I.; Nayfeh, A., Interface Engineering of Graphene– Silicon Schottky Junction Solar Cells with an Al₂O₃ Interfacial Layer Grown by Atomic Layer Deposition. *RSC Advances* **2018**, 8 (19), 10593-10597.
- [504] Rehman, M. A.; Akhtar, I.; Choi, W.; Akbar, K.; Farooq, A.; Hussain, S.; Shehzad, M. A.; Chun, S.-H.; Jung, J.; Seo, Y., Influence of an Al₂O₃ Interlayer in a Directly Grown Graphene-Silicon Schottky Junction Solar Cell. *Carbon* 2018, 132, 157-164.
- [505] Selvi, H.; Hill, E. W.; Parkinson, P.; Echtermeyer, T. J., Graphene–Silicon-On-Insulator (GSOI) Schottky Diode Photodetectors. *Nanoscale* **2018**, 10 (40), 18926-18935.
- [506] Di Bartolomeo, A.; Luongo, G.; Iemmo, L.; Urban, F.; Giubileo, F., Graphene–Silicon Schottky Diodes for Photodetection. *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology* 2018, 17 (6), 1133-1137.
- [507] Chang, K. E.; Yoo, T. J.; Kim, C.; Kim, Y. J.; Lee, S. K.; Kim, S. Y.; Heo, S.; Kwon, M. G.; Lee, B. H., Gate-Controlled Graphene–Silicon Schottky Junction Photodetector. *Small* 2018, 14 (28), 1801182.
- [508] Kobayashi, S.; Anno, Y.; Takei, K.; Arie, T.; Akita, S., Photoresponse of Graphene Field-Effect-Transistor with N-Type Si Depletion Layer Gate. *Scientific Reports* **2018**, 8 (1), 4811.
- [509] Luongo, G.; Di Bartolomeo, A.; Giubileo, F.; Chavarin, C. A.; Wenger, C., Electronic Properties of Graphene/P-Silicon Schottky Junction. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* 2018, 51 (25), 255305.
- [510] Luongo, G.; Grillo, A.; Giubileo, F.; Iemmo, L.; Lukosius, M.; Alvarado Chavarin, C.; Wenger, C.; Di Bartolomeo, A., Graphene Schottky Junction on Pillar Patterned Silicon Substrate. *Nanomaterials* 2019, 9 (5), 659.
- [511] Luongo, G.; Grillo, A.; Urban, F.; Giubileo, F.; Di Bartolomeo, A., *Effect of Silicon Doping* on Graphene/Silicon Schottky Photodiodes. Materials Today: Proceedings 2019.
- [512] Pirkle, A.; Chan, J.; Venugopal, A.; Hinojos, D.; Magnuson, C.; McDonnell, S.; Colombo, L.;
   Vogel, E.; Ruoff, R.; Wallace, R., The Effect of Chemical Residues on the Physical and
   Electrical Properties of Chemical Vapor Deposited Graphene Transferred to SiO₂. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2011, 99 (12), 122108.
- [513] Nagashio, K.; Nishimura, T.; Kita, K.; Toriumi, A., Contact Resistivity and Current Flow Path at Metal/Graphene Contact. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2010**, 97 (14), 143514.
- [514] Di Bartolomeo, A.; Santandrea, S.; Giubileo, F.; Romeo, F.; Petrosino, M.; Citro, R.; Barbara,P.; Lupina, G.; Schroeder, T.; Rubino, A., Effect of Back-Gate on Contact Resistance and on



Channel Conductance in Graphene-Based Field-Effect Transistors. *Diamond and Related Materials* **2013**, 38, 19-23.

- [515] Di Bartolomeo, A.; Giubileo, F.; Iemmo, L.; Romeo, F.; Santandrea, S.; Gambardella, U., Transfer Characteristics and Contact Resistance in Ni-and Ti-Contacted Graphene-Based Field-Effect Transistors. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* **2013**, 25 (15), 155303.
- [516] Peng, S.-a.; Jin, Z.; Ma, P.; Zhang, D.-y.; Shi, J.-y.; Niu, J.-b.; Wang, X.-y.; Wang, S.-q.; Li,
   M.; Liu, X.-y., The Sheet Resistance of Graphene under Contact and its Effect on the Derived Specific Contact Resistivity. *Carbon* 2015, 82, 500-505.
- [517] Giubileo, F.; Di Bartolomeo, A.; Martucciello, N.; Romeo, F.; Iemmo, L.; Romano, P.;
   Passacantando, M., Contact Resistance and Channel Conductance of Graphene Field-Effect
   Transistors under Low-Energy Electron Irradiation. *Nanomaterials* 2016, 6 (11), 206.
- [518] Cusati, T.; Fiori, G.; Gahoi, A.; Passi, V.; Lemme, M. C.; Fortunelli, A.; Iannaccone, G., Electrical Properties of Graphene-Metal Contacts. *Scientific Reports* **2017**, 7 (1), 5109.
- [519] Freedy, K. M.; Giri, A.; Foley, B. M.; Barone, M. R.; Hopkins, P. E.; McDonnell, S., Titanium Contacts to Graphene: Process-Induced Variability in Electronic and Thermal Transport. *Nanotechnology* 2018, 29 (14), 145201.
- [520] Passi, V.; Gahoi, A.; Marin, E. G.; Cusati, T.; Fortunelli, A.; Iannaccone, G.; Fiori, G.; Lemme, M. C., Ultralow Specific Contact Resistivity in Metal–Graphene Junctions via Contact Engineering. *Advanced Materials Interfaces* **2019**, 6 (1), 1801285.
- [521] Liang, S.-J.; Ang, L., Electron Thermionic Emission from Graphene and a Thermionic Energy Converter. *Physical Review Applied* **2015**, 3 (1), 014002.
- [522] Green, M. A., Intrinsic Concentration, Effective Densities of States, and Effective Mass in Silicon. J. Appl. Phys. 1990, 67 (6), 2944-2954.
- [523] Misiakos, K.; Tsamakis, D., Accurate Measurements of the Silicon Intrinsic Carrier Density from 78 to 340 K. J. Appl. Phys. 1993, 74 (5), 3293-3297.
- [524] Nakano, T.; Oku, T., Temperature Dependence of Recombination Lifetime in Gallium Arsenide Electroluminescent Diodes. *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics* **1967**, 6 (10), 1212.
- [525] Ichimura, M.; Tajiri, H.; Ito, T.; Arai, E., Temperature Dependence of Carrier Recombination Lifetime in Si Wafers. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **1998**, 145 (9), 3265-3271.
- [526] Vuillaume, D.; Bouchakour, R.; Jourdain, M.; Bourgoin, J., Capture Cross Section of Si-SiO₂
   Interface States Generated during Electron Injection. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1989**, 55 (2), 153-155.
- [527] Albohn, J.; Füssel, W.; Sinh, N.; Kliefoth, K.; Fuhs, W., Capture Cross Sections of Defect States at the Si/SiO₂ Interface. J. Appl. Phys. 2000, 88 (2), 842-849.
- [528] Tongay, S.; Lemaitre, M.; Miao, X.; Gila, B.; Appleton, B.; Hebard, A., Rectification at Graphene-Semiconductor Interfaces: Zero-Gap Semiconductor-Based Diodes. *Physical*



*Review X* **2012**, 2 (1), 011002.

- [529] Smit, G.; Rogge, S.; Klapwijk, T., Scaling of Nano-Schottky-Diodes. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2002, 81 (20), 3852-3854.
- [530] Smit, G.; Rogge, S.; Klapwijk, T., Enhanced Tunneling across Nanometer-Scale Metal– Semiconductor Interfaces. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2002**, 80 (14), 2568-2570.
- [531] Léonard, F.; Talin, A. A.; Swartzentruber, B.; Picraux, S., Diameter-Dependent Electronic Transport Properties of Au-Catalyst/Ge-Nanowire Schottky Diodes. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2009, 102 (10), 106805.
- [532] Rezeq, M. d.; Ali, A.; Patole, S. P.; Eledlebi, K.; Dey, R. K.; Cui, B., The Dependence of Schottky Junction (I–V) Characteristics on the Metal Probe Size in Nano Metal– Semiconductor Contacts. *AIP Advances* 2018, 8 (5), 055122.
- [533] Crowell, C.; Rideout, V., Normalized Thermionic-Field (TF) Emission in Metal-Semiconductor (Schottky) Barriers. *Solid-State Electron.* 1969, 12 (2), 89-105.
- [534] Yang, K.; East, J. R.; Haddad, G. I., Numerical Modeling of Abrupt Heterojunctions Using a Thermionic-Field Emission Boundary Condition. *Solid-State Electron.* **1993**, 36 (3), 321-330.
- [535] Smit, G.; Flokstra, M.; Rogge, S.; Klapwijk, T., Scaling of Micro-Fabricated Nanometer-Sized Schottky Diodes. *Microelectronic Engineering* 2002, 64 (1-4), 429-433.
- [536] Tivarus, C.; Pelz, J.; Hudait, M.; Ringel, S., Direct Measurement of Quantum Confinement Effects at Metal to Quantum-Well Nanocontacts. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2005**, 94 (20), 206803.
- [537] Jung, S.; Jeon, Y.; Jin, H.; Lee, J.-Y.; Ko, J.-H.; Kim, N.; Eom, D.; Park, K., Giant Electroresistance in Edge Metal-Insulator-Metal Tunnel Junctions Induced by Ferroelectric Fringe Fields. *Scientific Reports* 2016, 6, 30646.



# **Curriculum Vitae**

<Personal Details>

Name: Hoon Hahn Yoon E-mail: hoonhahnyoon@gmail.com

<Education>

Ulsan National Institute of Science and Technology, Republic of Korea (03/2014 – Present) *M.S/Ph.D.* in Physics, (Advisor: Prof. Kibog Park)
Dissertation: Ballistic Carrier Transport Through Graphene: Out-of-Plane and In-Plane Aspects
Ulsan National Institute of Science and Technology, Republic of Korea (03/2010 – 02/2014) *B. S.* in Device Physics, Mechanical System Design and Manufacturing (dual major)
Selected to deliver the graduation speech as a valedictorian.

<Research Experience>

## Ulsan National Institute of Science and Technology (03/2014 – Present)

Ph.D. Student in Emergent Materials and Devices Lab (Advisor: Prof. Kibog Park)

■ Research area: Quantum Transport at Interface, Ballistic Carrier Transport across Interface, Graphene Electronics, Internal Photoemission Spectroscopy, Electron Quantum Optics.

# Korea Research Institute of Standards and Science (01/2012 – 02/2012)

Intern Researcher in Nano Quantum Research Group, (Supervisor: Dr. Nam Kim)

■ Experience: Quantum-dot Single-Electron Pump Device.

<Technical skills>

Equipment set-up: built several measurement systems in a single probe station.

- Internal Photoemission (IPE) spectroscopy system with Xenon lamp, Monochromator, Optical filter & fiber, Current Amplifier, DAQ, etc.

- Current-Voltage (I-V) measurement system (2-terminal & 3-terminal) with SMU.
- Capacitance-Voltage (C-V) measurement system with LCR meter.
- Low-Temperature Measurement system with helium compressor.

**Electrical Measurement**: Internal Photoemission (IPE), Current-Voltage (I–V), Capacitance-Voltage (C–V). Low-Temperature Measurement.



Wafer Prep: Si, GaAs (Cleaning, Ohmic contact formation, Wire bonding, etc.)

Graphene Transfer: Wet & Dry.

Etching: Reactive-Ion Etching, Wet Etching.

Growth: Sputtering, Atomic Layer Deposition.

Patterning: Photolithography, E-beam Lithography.

Annealing: Rapid Thermal Annealing.

Structure Analysis: Raman Spectrum, Scanning Electron Microscopy, Ellipsometer.

**Calculation**: Parallel conduction model for I-V characteristics of an inhomogeneous Schottky contact, Time-evolving probability density of electron wave packets in graphene under superlattice potential, Ballistic carrier transport of injected hot electrons into interface or subsurface.

Programs: Labview, Latex, Origin, Illustrator, Matlab, EndNote, AutoCAD, Word, PowerPoint, Excel.

<Teaching Experience>

Teaching Assistant, Ulsan National Institute of Science and Technology Advanced Placement Course of General Physics (07/2017 – 01/2018) General Physics Lab (08/2016 – 12/2016) Advanced Placement Course of General Physics (07/2016 - 01/2017) Electromagnetism I (03/2016 – 06/2016) Advanced Placement Course of General Physics (07/2015 - 01/2016)Mathematical Physics I (08/2015 – 12/2015) Mathematical Physics II (03/2015 – 06/2015) Advanced Placement Course of General Physics (07/2014 - 01/2015)Modern Physics (08/2014 - 12/2014) Quantum Mechanics I (03/2014 – 06/2014) Modern Physics (08/2013 – 12/2013) General Physics I (03/2013 – 06/2013) General Physics II (08/2012 – 12/2012) General Physics I (03/2012 – 06/2012) Korea International Mathematics Tournament of the Towns (07/2011 - 08/2011)Advanced Placement Course of General Physics (01/2011 - 02/2011)General Physics for International Students (12/2010 – 02/2011) General Physics for International Students (06/2010 – 08/2010)



## **Mentoring & Tutoring**

Prep (UNIST Admission Office Mentoring Program) (03/2012 – 02/2014) Help Room (General Physics, Calculus) (09/2010 – 06/2012)

<Awards>

Excellence Award for Oral Presentation (2019) Korean Physical Society Spring Meeting *Korean Physical Society* Oral Presentation Award (2018)

Korea Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual Conference National Research Foundation of Korea

# **Excellence Award for Poster Presentation** (2018)

Poster presentation in Korean Physical Society Busan-Ulsan-Gyeongnam Branch Meeting Korean Physical Society

# **Poster Presentation Award** (2017)

Korea Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual Conference

National Research Foundation of Korea

# **Oral Presentation Award** (2016)

Korea Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual Conference National Research Foundation of Korea

# **Excellence Award for Poster Presentation** (2015)

Poster presentation in Korean Physical Society Spring Meeting Korean Physical Society

# **Excellent Award** (2012)

Undergraduate Research Program Korea Foundation for the Advancement of Science and Creativity

# **Oral Presentation Award** (2012)

Physics Festival & Contest Samsung Advanced Institute of Technology

# **Oral Presentation Award** (2011)

Physics Festival & Contest Samsung Advanced Institute of Technology



<Honors>

**Global Ph.D. Fellowship** (03/2015 – Present) Korean Ministry of Education & National Research Foundation of Korea

National Science and Engineering Scholarship (03/2010 – 02/2014)

Admission fee and full-tuition support for undergraduate studies National Research Foundation of Korea

**Science-gifted Student** (04/2004 – 02/2006) *Korea Daegu City Office of Education* 

<Journal Publications>

Google Scholar: scholar.google.com/citations?user=X1WgkCsAAAAJ

[1] Hoon Hahn Yoon, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Kyuhyung Mo, Gahyun Choi,
Hu Young Jeong, Jong Hoon Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Negative Fermi-Level Pinning Effect of Metal/n-GaAs(001) Junction with Graphene Insertion Layer", <u>ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces</u>, 11 (50), 47182-47189 (2019).

[2] Sungchul Jung, Hoon Hahn Yoon, Hanbyul Jin, Kyuhyung Mo, Gahyun Choi, Junghyun Lee, Hyesung Park, and Kibog Park*, "Reduction of Water-Molecule-Induced Current-Voltage Hysteresis in Graphene Field Effect Transistor with Semi-Dry Transfer Using Flexible Supporter", <u>J. Appl.</u> <u>Phys.</u>,125 (18), 184302 (2019).

[3] Gahyun Choi, Hoon Hahn Yoon, Junhyung Kim, Sungchul Jung, Yonuk Chong, and Kibog Park*,
 "Multi-Level Capacitive Memory Effect in Metal/Oxide/Floating-Schottky Junction", <u>J. Korean Phys.</u>
 <u>Soc.</u> 74 (10), 979-983 (2019).

[4] Jeongsu Jang, Yangjin Lee, Jun-Yeong Yoon, Hoon Hahn Yoon, Jahyun Koo, Jeongheon Choe, Sungho Jeon, Jongbaek Sung, Jungwon Park, Won Chul Lee, Hoonkyung Lee, Hu Young Jeong, Kibog Park, Kwanpyo Kim*, "One-Dimensional Assembly on Two-Dimensions: AuCN Nanowire Epitaxy on Graphene for Hybrid Phototransistors", <u>Nano Lett.</u>, 18 (10), 6214-6221 (2018).

[5] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sungchul Jung, Gahyun Choi, Junhyung Kim, Youngeun Jeon, Yong Soo Kim, Hu Young Jeong, Kwanpyo Kim, Soon-Yong Kwon, and Kibog Park*, "Strong Fermi-level Pinning at metal/n-Si(001) Interface Ensured by Forming an Intact Schottky Contact with a Graphene Insertion Layer", *Nano Lett.*, 17 (1), 44-49 (2017).

[6] Gahyun Choi, Hoon Hahn Yoon, Sungchul Jung, Youngeun Jeon, Jung Yong Lee, Wook Bahng,



and Kibog Park*, "Schottky Barrier Modulation of Metal/4H-SiC Junction with Thin Interface Spacer Driven by Surface Polarization Charge on 4H-SiC Substrate", <u>Appl. Phys. Lett.</u>, 107 (25), 252101 (2015).

[7] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Junhyung Kim, and Kibog Park*, " Low-Temperature Rectifying Graphene/n-Si(001) Schottky Diode due to Recombination of Hole Carriers Supplied from p-doped Graphene", in preparation.

[8] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Junhyung Kim, Gahyun Choi, Sungchul Jung, and Kibog Park*, "Enhanced Contribution of Edge Current in Al/Si and Al/Graphene/Si Junctions with Lateral Size Scaling; Thermionic Emission, Tunneling, and Recombination Aspects", in preparation.

[9] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Jung-Yong Lee, Wonho Song, and Kibog Park*, "Electrically-Controlled Carrier Guiding in Single-Channel Multi-Drain Graphene Superlattice Device", in preparation.

[10] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sungchul Jung, Wonho Song, Junhyung Kim, and Kibog Park*, "Charge Carrier Transport Modulation in Graphene with Square and Triangular Superlattices", in preparation.

#### <Conferences>

[1] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Gahyun Choi, Sungchul Jung, Kyuhyung Mo, Junhyung Kim, and Kibog Park*, "Enhanced Contribution of Edge Tunneling Effect to Current-Voltage Characteristics of Al/Si and Al/Graphene/Si Junctions with Lateral Size Scaling", presented at Korean Physical Society Spring Meeting, Gyeongju, April 24th 2019.

[2] Jeongsu Jang, Yangjin Lee, Jun-Yeong Yoon, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Jahyun Koo, Hoonkyung Lee, Kibog Park, Kwanpyo Kim*, "AuCN Nanowire Epitaxy on Graphene for Hybrid Phototransistor", presented at Korean Physical Society Spring Meeting, Gyeongju, April 25th 2019.

[3] Sungchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Hanbyul Jin, Kyuhyung Mo, Gahyun Choi, Junghyun Lee, Hyesung Park, and Kibog Park*, "Reduction of Current-Voltage Hysteresis in Graphene Field Effect Transistor Achieved with Dry Transfer Using Flexible Tape Supporter", presented at American Physical Society March Meeting, Boston, MA, March 5th 2019.

[4] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Kyuhyung Mo, Gahyun Choi, Hu Young Jeong, Jong Hoon Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Negative Fermi-Level Pinning Effect Observed in Metal/GaAs Junction with Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at the 26th Korean Conference Semiconductors, Hoengseong, Gangwon-Do, February 15th 2019.

[5] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Gahyun Choi, Kyuhyung Mo, Kibog Park*, "Negative Fermi-level Pinning Effect Observed in Metal/GaAs Junction with Graphene



Insertion Layer", presented at Korea Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual Conference, Incheon, November 10th 2018.

[6] Gahyun Choi, Wonho Song, Kyuhyung Mo, Sungchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Junhyung Kim, and Kibog Park*, "Electrical Properties of Metal/4H-SiC Junction Modulated by Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at Korean Physical Society Fall Meeting, Changwon, October 25th 2018.

[7] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Gahyun Choi, Kyuhyung Mo, Hu Young Jeong, Jong Hoon Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Electrical Properties of Intact Metal/Semiconductor Contact Formed with Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at 2nd Korea LED-Optoelectronics Society Meeting, Kwangju, Korea, August 21st 2018.

[5] Gahyun Choi, Kyuhyung Mo, Sungchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Junhyung Kim, and Kibog Park*, "Enhanced Fermi-Level Pinning in Metal/4H-SiC Junction with Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at ICPS 2018 (34th International Conference on the Physics of Semiconductors), Montpellier, France, August 1st 2018.

[9] Sungchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Junhyung Kim, Jung-Yong Lee, Kyuhyung Mo, and Kibog Park*, "Carrier Transport in Lateral Graphene/Fluorinated-Graphene/Graphene Tunnel Junction Formed with Area-Selective Fluorination", presented at ICPS 2018 (34th International Conference on the Physics of Semiconductors), Montpellier, France, August 1st 2018.

[10] Kibog Park*, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Gahyun Choi, Kyuhyung Mo, Jong Hoon Lee, and Hu Young Jeong, "Negative Fermi-Level Pinning at Metal/GaAs Junction Occurring with Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at ICPS 2018 (34th International Conference on the Physics of Semiconductors), Montpellier, France, July 31st 2018.

[11] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Kyuhyung Mo, Gahyun Choi, Hu Young Jeong, Jong Hoon Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Metal-Graphene Interaction Inducing Negative Fermi-level Pinning in Metal/Graphene/n-GaAs(001) Junction", presented at Korean Physical Society Busan-Ulsan-Gyeongnam Branch Meeting, Ulsan, June 15th 2018.

[12] Sungchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Hanbyul Jin, Kyuhyung Mo, Gahyun Choi, Junghyun Lee, Hyesung Park, and Kibog Park*, "Dry Transfer of Graphene Using Flexible Supporting Layer to Minimize Water Molecule Trapping at Interface", presented at Korean Physical Society Busan-Ulsan-Gyeongnam Branch Meeting, Ulsan, June 15th 2018.

[13] Sungchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Hanbyul Jin, Kyuhyung Mo, Gahyun Choi, Junghyun Lee, Hyesung Park, and Kibog Park*, "Minimization of Water Molecule Trapping at Graphene/Substrate Interface Using Dry Transfer with Flexible Supporting Layer", presented at Korean Physical Society Spring Meeting, Daejeon, April 25th 2018.



[14] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Kyuhyung Mo, Hu Young Jeong, Jong Hoon Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Negative Fermi-level Pinning Effect Observed in Metal/GaAs Junction with Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at Korean Physical Society Spring Meeting, Daejeon, April 25th 2018.

[15] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Sungchul Jung, Junhyung Kim, Gahyun Choi, Kyuhyung Mo, Kibog Park*, "Negative Fermi-level Pinning Effect Observed in Metal/GaAs Junction with Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at American Physical Society March Meeting, Los Angeles, CA, March 2018.

[16] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Jung-Yong Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Electrically-Controlled Carrier Guiding in Single-Channel Graphene Device", presented at Korea Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual Conference, Busan, December 15th 2017.

[17] Jeongsu Jang, Yangjin Lee, Jun-Yeong Yoon, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Jahyun Koo, Jeongheon Choe, Jungwon Park, Won Chul Lee, Hoonkyung Lee, Hu Young Jeong, Kibog Park, and Kwanpyo Kim*, "Epitaxial Growth of AuCN Nanowires on Graphene for Hybrid Phototransistors", presented at International Conference on Advanced Materials and Device Meeting, Jeju, December 8th 2017.

[18] Jeongsu Jang, Yangjin Lee, Jun-Yeong Yoon, Jeongheon Choe, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Hu Young Jeong, Kibog Park, Kwanpyo Kim*, "Phototransistors with Epitaxially-Grown AuCN Nanowires on Graphene", presented at Material Research Society Fall Meeting, Boston Massachusetts, November 30th 2017.

[19] Jeongsu Jang, Yangjin Lee, Jun-Yeong Yoon, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Jahyun Koo, Jeongheon Choe, Jungwon Park, Won Chul Lee, Hoonkyung Lee, Hu Young Jeong, Kibog Park, and Kwanpyo Kim*, "Epitaxial Growth of AuCN Nanowires on Graphene for Hybrid Phototransistors", presented at Korean Physical Society Fall Meeting, Gyeongju, October 27th 2017.

[20] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Wonho Song, Jung-Yong Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Electrically-Controlled Carrier Guiding in Single-Channel Graphene Device", presented at Korean Physical Society Fall Meeting, Gyeongju, October 26th 2017.

[21] Kibog Park*, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sungchul Jung, Gahyun Choi, Junhyung Kim, Youngeun Jeon, Yong Soo Kim, Hu Young Jeong, Kwanpyo Kim, and Soon-Yong Kwon, "Strong Fermi-Level Pinning at Intact Metal/Si Interface Formed with Graphene Diffusion Barrier", presented at American Physical Society March Meeting, New Orleans, LA, March 14th 2017.

[22] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sungchul Jung, Gahyun Choi, Junhyung Kim, Youngeun Jeon, Yong Soo Kim, Hu Young Jeong, Kwanpyo Kim, Soon-Yong Kwon, and Kibog Park*, "Formation of Intact Schottky Junction with Graphene Diffusion Barrier", presented at Korea Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual



Conference, Sejong, December 21st 2016.

[23] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sungchul Jung, Gahyun Choi, Junhyung Kim, Youngeun Jeon, Yong Soo Kim, Hu Young Jeong, Kwanpyo Kim, Soon-Yong Kwon, and Kibog Park*, "Formation of Intact Schottky Junction with Graphene Diffusion Barrier", presented at Korean Physical Society Fall Meeting, Kwangju, October 19th 2016.

[24] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sungchul Jung, Gahyun Choi, Junhyung Kim, Youngeun Jeon, Yong Soo Kim, Hu Young Jeong, Kwanpyo Kim, Soon-Yong Kwon, and Kibog Park*, "Strong Fermi-Level Pinning at Metal/n-Si(001) Interface Ensured by Forming an Intact Schottky Contact with a Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at Korean Physical Society Busan-Ulsan-Gyeongnam Branch Meeting, Busan, August 22nd 2016.

[25] Sungchul Jung, Junhyoung Kim, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Han Byul Jin, Gahyun Choi, Jung-Yong Lee, Daejin Eom, and Kibog Park*, "Multi-Level Memory Effect of CVD Graphene Transferred on SiO2 by Controlled Hydron Adsorption at Interface", presented at American Physical Society March Meeting, Baltimore, MD, March 17th 2016.

[26] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sungchul Jung, Gahyun Choi, Junhyung Kim, Youngeun Jeon, Yong Soo Kim, Hu Young Jeong, Kwanpyo Kim, Soon-Yong Kwon, and Kibog Park*, "Strong Fermi-Level Pinning at Metal/n-Si(001) Interface Ensured by Forming an Intact Schottky Contact with a Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at Korea Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual Conference, Seoul, December 15th 2015.

[27] Sungchul Jung, Junhyoung Kim, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Han Byul Jin, Gahyun Choi, Jung-Yong Lee, and Kibog Park*, "Multi-Level Memory Effect of CVD Graphene Transferred on SiO₂ by Gate-Voltage Controlled Hydron Adsorption", presented at Korean Physical Society Fall Meeting, Gyeongju, October 23rd 2015.

[28] **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Sung Chul Jung, Gahyun Choi, Jun Hyoung Kim, Youngeun Jeon, Hu Young Jeong, Kwanpyo Kim, and Kibog Park*, "Strong Fermi-Level Pinning at Metal/Si(001) Interface Ensured by Forming Abrupt Schottky Junction with Graphene Insertion Layer", presented at Korean Physical Society Spring Meeting, Daejeon, April 22nd 2015.

[29] Gahyun Choi, Seongchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Youngeun Jeon, and Kibog Park*, "Multi-Level Capacitive Memory Effect in Metal/Oxide/Floating-Schottky Junction", presented at American Physical Society March Meeting, San Antonio, TX, March 5th 2015.

[30] Sungchul Jung, **Hoon Hahn Yoon**, Gahyun Choi, Kibog Park*, "Probing Energy Band Alignment at Buried Interfaces with Ballistic Carrier Transport Spectroscopy", presented at Korean Physical Society Fall Meeting, Kwangju, October 22nd 2014.



<Other Activities>

## Society of Global Ph.D. Fellows activity

Board committee of Global Ph.D. Fellowship Society (2015 – 2019) Organized conferences; Global Ph.D. Fellow Annual Conferences (2016 – 2019) Official website: https://www.gpfsociety.org/sgpf

## Alumni network activity

The first president of UNIST Alumni Association to foster long-term relationships with UNIST's alumni through various programs. (2016 – 2019) Official website: http://alumni.unist.ac.kr/

## Student council activity

The first president of UNIST Graduate Student Association to dedicate in creating an academically inspiring environment for all graduate students. (2016 – 2017) Official website: https://www.facebook.com/gsaunist

## Social activity

Member of National Unification Advisory Council in Republic of Korea (2015)

## Summer school activity

Summer School of Condensed Matter Physics held by Korea Physical Society and Korea Institute for Advanced Study (2015)

### **Club activity**

The third vice president of UNIST Club Association (2012) The second president of UNIST math & physics academic club, Elite Of Elites (2011)

### Volunteer activity

Lecturer on support center of creative learning & career education in Ulsan, Korea (2014) Lecturer on career exploration at Bangeojin high school in Ulsan, Korea (2013) Lecturer on career exploration at Daegun high school in Daegu, Korea (2011)



## Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all for taking time to read my doctoral dissertaion. First of all, I am deeply grateful to my adviser, Prof. Kibog Park. He is a truly honest researcher as well as a great mentor who always give careful advice and sincere counsel with a bright smile. During the first semester of my freshman year, I took a general physics course, and the instructor guided students in developing both rigorous conceptual frameworks and creative insights into physics. I respected him and loved his lectures. After that, I had the chance to take his other courses including quantum mechanics and solid state physics. In his class, he briefly introduced his research topics. I began to pay attention to his descriptions of continuous innovation of device technology and the correlation between physics and engineering. I wanted to participate in his research, and he responded with kindness. After I entered his Emergent Materials and Devices Lab, I was attracted to the research he conducted and his methods in approaching device physics. I have never had a second thought about choosing his lab since I started to work here. I am sorry that I have no more time to receive his instruction. I received the best training to reinforce my strengths and make up for my weaknesses.

I would like to express sincere appreciation to the committee members, Prof. Jiwon Chang, Prof. Kwanpyo Kim, Prof. Kyoung-Duck Park, Prof. Changhee Sohn for taking time on their busy schedule and examining the thesis with thoughtful advice.

Besides, I am deeply thankful that I could work with lab colleagues, Heungseok Go, Dr. Youngeun Jeon, Dr. Hanbyul Jin, Dr. Sungchul Jung, Dr. Gahyun Choi, Jung Yong Lee, Junhyung Kim, Kyuhyung Mo, Wonho Song, Jin Young Park, Jaehyeong Jo, Eunseok Hyun. I will never forget their kind help and deep understanding. Despite my many shortcomings, there were many things that were complemented owing to their efforts.

I would like to also recognize the research collaboration from Prof. Soon-Yong Kwon, Prof. Hu Young Jeong, Jong Hoon Lee, the passionate lecture from Prof. Hai Woong Lee, Prof. Jaeup Kim, Prof. Chae Un Kim, Prof. Noejung Park, Prof. HyungJoon Cho, Prof. EunMi Choi, Prof. Moses Chung, Prof. Cheol-Min Ghim, Prof. Min Sup Hur, Prof. Hosub Jin, Prof. Jingook Kim, Prof. Jung-Woo Yoo, and the administrative support from Prof. Pann-Ghill Suh, Prof. Hyeon Suk Shin, Prof. Franklin Bien, Prof. Taesung Kim, Hyung-Il Kim, Min-Jae Kim, Lu-Da Lee, Hae-Ra Kang, Kang-O Kim, Taijin Park, Chorok Oh, Jaehyun Kim, Jaewon Han, Mihyang Seok.



# **Special Thanks**

Looking back on time spent at UNIST, I have been along with UNIST for almost 10 years, about one third of my life. Meantime, I could witness the beginning of UNIST and remarkable development of UNIST. Thanks to UNIST, I was able to study in a good environment inspiring academic interests continuously without worrying about school expenses. I am grateful to the all faculties and officials who are always making efforts for development of UNIST and welfare of students.

Growing up with UNIST, I was able to widen my mind, open my eyes to see the world, and enrich my life thanks to the cultural activities that filled me with joyful memories. Just like the wave can pare the rock, the flow of daily life and habits in UNIST became a big wave and carved me. Getting together with UNIST friends and making efforts to accept their diverse ideas was a big learning process. The actions of having heated discussions with them overnight and worrying together about a better future made me what I am now, and gave me a sense of ownership of UNIST. I feel like that I have been assigned a mission to become physicist, scientist, or the other talented one, who can pay back to the social community and contribute to the human lives with personal growth.

Reminding the word "If you want to go fast, go alone, if you want to go far, go together.", I have participated in almost all of challenging activities, fund-raising donations, and volunteer works led by UNIST's people. I was really moved by their interest in solving community and global problems. The time spent in UNIST is an unforgettable memory to me, and I was happy because it was spent at UNIST. I could have experienced a deep sense of responsibility and burden, extending the range of obligation from our community to the world. It was a great honor to be selected to deliver the graduation speech as undergraduate valedictorian. I also appreciate to be given the opportunity to lay a foundation stone of the alumni association and contribute to its development. As the number of alumni increases, it is believed that the time will come soon when communication and networking among alumni members needed. I hope to meet again and cooperate with them some day in the future.

I would like to begin thank Seonghwan Kim, Hongmin Kim, Sowon Lim, Cheol Hyeon Park, Dayoon Kang, Kang Taek Lee, Hyeongsun Jeong, Taeyang Yang, Sook Yoon, Yongkyung Oh, Hyo Jung Sim, Woo Cheol Jeon, Yul Hui Shim, Hyunah Kang, Do Young Kim, Joohee Kim, Chan Hoon Choi, Kyoung Hwan Kim, Haeseong Jang, Hyunyoung Lee, Kwangmin Kim, Jiyeon Lim, Jonghyun Park, Geun-Woo Lee, Dasom Park, for participating in many activiteis with me and offering insightful suggestions.

I must thank Kyubeen Kwon, JongHyeob Lee, Hyeongju Kim, Bojeong Seo, Jeongsu Jang, Bumsu Kim, Hyeongju Jeon, Chanwoo Park, Sewon Jeong, Hyunki Kim, Youngsang Kong, Hyewon Kang, Chan-Eun Park, Seonga An, Sunmean Kim, Myeonggon Park, E-san Jang, Byongkyu Lee, Sangyeong Jeong, Jiman Hong, Leeyeong Kim, Taeho Seong, Seyeon Yoo, Soosung Kim, Jahae Choi, Seongho



Yoo, Hansol Kim, Changwon Seo, Kyungjin Kwak, Yongjoon Cho, Minji Go, Hyeon Ho Noh, Hakbong Lee, Ji-Eun Lee, Jaewoong Lee, Sejin Jung, Ji-Hoon Ha, Boram Kim, Jaeyeon Yu, Yoo Lim Cheon, Ikjoong Kim, Jaehun Park, Geunsik Bae, Jiyong Cheon, Dayeong Kang, Jeongwoong Park, Seung Wan Yoo, Seongwoo Cho, Kyungdon Choi, Eunseo Kim, Hwanhee Kim, for sharing special memories and experiencing invaluable synergy.

I also had great pleasure of feeling strong solidarity with Jeong Hun Kim, Daehyeon Han, Dongkyu Lee, Jaehui Hwang, Junyoung Park, KyungMan Heo, Byeongmin Kwak, Yungun Kim, Byeong Woo Kim, Min Woo Park, An JeHyun, Bongho Bae, Kyungin Baek, Kwon Eunji, Hyeonseo Nam, Sun Beom Kwon, Jinwon Jang, Jisoo Lee, Gangmin Choe, Sang Woo Kim, Hyungmin Choi, Jaeyun Kim, HoKyung Kim, Mingony Kim, Hyenwoo Jo, Sangseop Song.

I would like to especially thank to Eunku Park, Gyeong-Gyun Ha, Jeongheon Choe, Dongbin Shin, Teyoun Kang, Ryoungwoo Jang, Byung Kyu Na, for helpful discussion. Thanks to their advices, I was able to remind my academic motivation.

I am deeply indebted to Sung Min Lee, Yangjin Lee, Sung Beom Cho, Seongsoo Choi, Hagyoul Bae, Hojun Lee, Min Sun Yi, Jiyong Na, DaeHee Hwang, SeongShick Ryu, Eun-Young Han, Soohwan An, Jin Ho Yun, Jin-Ju Jeong, Kangeun Ko, Heijun Jeong, Ji Eun Bae, Younghyun Lim, Heein Yoon, Seojin Choi, Jun-Ho Choi, Seong-Yeol Kim, for expanding mind about interdisciplinary research.

I gratefully acknowledge the counseling from Seunghoo Jeong, Anjung Lee, Hanvit Kim, Songil Lee, Hak-Hyeon Kim, Jin Hoon Kim, Sung-Ho Kim, Yeonho Chang, Heejae Nam. Their advices were a great help in getting over hardship.

I should not forget to thank my old friends, Changyeol Baek, Hyunjin Song, Hyowon Kim, Hyeongjin Jeon, Kyeonghun Geum, for encouraging me all the time.

Once again, I give sincere thanks to Prof. Kibog Park who has led the way to grow as the true researcher. I could have gained a lot of valuable learning thanks to his delicate advice.

Lastly, thank you, my dear parents, my father Deok Hyun Yoon and my mother Eun Hyang Lee, for sending true love and unwavering support.